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Bermuda
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Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FREHE

On behalf of Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings
Limited (“Apollo Solar” or the “Group”) (formerly known
as RBI Holdings Limited), | am pleased to present this
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2009 to our
shareholders.

2009 was a significant year for Apollo Solar. We took a
major step forward in establishing our presence in the
renewable energy field with the acquisition of Apollo
Precision Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Apollo Sub-Group”)
in November 2009. For the year under review, the loss
for the year amounted to HK$124,494,000 (2008: Loss of
HK$55,677,000).

Venture into Solar Business

In November 2009, the Group seized the opportunity to
acquire Apollo Sub-Group, one of the leading companies
in providing equipment and turnkey solutions for the
manufacturing of amorphous silicon thin film solar
modules (the “Acquisition”). The move allowed the Group
to successfully tap into the solar energy business. The
manufacturing scale and experience, professional team
of Apollo Sub-Group, along with advanced technology,
contributed to continual improvements in conversion
efficiency and reductions in manufacturing costs of
the equipments. Subsequent to the completion of the
Acquisition, the name of the Group was changed to “Apollo
Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited”, which clearly
reflected the business nature and direction of the Group.

As the world has been transformed into low-carbon
infrastructure to reduce greenhouse effect, using
renewable energy has become the future trend. The solar
energy business offers huge growth opportunities and
profit potential, and we are confident it will generate a
new major income source for the Group in the long haul.
Our strong reach, professional expertise as well as world-
class research and development (“R&D") capability across
the amorphous silicon thin film solar business place us in
an ideal position to achieve business growth both in China
and worldwide. The Group will continue its efforts in R&D
to continue leading the industry in technology front and to
create compelling value for our customers.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FEHE

Downturn of Toy Industry

The revenue from the toy business continued to decrease
which was mainly due to a weak toy business environment
amidst the severe global economic downturn. The global
market for traditional toys continued to decline during
the year. As the prospects of the toy industry remain
uncertain, Apollo Solar decided to dispose 49% of our toy
business in November 2009 to protect the interests of the
shareholders.

Prudent Property Investment Scheme

The global economy has undergone drastic changes in
2009 after the global outbreak of financial tsunami. Our
property investment business has remained profitable and
generated operational cash flow to nurture our business
growth. Since the business confidence remains fragile
with uncertain property market outlook, the Group plans
to dispose of other mature assets and lock in unrealized
profit,
mainstream business model and strategy.

so that resources could be focused on our

Slow Business Growth of Hybrid Bus Businesses

The development of the hybrid bus business has not
been as expectedly quick, and more work on R&D front
is needed to enhance the market recognition and industry
support.

Maximizing Operational Efficiency

While Apollo Solar is not immune from the worldwide
economic downturn, it has been putting its utmost efforts
in streamlining its operation so as to improve operational
efficiency and contain costs.

During the year, the Group implemented numerous
efficiency improvement measures including a computerized
system to increase productivity. Prudent cost control also
contributed to higher operational efficiency.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FREHE

PROSPECT

In 2010, the development of the toy business, property
investments and hybrid bus will be put on hold. Our
resources will therefore need to be rationalized and
restructured for focusing on areas that best match
organizational capability with market opportunity. In order
to maximize the growth and profitability of the Group, we
will concentrate our resources on our core business — the

solar energy business, in the medium to long term.

Apollo Solar believes that 2010 will be a year of
strong growth and performance. The market outlook
appears promising as both China and the United States
("U.s.”
through incentives and regulatory measures. With the

) have pledged support for renewable energy

strong support from governments, the demand for solar
energy is expected to increase substantially in 2010 and
thereafter.

Our sound cash flow position place us in a good position
to support our growth plans. In the future, we will
continue to focus on advancing our technology to increase
the conversion efficiency of silicon based thin film solar
technology with goals to making solar energy a viable
alternative energy to traditional energy sources even
without government subsidies. The Group will also expand

R&D into other high efficiency solar technology.

A new era is well under way in the solar energy sector.
We are well positioned for 2010 and beyond and are
confident with the long-term prospects of the solar energy
industry. We are striving towards our mission of providing
clean, affordable solar electricity while bringing profitable
returns to our shareholders.

Chau Kai Man
Chairman
Hong Kong, 21 April 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's turnover for the year increased by about 40%
from HK$511,810,000 to HK$717,442,000. The increase
was due to the revenue generated from the solar energy
business acquired during the year.

Gross profit margin for the year was about 21%,
representing a significant increase from about 12% last
year. The gross profit margin increased mainly because of
disposal of loss-making subsidiary and acquisition of solar
energy business with higher gross profit margin during the
year.

Loss for the year ended 31 December 2009 was
approximately HK$124,494,000 (2008: a loss of
HK$55,677,000). Basic loss per share was HK4.5 cents
(2008 (restated): a basic loss per share of HK3.2 cents).
The overall performance of the Group was adversely
affected by certain accounting treatments as follows:

1. Approximately HK$181 million of the profit of
Apollo Sub-Group is recognised in the inventories
and customer contracts upon the Acquisition and
recognised in the cost of goods sold upon the
recognition of revenue instead of consolidated
and recorded in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of the Group.

2. A major net accounting loss of approximately HK$83
million resulting from the disposal of equity interests
in subsidiaries.

3. Other non-cash items arising from the Acquisition,
including the imputed interest expenses on
convertible bonds of approximately HK$22 million and
option cost of approximately HK$39 million. However,
as all these items are non-cash items resulting from
the acquisition deal, they have minimal impact on the
Group's cashflow and have no effect on the Group's
booming solar business.

Bt 5 1o R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE R 7

BUSINESS REVIEW

Solar Energy Business

The Group is pleased to report that the acquisition
agreement to purchase Apollo Precision Ltd. shares,
representing the entire issued share capital of Apollo
Precision Ltd. for approximately HK$4.18 billion, was
approved by shareholders in the fourth quarter of 2009.
According to the profit guarantee in the acquisition
agreement, the actual profit after tax of the Apollo Sub-
Group as guaranteed by the vendors of Apollo Precision
Ltd. of not less than US$55 million for the 11 months
ending 30 June, 2010. In which, the vendors of Apollo
Precision Ltd. guaranteed that the profit attributable to
shareholders of Apollo Precision Ltd. as shown in the
audited consolidated profit and loss account comprised
in the 2009 August to December five months audited
accounts of Apollo Sub-Group (“2009 Apollo Sub-
Group's Five Months Audited Profit”) being not less
than US$15 million. The Group is excited to report that
the 2009 Apollo Sub-Group’s Five Months Audited Profit
amounted to approximately HK$165,262,000 (equivalent to
US$21,187,000 at exchange rate of US$1 to HK$7.8) which
exceeds the 2009 profit guarantee by HK$48,262,000
(equivalent to US$6,187,000). This strong and promising
operating performance further enhance our confidence on
the future growth and long-term prospects of solar energy
business.

The Solar Energy Business also made a substantial
contribution to the financial performance of the Group
since the acquisition completion at the end of November
2009. The key highlights of the financial performance
from 25 November 2009 to 31 December 2009 of the
solar energy business, before any fair value adjustments
of work-in-progress and customers contracts, as shown in
note 6 to the audited consolidated financial statements, are

as follows:
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Gross Profit EF

Profit before income tax FriS i Bl a Fl
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BEBITIRAL41.8EBB T - RIBFUWE =

S A{RFE - Apollo Precision Ltd.fRz& Apollo
WEBEEE 2T —ZFA=+HL+—
18 A 2 B BB 1& % 7 1 4> 54 55,000,000 3
JL o H & Apollo Precision Ltd. 2 & 7 &
#F - ApolloMfiBEB =T NFNAE+=A
ZHABAKEZEEBEZEERGEERE
BRAT/R 2 Apollo Precision Ltd. A% 5 & {4 %)
(TZZEZTAF Apollo M B £ B R B & E|Z
A ) A7 15,000,000 5 7T © ANE B R R
WE—_ZZENFApollofBEE TE A KE
%54 %) 5 165,262,0008 T (3F1F LA 7.8
BTz ERFEREN 21,187,000 L) © 18
B =TT NFEFIFRE 48,262,000 8 T (HHE
$06,187,0003 70 ) o 4<% 54 a0 158 5 2 18
18— D ISR AN R B K5 88 7 R AR 3E
EREEISZED -

BRZZEZAF T+ —ARTHRBENUR - X
GREBTARNEB ZMBEETRERE
Bl o NS EZES U BMERMT6 MR - X
BGHREBR_ZEZNF+—HAZTHHEZEZ=
ETNF+ZA=Z T HBZXEHKEER
Z(REEREH B REPEHNRTERE)
mr o

HK$'000 %
FET

315,292 100

234,941 75

231,436 73




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The total contracts for the purchase of equipment entered
into between Apollo Precision (Fujian) Limited, a subsidiary
of Apollo Precision Ltd., and its customers amounted to
approximately RMB1.019 billion in 2009. In addition, the
Group has entered into an agreement to sell two sets
of physical vaporized deposition (“PVD") devices to a
Japanese customer in fall 2009 for an aggregate value
of US$7.8 million. The signing of this contract marks a
milestone of the solar energy business unit of the Group's
expansion into overseas market.

Toy Business

The difficult operating environment was clearly reflected
in the results for the year. Turnover of this segment
dropped significantly from HK$512 million to HK$401
million, which was mainly due to the financial tsunami.
Unfavorable factors such as RMB appreciation, inflation in
the People Republic of China ("PRC") and tougher testing
requirements in the U.S. and European countries also
adversely affected the Group's toy business.

In view of the loss making position of the toy business and
reallocate the resources to invest in other business with
high growth potential, the Group has agreed to dispose
49% of its toy business for HK$71 million during the year.

Property Investment Business

As the local property market was in fairly good shape
in 2009, the investment returns of the Group were
satisfactory. The properties of the Group are located
at Kwai Chung and Tsim Sha Tsui. However, since the
property market has risen to fairly high level and risk of
property investment is comparatively high, the Group will
allocate the financial resources more to its solar energy
business and focusing on its R&D. The Group will continue
to adopt a prudent investment strategy and may consider
possible disposal of the portfolio and divestment programs
to create value for the investors.

Energy-saving Related Business

During the year, the Group successfully developed the first
generation hybrid bus accessories with strong R&D efforts.
However, the project result has been unsatisfactory and
more resources will be invested to explore the business
opportunities. The market is still difficult and market
recognition of our products is still weak. Thus, the Group
will study the feasibility of continuing the hybrid bus
business cautiously on the way forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE T

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to drive revenue growth,
particularly in respect of its solar energy business. The
Group has signed a memorandum with a Henan customer
for the supply of manufacturing equipment for producing
an aggregate of 200 MW silicon based thin film solar
photovoltaic modules in January 2010. In addition, the
Group has successfully secured a 100MW sales and
service contracts for a total sum of approximately RMB580
million with a joint venture company in the PRC, the
Chinese partner of which is a company controlled by
Zhengzhou Municipal People's Government of Henan
Province in February 2010. It is anticipated that the solar
energy business will become the Group’'s key growth
driver in the future.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION

As at the year end, the cash and bank balances amounted
to HK$154 million (2008: HK$52 million) while there was
no bank borrowing (2008: nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group’s monetary transactions and deposits continued
to be in the form of US dollars, Renminbi and HK dollars.
The Group adopted conservative treasury policy and did not
enter into any derivatives products during the year.

CHARGE ON ASSET

As at 31 December 2009, leasehold land and buildings with
carrying value of HK$20,265,000 were pledged to secure
banking facilities of HK$55,200,000 which were not drawn
down as at 31 December 2009.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE T

The Company charged the shares in the share capital of
Apollo Precision Ltd. (the “Shares”) and other related
assets, including all dividends, interest and other monies
payable at any time in respect of the Shares and all other
rights, benefits, allotments, accretions, offers, advantages
and proceeds in respect of accruing or made or arising or
derived from the Shares held by, to the order or on behalf
of the Company at any time, as the legal and beneficial
owner and by way of first fixed charge in favour of GS-
Solar (Cayman) Company Limited (for itself and on behalf of
the other holders of the convertible bonds) as a continuing
security for the due and punctual performance by the
Company of all obligations of the Company contained
in the instrument executed constituting the convertible
bonds.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2009, information on
sales and purchases relating to the major customers and
suppliers is summarized as follows:

Sales (Percentage over total sales)

The largest customer BEREF
Five largest customers AARREF

Purchases (Percentage over total

purchases)
The largest supplier SARMER
Five largest suppliers hRHER

None of the directors of the Company, their associates, or
any shareholder which to the knowledge of the directors
of the Company owns more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had a beneficial interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers for
the year ended 31 December 2009.

PERSONNEL

The average number of employees of the Group during the
year was approximately 3,800 (2008: 4,600) of whom 570
(2008: 670) were office administration staff. Bonuses are
awarded based on individual performance and overall group
performance, and are made available to certain employees
of the Group.

RAalLAZE — B EMEE A - BAGS-Solar
(Cayman) Company Limited (AERS KK
REMABRBRELSFREA) AT AKBERA
Al HEEZHRIERERNENERBER
EEREZHA AEE Z Apollo Precision
Ltd. R A Z iR ([H& 5 1) & H #th 48 B &
EeEREAERERDENS AR
B FEREMBRE  URBROAIR R
B EHSKELERITEZ A EMER - F
oo BaE - BY - FREERKRE)  ER
RRAGIEZERERFBITARANRAELERK
BmREFZXBERIIBRESHSEZAE
BB HBIRE -

TEEFRHAER
BE-PEAFT-A=t-ALFE A
WERES RGBT 2 88 KR AR R
m -

HE (HEHEEB )

RiE (BRRBEAIL)

2009 2008
—2EAE  —TI)\F
44% 7%
57% 24%
12% 13%
38% 40%

HE-TTNF+-A=+—BLEE &
AREEE BEIHEATIBAATE
TR A AR 2 BB TR 5% b b2 R
EEAAREEAESRAAHEE 2 ER
HE -

BT

FAAEEEES 2 FHIEEXAR3,800A
ZEZT)\F 4600A) HAFBI0A(ZZE
TNF 670 N) BMAEITHAE - XEE
BEENXRRAEREEBRERRmMAE TEEER
FRAIEAT LA 528 -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group's turnover and operating profit were
derived principally from (1) providing equipment and
turnkey solutions for manufacturing of amorphous silicon
thin film solar modules (2) the design, manufacture and
sales of toys and moulds, (3) property investment and (4)
manufacturing of accessories for hybrid buses.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’'s turnover by industries
and geographical location is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2009 and the state of the Group's affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 35 to 175.

The Board of directors has resolved not to declare either
final dividend (2008: Nil) and interim dividend (2008: Nil) for
the year ended 31 December 2009.

SHARE CAPITAL

i Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 22
April 2009, the share capital of the Company was
consolidated by which every five existing shares of
HK$0.05 each were consolidated into one ordinary
share of HK$0.25 each (the “Consolidated Share").
The issued share capital of the Company was reduced
through a cancellation of the paid-up capital of the
Company to the extent of HK$0.24 on each of the
issued Consolidated Shares such that the nominal
value of each issued Consolidated Share will be
reduced from HK$0.25 to HK$0.01 (the “Capital
Reorganisation”). The Capital Reorganisation was
effective on 23 April 2009.

ii Pursuant to a resolution passed on 4 June 2009, the
open offer of 635,610,848 shares of HK$0.10 each
(the "Offer Shares”) to the shareholders on a basis
of four Offer Shares for every Share of the Company
was approved (the “Open Offer”). The Open Offer
was completed on 26 June 2009.

EFEEBEMAREBE_STNF T+ A
ST HLEFEZHEEERKEZMBR
%o

EREK

ARRZEBXGRITEER - AKREEX
BAEEXBETERAN (N REFRETFR
KGR EH CEERBRBEREENSR
Q)& HERHEETAQ)MERE M 4)
SBERABNELERMN -

7R E

BEBRBROTAKELEEEFINGEA
FATEERARMIFEG o

FERDE

AEBHEE-_TTNF+_A=+—HLHF
EEBERAEBRZB ZUHBRABNREE
B HRREFEISEEE 1758 °

EE2dR T RERE_ZTAFE T+ A
St HLEFEZFHERE(ZTENE:
B)RAREBRE(ZZTNF - &) -

@S

i ARABR-_ZEZAFNA-+-_HRB
ZHEARER  AHARRZBRAES
AREREECBITZROENHA—
R EREE.25B L2 EBIK([ A Hi%
B BBEEARAZHRBRA(E
REEITEHBRMGOTH0.248 ) mHE
BARNB 2 BBITRA - FEREET
A OB 2 AR 0.25 B TR ZE 0.01
B ([RAEHR]) - MERABHR-Z
SEHEMA-+=84%% -

ii AKRNBRZETNFANANBBEB R
SEE AHEEHRAS £635,610,848

B RERBEERMDI0ETZERE
TRR  HELGRE —RRMHERD
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHT

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) & NE D)

i Pursuant to a resolution passed on 4 November 2009 ii ARAFTIR-_ZEZNF+—-ANHBBEZ
the Company subdivided each of the issued and REBR DIHRARARBRA+FERE
unissued shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital B0.01BTEEITRARETRG B4
of the Company into 4 shares of HK$0.0025 each % ™ E0.00257% 7T 2 B 19 ([ B 15 #F
(the “Share Subdivision”). The Share Subdivision took 1) o IRDIFAR_ZEZNFET—A
place on 5 November 2009. FEER -

Details of movements in the Company's Share capital ZARATZIRALEFERNE ZEHISRFEISEH
during the year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated A4G4 B HEM 31 -
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF BE - - HEREBE ELHmES
LISTED SECURITIES

During the 12 months ended 31 December 2009, the #HZE_-ZZAFE+_A=+—8BI1t+ @
Company repurchased 63,900,000 shares of the Company A & N2 &) A B 22 BT & [0 63,900,000 f% - B
on the Stock Exchange. The repurchased shares were RIZERMHDN_-ZE—FTF—AZLEY -
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cancelled subsequently in January 2010. Details of the %
repurchase were as follows: P
m
0
o
Price per share =
Number of SRER Aggregate S
Month of repurchase repurchased Highest Lowest price paid ﬁ
WE A5 BEME 8% B 1 e
'000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000 o
F T T FHET &

December 2009 63,900 1.376 1.2 81,970
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

In accordance with the reporting and announcement

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the

Group has entered the following connected transactions

during the year:

Lease of properties

On 30 November 2009, the Group has sold part of
its toy business by disposal of 49% of the issued
share capital of one of its subsidiaries, RBI Industries
Holdings Limited (“RBIlI"”), to an investment holding
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
which was owned by Mr. Yip Yun Kuen, the former
director of the Company. Upon completion of the
disposal, RBI Property Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into a lease
agreement with RBIl to lease the existing principal
place of business of RBIl and its subsidiaries at a
monthly rental (exclusive of rates, government rent,
management fees and utility charges) of HK$295,000.

Transaction with Alfa Faith Investment Limited

The Group has entered into a service agreement with
Alfa Faith Investment Limited (“Alfa"),
which was wholly and beneficially owned by family

a company

members of a former director, Mr. Choi Hip Ming,
of the Company, who was appointed on 1 January
2009 and was resigned on 22 April 2009. According
to the service agreement, Alfa has agreed to provide
transportation and logistics services to the Group
pursuant to the purchase orders placed by the Group,
and the respective service fees should be agreed
at arm’s length negotiations, subject to an annual
cap of HK$4,000,000. The service fees for the year
amounted to HK$1,995,000.

BREXS
BELTRAUFUAE ZHRRAEER -
AR EBSIAATAFEZ FERS -

HEME

RZZBEZENF+—A=+8  xEEH
BEMAEBZWBAR — AREE
TRBR AR 2B EITRG 2 49%
mRET - REEZBESAMzREE
AR MzARABAEBEAIESE
RS - TREEER  ARF
ZEEWB AR BYEREBR AT
BRBIEEHA A LIEIRE RBIAS & H
i - & A7 £295,0008 (1B IEE
i BEREARALEBA) -

HEBREARAARS

AEEHEZEEEFBRAA(EE] -
HAARAESERBPLE(R-ZE
NF—RA—BEZAREENR=ZTAN
FUAZ+—HBT IZRBEE2EES
A Z AR RIS - EEAAE
EREER TR ([ZERE] -
BiEZnE  EBEREREBEAEERML
CHBHBERASEREZSERS - K
SEARBRE B BAZTZERG
B GG R EBEASEEIZ AT RA
EEHE - - REZBEASEBE RN Z
Ve BREREFE R &4,000,000%
L BFEEREE R A1,995,000%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

SHARE OPTION

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 August 2007 (the
“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
option to directors, employees and other participants
including consultants, advisers, suppliers and
customers of the Group to subscribe for shares of the
Company.

Principal terms of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will enable the Group to
offer valuable incentive to attract and retain quality
personnel and other persons to work for the Group
so as to increase the value of the shares of the
Company. To this end, the Directors may specify the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be
held or the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment for the share options at an exercise price
(subject to adjustments as provided therein) equal
to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(i) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not exceed
10 per cent of the share capital of the Company in
issue on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme, unless a refresh approval
of the shareholders is obtained. At a special general
meeting of the Company held on 4 August 2009,
the shareholders of the Company have approved
to refresh the 10% limit. As at the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares available
for issue upon the exercise of all options granted
or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
317,805,424 (representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of passing the
resolution to refresh the 10% limit) (as adjusted by
the Share Subdivision).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1
per cent of the share capital of the Company in issue
on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company has
been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007 and
has a life of 10 years until 27 August 2017.

Other Option

Save for the aforesaid Share Option Scheme, the
Company has granted other options to certain
consultants upon completion of acquisition of Apollo
Sub-Group during the year as incentive of their
contribution to the development of Apollo Sub-Group
(the “Other Option”).

Principal terms of the Other Option

The Other Option entitled the consultants to
subscribe for an aggregate of 320,000,000 shares
(after the Share Subdivision) at an exercise price of
HK$0.25 (after the Share Subdivision) for a period of
5 years from the date of granting of the Other Option.
The vesting period was one year from the date of
grant.

Movements of Share Option

Movements of the Share options granted to the
participants during the year ended 31 December 2009
are as follows:

Outstanding

as at
1 January
Date of grant Exercise price Exercise period 2009
R=ZBENE
—A—H
BB THE TES i RAT B
(a)  the Share Option Scheme EER&IE:T 2
13 July 2009 HK$0.18* 13 April 2010 —
— 12 July 2011
ZEENFEAT=H —2-ZE
P_T]H-t— HZ
[y S
+A+=H

(o)  the Other Option H finfiE % 1

25 November 2009 HK$0.25* 25 November 2009

— 24 November

2014
“TTAE+-A “TENF1-A
—+AH Z+HAZE
—Z-mE
+—HA=+mA
* after the adjustment of Share Subdivision.

None of the grantees is a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or an
associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of any of
them.

ﬁ%ﬁ’i?é(é%)

B E(E)

ZEBREAINCHN -_ZEZTLFNA
“+NABERQBIRELE - EH10
F oHEE-ZE—+tFNAZt+tHAE
_u:o

H R

BRIA L RERRRE R &) - M SE A UL Apollo
MEBEER ARRROEMERET
MEEAEER - ASEVEH Apollo i &8 &
BRZAER -

REREZEX KM

H 4t B A 7 7% T BA 751 320,000,000 A B
TEER0.25B T (RMHIFAME) - 171E

HAKRHBEHRZF  BEHARKLEA
Hfg 14 -
BRESD
UTRBE_ZZE h¢+ A=+—H
RABRET2EE 2
Cancelled/  Outstanding
Granted lapsed at
during during 31 December
the year the year 2009
R-ZThE
+=A
FREH,/ =+—8
FRTRE P 18 R ATBE
52,992,000* — 52,992,000*
320,000,000* — 320,00,000*

* EROIFAFER -
SEREEALLCARNRRIZIES - &R
TTHAE - TEHBAL ETARRIGER
REBA
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RESERVES f#E

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year AEEZHERERNZEFERINEI2E
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 4&HEHMEFEEERSEETRNA -

equity of the consolidated financial statements set out on

page 42.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserves BEER A ARXTIR_ZETAF+ A
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December =-+—HAH2ETFRENREBLT :
2009 were as below:

2009 2008
—EERE ZTNF
HK$000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Contributed surplus BEHAS 262,432 100,635
(Accumulated losses)/retained profits (BE&HEE) BEaF (104,718) 6,882
157,714 107,517

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the E@zmerisim B AT 2 EERBR AR
excess of the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired F P 2T GO EmME Y &5 > WA BE
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued —h N\—FFHEZQFEGEIEL)  AIDR
which, under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as S ARG 2 IEE o HEAD T TEET M kR %
amended), is available for distribution to the shareholders B siiEME LD R @ RE

of the Company. However, the Company cannot declare

or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed

surplus if

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its (i) JRZ%/& - TeeEER Y aE : &
liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be (i) EHEZECAEREEIANEBERED
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued BEITIRA R RSB 7 ke sy o

share capital and share premium account.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BrBEE

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the THEELp|WELESRBERS - HEAD
Company’s bye-laws although there is no statutory & 44 =2MBITE Y EHEERN 2 E
restriction against such rights under the laws in Bermuda. F o

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND ¥ . BERSER IS Gy
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment AR EEFRNAEF 2 WE  BE R RERIE
and investment properties of the Group during the year &% > @ &M 5 RIS NG S T EREK
are set out in notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial 158K 17 o

statements respectively.
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EFEHT

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

The Group had no borrowings outstanding at the balance
sheet date. No interest was capitalised by the Group
during the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations
which amounted to HK$275,000.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2009 are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five year financial summary is shown on page 176.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year
2009 and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Chau Kai Man (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Kin Fai
Mr. Peng Li Bin
(appointed on 25 November 2009)
Mr. Xu Guo Jun (CEQ)
(appointed on 25 November 2009)
Mr. Choi Hip Ming, William
(appointed on 1 January 2009 and
resigned on 22 April 2009)
Mr. Yip Yun Kuen
(resigned on 1 January 2009)
Mr. Tsui Ming*
(redesignated as non-executive director
on 1 January 2009 and retired on 26 June 2009)

Mr. Kwong Kwan Ming"

(resigned on 25 November 2009)
Mr. Wu Tak Lung®
Mr. Leung Chi Kin*

(resigned on 25 November 2009)
Mr. Chow King Lok"
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng"

(appointed on 25 November 2009)

* Non-executive directors
Independent non-executive directors
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DIRECTORS (cContinued)

In accordance with the Bye-law 86(2) of the Company, the
office of each of Mr. Xu Guo Jun, Mr. Peng Li Bin and Mr.
Jiang Zhesheng as Directors will end at the Annual General
Meeting. Mr. Xu Guo Jun, Mr. Peng Li Bin and Mr. Jiang
Zhesheng, who being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with the Bye-law 87(1) of the Company,
Mr. Chau Kai Man and Mr. Wu Tak Lung will retire from
the office of Directors at the Annual General Meeting by
rotation. Mr. Chau Kai Man and Mr. Wu Tak Lung, who
being eligible, offers himself for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2009,
Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company had

none of the Directors or

any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFQO")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

As at 31 December 2009, the Company had not granted
its Directors or Supervisors or chief executive, or their
respective spouses or children below the age of 18 any
right to subscribe for the shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations and none
of them has ever exercised any such right to subscribe for
shares or debentures.

Save as disclosed above and for shares in certain
subsidiaries held by directors in trust for their immediate
holding companies, at 31 December 2009, none of the
directors and chief executive of the Company, or any
of their associates, had any interests in the equity or
debt securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO Ordinance, and none of
the directors and chief executives of the Company, or their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

B

RIB AR AR 86(2) 5 IREIESLLE
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AZBMDIN KRB EEEREEITHA
BoHEBEAL BER-_TTAF+Z
ﬂ = t+— BEARQFHEEAREQE(RE
EFLREHEMIZER) ZBAREHESF
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Options Scheme section
stated above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement scheme are shown in
note 2.21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's retirement scheme contributions charged to
the consolidated income statement for the year amounted
to approximately HK$5,556,000 (2008: HK$6,007,000).

BENEREHF &=

RAFEBERARFAR - KR FSHH AL @I
BRARMEBI LEARRESTERERFE R
BEBEAMNBEZEEGL -

BEROSIESF 2LZH

B EX[EE R iest &) IR BB S - RERME
o] By 8 78 2 ) s EL AR AT B /B8 8 ) I 4 2 B T
VEMEMZY  BEARREZTAIEBE
ARBHAEMEAMEABEE Z R HEH
R -

EERBRBEEH

FRAL BT LR FERBARRR 2R
BRHNEHBZEREERITREH

BREENHET RRBEASEECE
FWANEHEA N ERARBET AN
MECEAERERIN TR —FRKIEZR
BEK -

RIKEFHE

AEBWRAFEFRGEMBRRME
2.21-°

TR ANEBERSFEERRGEERER
i A4 A5,556,00008 T(Z 2 Z )\ F
6,007,000 7T) °



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2009, the following shareholders were
interested in 5 per cent or more of the issued share capital  Hf
of the Company according to the register of interest

the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares of the Company

Name of shareholder

BR&®

Capacity
BEME

FERR

BFERQANEFAERS

Number of

underlying

shares under

derivatives

equity

Number of RENE
shares IE/REN
RipEA HERH

RZZEZNF+_A=1+—8 BEESHFK
BEIRPIE 36 IERE2ELEME - HEXR

NAIEEITIRANE% sk A LR 2 IR S0
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of | :

Percentage of

issued share

Total capital
interests  HEBTRA
ARER Bl
(%)

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP Il
Associates Ltd.

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund Il
Associates L.P.

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund II L.P.

IDG-Accel China Investors Il L.P.

McGovern Patrick J

Mr. Zhou Quan
BAekE

Interest of controlled
corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO

FrEsl B  RERREESF R
HEERIZE317 k3181
WRAEE s

Interest of controlled
corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO

sl ZE RERBEEAR
M EhI5317 R 318(&
WRAES s

Beneficial owner and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO

EREARBEEFR
& EhI 5317 R 318(E
Y TP g

Beneficial owner and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO

ERBAARBERRR
HEERIE317R3181
WRAES ks

Interest of controlled
corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO

sl ZE R RBEE AR
HEEAZ 317 R3181E
WEBEE R

Interest of controlled
corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO

FriEslEE B RBEEF R
HEERAE 317 R 3181E
BEREE 2R

— 10,979,274,832

— 10,979,274,832

— 10,979,274,832

— 10,979,274,832

— 10,979,274,832

— 10,979,274,832

10,979,274,832

10,979,274,832

10,979,274,832

10,979,274,832

10,979,274,832

10,979,274,832

238.02%

238.02%

238.02%

238.02%

238.02%

238.02%

(27 8 B X0 =0 328 & Y & BE

600¢ 1HOd3Yd TVNNNY

EHEUzs

>
o
o
[
-
(@]
(%2}
o
-
>
=y
m
=2
m
eyl
(9]
=<
—
m
(@]
X
=z
o
-
o
@
<
X
o
[
2
=z
(0]
(2}
=
<
_'
m
o




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHT

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERRE)
Long Positions in the Shares of the Company (Continued) #EEARATNFRKREG(E)

Number of

underlying

shares under
derivatives Percentage of
equity issued share
Number of RENE Total capital
Name of shareholder Capacity shares IEMAN interests  HEBTRA
RRER BaftE koA RERS AitER Bfit
(%)

GS-Solar (BVI) Company Limited Beneficial owner —  7.292,731,916  7,292,731,916 158.10%
ERfiBA
Interest of controlled
corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
FrEsl B BRERREES R
HEEAIZE317 R318(&
BRAREE s

Mr. Lin Chaohui Interest of controlled — 7292731916 7,292,731,916 158.10%
HERB L A corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
FiEslzE R RBEE AR
HEEhIE317 R 318(%
WRAES s

Affluent Capital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest —  4,703,520,276  4,703,520,276 101.97%
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
ERBAANBEESRR
HEEAIZE317R318K
BRAREE s

Mr. Lin Jianfang Interest of controlled —  4,703,520,276  4,703,520,276 101.97%
WEDS otk corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
FrEsl B  RERREES R
HEERIZE317 R318(&
BRAREE s

GS-Solar (Cayman) Company Limited Beneficial owner and interest —  4,309,441,552  4,309,441,552 93.43%
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
EnfE ARBEESR
HEEAENTRIISE
RERER B

Big Sunlight Limited Beneficial owner and interest — 2542443392 2,542,443,392 55.12%
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
ERBAARBEERR
HEEAIZ317R31815
RERER B

Mr. Zhang Honghui Interest of controlled — 2542443392 2,542,443,392 55.12%
REBLE corporations and interest
deemed under section 317
and 318 of the SFO
PRl AR i RREE AR
HEEAE317 R3181K
RERER B
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHT

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued) FERR )

>
o
Long Positions in the Shares of the Company (Continued) &R ATNFEREG(E) E
o
(2]
o)
Number of 5
underlying m
shares under =
derivatives Percentage of =
equity issued share 5
Number of RENTE Total capital o
Name of shareholder Capacity shares IEMAN interests  HEBTRA =
RRER BaftE R &8 HERSG ARER Bfit w O
(%) &9
# 2
Total Joy Holdings Limited Beneﬁcial owner 314,494,124 448,238,892 762,733,016 16.54% on 5
LET )N =
=2
Mr. Zhang Yigin Interest of controlled corporation 314,494,124 448,238,892 762,733,016 16.54% :H% 2
Er it AR 2 s o %
<=
Ever Delight Limited Beneficial owner 384,624,892 168,089,584 562,714,476 11.98% E @
EnlAA
Mr. Yang Yu Sheng Interest of controlled corporation 384,624,892 168,089,584 552,714,476 11.98% >
Ly ke FriEs AR s =
C
>
DnB NOR Asset Management (Asia) Beneficial owner 281,472,000 - 281,472,000 6.10% -
Limited ERlEAA m
o
Mr. Dai Hai Dong Beneficial owner 318,000,000 — 318,000,000 6.89% E
HEREE EnlAA 5
©
[l
Notes: Bat - ﬁ
B
Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified ~ BRIA FIREEIN - RAFIREBAE N T NEF +
of any other interests representing 5% or more of the Company’'s TZA=+—BERA AN RAE@RHD T HE X &

issued share capital or short positions in the shares or underlying ~ REIETTIRA5% A 2 @SR e -
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER
Information on the Company's corporate governance HBEEXERFERLANE2EEZE30E/D
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” &A1& °

from pages 25 to 30.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHT

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY

The Company had adopted its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code
of the Listing Rules as then in force, and after having
made specific enquiry to all directors of the Company, the
directors of the Company are satisfied that the required
standard set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions has
been fully complied with.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group's financial reporting process
and internal controls. The audit committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and with the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company's issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

Details of the Group's events after reporting date are set
out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements

AUDITORS

Grant Thornton was appointed by the Directors to conduct
audit on the financial statements of the Company for the
years ended 2007, 2008 and 2009. A resolution will be
submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-
appoint Grant Thornton as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the board

Chau Kai Man

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 April 2010

BEEETARESRRZ A

AREORESNEBELAI S EHATRM—
ERE R i S AR SR B FT ST IR 1T A
SA([1TAH ) REAMAAARES

B ENENE  AAANESTIRE
SEFOMFEETA L1755 R A
ERIEE -

BREES

$ AIERRETRAEI2NENIEXE
Eg BEEHYEEBEARAZHMBHRBRRL
NEPEEZ - ERZEE@NERBBALRF=A
BIUIFRITESR °

DNEREFR

REBEARRRIMER 2 NRE R E FFTH
BRARERBSR KRR ETROHZA
REBRS EMRUMREN DR 25% °

HERRSBIE

AEBzREBRFEABIANGREHBR
K44 -
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BEEMITEREERARA -_TT £

—EENFR-_ZFTNFIRE - AIKRTZ
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PRERBE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is charged with
providing effective and responsible leadership for the
Company. The Directors, individually and collectively, must
act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders.

The Board has appointed the following Committee to
oversee different areas of the Company’s affairs. The
composition of the Board and the Committee are given
below and their respective responsibilities are discussed
later in this report. The terms of references of these
Committees adopted by the Board are published on the
Company’s website (www.apollosolar.com.hk).

At 31 December 2009, the members of the Board and the
Committee are as follows:

Board of Directors BExg
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chau Kai Man R e

Mr. Lee Kin Fai® FREIEL A
Mr. Xu Guo Jun® REE L E"
Mr. Peng Li Bin* EAVE e
Independent Non Executive Directors B IEHITES
Mr. Wu Tak Lung RIEERESLAE

Mr. Chow King Lok Gkt i

Mr. Jiang Zhesheng” THEERE"

Chairman of the Committee
appointed on 1 January 2009

#

appointed on 25 November 2009

The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies
and monitors its performance. The Board also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, major
transactions, director appointments, and dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of managing and overseeing the Group’s
day to day operations to the Executive Directors and
certain management committes of the Company and
respective directors of principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Exe((25g ) AERARRREHAREK
BEEZEE - EF VAR RARRATT
o UARRRREBRRZ REMNDBKES

EFECREIUNTRBEEEARATRE
BEH EFQRBTZEEZREHNT
X MESEBZBEBNRARSE N3G -
ZEZECRERECEESZRRS - LT

AR B #IE (www.apollosolar.com.hk) e

R-ZZNF+-_A=+—H B2F8k&
ZEEIKEWT
Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
EREES FHEES
Ve Ve
v v
v v
EZETAZEEZER

¢ RH-oTTHFE—F—HERT
ORI ETAF+ A +RAEZRE

EFERTAKEZEFERRE  TEEH
RE -BEQNEUERFERTHES
TERG BEREME - URBREREFBER
FHRE BFERERNREBEALEERE
BEZRNREERETARAATESRTR
EHEEZBENASEIENBARSER
LEF -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXEERHE

The Company had received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards their
independence to the Company and considers that each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs"”) is
independent to the Company.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in setting
the agenda of Board Meetings and each Director is invited
to present any businesses that they wish to discuss or
propose at the meetings. All Directors have timely access
to all relevant information of the meetings and may take
professional advice if necessary.

THE BOARD

The Board held 5 full Board Meetings for the year ended
31 December 2009. Attendances of the full Board meetings
are as follows:

ARRIDEESEBUIFATESTEREE L
MARBZFEHER  URRBEILIENIT
ER([BUESDHYBINARF °

AANEBDERHREEFEERICHEZ
B MBEEFHERBRLTARSHENE
WSR2 ZFH - 2REFYARARR
GREEHEERZEN  TARFERSE
BEEXER -

EEg
RBE-BBAF+=A=+-BLLEE"

EERRRSNSBEFEEH - 2RET
R HEEEIT

No. of meetings attended

HEEBRRE
Mr. Chau Kai Man (Chairman)* BRCE(EE)" 5/5
Mr. Lee Kin Fai FhEME S E 5/5
Mr. Xu Guo Jun (CEO)™ REI & S (TTEcAE %) 0/5
Mr. Peng Li Bin AL 0/5
Mr. Wu Tak Lung RifEgESE 5/5
Mr. Chow King Lok b 5/5
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng TS A 0/5
# appointed as the chairman and chief executive officer (“CEO") on # Ro-ETENE—A—BEZEATIERTHARR

1 January 2009 and resigned as the CEO of the Company on 25
November 2009

## appointed as the CEO in place of Mr. Chau Kai Man on 25 November
2009

The full Board participates in the selection and approval
of new Directors and therefore has not established a
Nomination Committee. The Board takes into consideration
criteria such as expertise, experience, integrity and
commitment when selecting new directors.

Non-executive Directors have been appointed for a non-
specific term, which is subject to re-election. Under the
Bye-laws of the Company, with the exception of the
Chairman, all the Directors are currently required to offer
themselves for re-election by rotation at least once every
three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election at the first general meeting
after their appointment.

RZZETNF+—AZTRBRETEAR

#  RIZETNF+—AZ+REBEZERITEESH
B RO 2 BT

AREBEFEUNE2HIERNENTE
B RIEBRIREREZES EFSNWE
FEESR SHEXAH  &H-
BEREHAESEAELEZE -

an A& IE

FATEFTTEFTETYH BRABARET-
RIBEARB 2 ABAA - BREREI - 28
EERRAZIB-FHARI —EE - ff
BEREMBRETRMEZTZESTEERS
RERBERBEERERREG LEITEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PRERBE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee was established to review the
Group’'s financial reporting, internal controls and corporate
governance issues and make relevant recommendations to
the Board. The audit committee comprises of three INEDs.
The committee members possess appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules. Please refer
to biography section of Directors for further details of the
committee members.

The audit committee may elect to ask its external
auditors to attend its meetings. During the year, the audit
committee has met with the external auditors with no
executive directors present.

Mr. Wu Tak Lung (Chairman) RIEEEE(EE)
Mr. Chow King Lok As%EE
Mr. Jiang Zhesheng THEAERE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The following remuneration was paid by the Group to its
principal auditor, Grant Thornton, and its affiliated firms:

BREES

ENZEERLNRHANSE 2 M5 H
W ABEZEREREREE IHEFS
REMAEES BERZEERBE=-2BIYHF
HITEE - ZEEREABLTRAMRE
ZHEEHEXRER St NEBMBEEEER
M- REEREBZE—FSHBFLHES
JEEE—8h

ERZEQUEBESIMNSZEA L EEX
ZEERH% - NAFE BRZESCHI)

BREMBTHTEEISHEZGH -

No. of meetings attended

HESBRE

4/4
4/4
1/4

3l

AEECMETEXHUMIE ST RE
BEBARMATHE -

2009 2008

—EBhE —TT)N\F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Statutory audit and interim review FEEEZEFEHERH 1,448 800
Taxation services AR TS 61 45
Others Ei 564 5

2,073 850
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PEEREKE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established to review
the remuneration of Directors and the Group's salary
policy. All members are INEDs. To minimize any conflict
of interest, any member who is interested in any given
proposed motion is required to abstain from voting on such

motion.

Mr. Wu Tak Lung (Chairman) REREE(EE)
Mr. Chow King Lok b e

Mr. Jiang Zhesheng THEERE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results of the Company are
published in a timely manner and within four months and
three months respectively of the year end and interim
periods.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. It should be read in
conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 33 and 34 which acknowledges

the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditor.

Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the Annual Report and financial statements
of the Company to ensure that these financial statements
give a true and fair presentation in accordance with Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable accounting
standards.

FMEES
FNEZEENIUNEHNESTHE RAKEH
MR- FAIEREBBEBLES - /MR
mRBERKK  EFKEORAER S
hEA D - BIARZADENERER -

No. of meetings attended

HEE BRI
2/2
2/2
0/2
LEREE- 34
B &
AR F)FE R EEAED BN F B R
HEAREEAROEARSAABRANE

B S o

EEMMBRERAAENEEHIWAT - T
NHEEIBENEMEFHIZBMBENER

BHMEREREETENTR  EWERE
—EIRE o
FHREIRE

EFRAEAETAKTAAERERR S
Bk AR ST SRR RS E SR A
GO R EREER HEMATHLTE
%o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PRERBE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial
position of the Group upon which financial statements
of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within
the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are
of the view that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system (the “System")
of the Group. The System is designed not only to achieve
the Group’'s objectives with facilitating an effective
and efficient business operation to ensure a reliable
financial reporting and compliance with applicable rules
and regulations, but also to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance on preventing material misstatement
or loss as well as managing and minimizing risks of failure
in operational system.

BER:IE:TACY
BHEE

EERR SEHEREVEHREAKERA &
HROEE IR URIEEAN S E
AIfEH & 18 R EE 2B AT

BRtRes

EEaEMREERT T HESENYEM
MR EEHRLE - M FLE  BEESNER
REBN ST HRREBRMBEE -

REEE

EZ0ERDUAEMVENERES
BMEE UHBELEREEANFRTASR
HAi@HEH

HEEE

REENEHRER EFTAREEHREFRANE
REARAREELE AU EEEERMN
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PEEREKE

INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

The Board should at least annually conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the system including all relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors, through the audit committee and the
internal audit department, have continued to review the
effectiveness of the Group's system of financial and
non-financial controls. The system of internal control
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. Controls are monitored
by management review and by a programme of internal
audits.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BEST
PRACTICE

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2009, with deviations from code provisions A2.1
and A4.1 of the Code.

Code Provision A2.1

Under the code provision A2.1, the roles of Chairman and
CEO should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Upon completion of acquisition of Apollo Sub-Group during
the year, Mr. Xu Guo Jun was appointed to replace Mr.
Chau Kai Man as the CEO of the Company, and Mr. Chau
Kai Man remained as the Chairman of the Company. The
roles of Chairman and CEO were separated thereafter.

Code Provision A4.1

None of the existing non-executive directors is appointed
for specific term. However, as the directors are subject
to the retirement by rotation provisions under the bye-
laws of the Company, the directors consider that sufficient
measures have been in place to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are not less exacting than

the Code.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGEREENSEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Kai Man, aged 53, is the chairman of the
Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group's
business operations and strategic development. Mr. Chau
resigned as CEO of the Company since November 2009.
Mr. Chau has over 20 years' experience in sales and
marketing and around eight years’ experience in company
secretarial matters. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
as a sales director of a textile company. Mr. Chau joined
the Group in 2007.

Mr. Xu Guo Jun, aged 38, is the CEO of the Group since
November 2009. Mr. Xu obtained a degree in Economics
from Xiamen University in 1993. Mr. Xu has over 10 years
of experience in international trading of minerals and
chemical products. Before joining the Group and Apollo
Sub-Group, Mr. Xu was the head of International Logistics
and Procurement Department of GS-Solar Fujian Company
Limited (“GS-Solar Fujian”) for one year and before that,
he was the head of the International Trading Department
of Fujian Minerals Trading Company for more than ten
years.

Mr. Peng Li Bin, aged 44, is the chairman of Apollo Sub-
Group. Mr. Peng obtained a degree in Economics from
Hunan Finance and Economics Institute (currently known
as Hunan University) in 1989. Mr. Peng has over 10
years of experience in the power generation industry in
the PRC. Before joining the Apollo Group, Mr. Peng was
the President of the Administrative Department of GS-
Solar Fujian for around two years, and has previously
held various positions in a number of power companies,
namely, the vice economist and assistant to the Chief of
Guangdong Electric Power Plant.

Mr. Lee Kin Fai, aged 37, is the financial controller
and company secretary of the Company. Mr. Lee is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Master
degree in Business Administration from the University of
Manchester, UK. Prior to joining the Company, he worked
in a Listed Company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and an international accounting firm. He has
more than 10 years' experience in accounting, audit and
taxation field. Mr. Lee joined the Group in 2004.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Tak Lung, aged 44, is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Wu is also a full member
of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (1868), China
Water Industry Group Limited (1129), Finet Group Limited
(8317), Aupu Group Holding Company Limited (477) and
iMerchants Limited (8009). He is currently a director and
Head of Investment Banking of CSC Asia Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEANSEF

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Jiang Zhesheng, aged 69, is appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Jiang is the
Secretary General of the National Electricity Technology
Market Association, a professor grade senior engineer
and a senior member of the Chinese Society for Electrical
Engineering. He had held various senior positions in the
Technology Division of Ministry of Water Resources and
Electricity, the Technology Division of Ministry of Energy,
the Technology Division of Ministry of Electricity and the
Environmental Technology Division of the State Electricity
Corporation in the past 20 years.

Mr. Chow King Lok, aged 63, is currently a registered
technical director of Hong Kong Building Department,
a committee member of Hong Kong Shatin Industries
and Commerce Association Ltd., and a director of an
engineering company. He has a bachelor degree in
Mechanical Engineering from Cheng Kung University,
Taiwan.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Li Yuan-Min, aged 51 is the chief technology officer
of the Apollo Sub-Group. Dr. Li graduated in modern
physics from University of Science and Technology of
China in 1982 and obtained a master’'s degree in physics
from Harvard University in 1984 and obtained Ph.D. in
applied physics from Harvard University in 1989. Dr. Li
has over 26 years of experience in international thin film
materials preparation, characterisation and deposition
technologies, PV devices design, synthesis, analysis and
optimisation, large-area PV module manufacturing and
related process engineering, displays and optoelectronic
devices and materials. Dr. Li was also the president and
chief technology officer of a thin film PV company in New
Jersey, the United States of America and was a consultant
to a number of PV companies in the PRC, Taiwan and the
United States of America. Dr. Li joined the Group in 2009.

Mr. Yip Yun Kuen, aged 60, is the CEO of the toy
business of the Group and has more than 30 years’
experience in the toy industry. He is the co-founder of
the Group. He holds a Master Degree in Science and is a
member of The Institution of Engineering and Technology
(UK) and a Industrial Fellow (2004-2006) of the University
of Warwick (UK). Mr. Yip is the ex-president of The Toys
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong.

Dr. Hui Ka Wah, Ronnie J.p., aged 46, is the chief financial
officer of the Group. Dr. Hui is a specialist in Paediatrics.
Dr. Hui is also a CFA Charterholder and holds a MBA
degree conferred by Universitas 21 Global. Dr. Hui joined
the Group in 2009.

BIAFBTEEE)

TIEAE L. 695 BRI ABLIERT
BRI EEARESHRMMEHEWE
E #HEFERIBMETRERTIREES
HEe g o HNBE20FEGHNKHNE HEER
Fal - seRMBEREE  EAFRFEALER
BEHRRBHERRIIET S B R -

BS®EE 635 REtm BAEE
EFEEMRMALE  FEPRIHEHRS
SARAAREZEEKE UR—BIEARA
ZEZ -WIBAREBEIRNABHMITIE

eI

BREEAR

5 RME 515 AApolloli B £ E >
EREMEE . TRIR - AN\ FRE
REBEHNBEABERNERE W5 Rk
IES EEWIPIES ST 1PN -
G912 ERTE BB B B RS 1 R o
g7 EEE B R A - R BT
i KIBREERBBHR AR DI
R (L - A R PR AR 14 B0 R0 AR RE T 24
i - B - HEB A EA BB 26 F
15 - 1B RALEIBAME b — AR
KRAFOERREFHIAE - TEMY
EATEEN AERERSHHRATE
R - S LR -BBAFMAKES -

EREELRE 60 ARNEEIMAEERK 2T
BaaE - WHEABBI0FIT L ELER - fFa
Hi ALt HRAIPAER - EHEFFER
BrEaGTARETIRELENEee 8 MK
Bl #E g K2 7 (2004-2006) T ¥+ o Edh 4
BRAEEEMAREEERE -

HREEBAATHL 465 TRAE ALK
SECERYBE TEBELERZEERE
Ko BB BEREV BB ZER W&
Universitas 21 Global 8% L& EE 20
MEEHHUBOMMER HFEBEEAR-ZT
TZNFEMALAER -



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

R S

Grant Thornton
198

To the members of Apollo Solar Energy Technology
Holdings Limited

SR ARG RER MR B R A H

(formerly known as RBI Holdings Limited ALZ S EAER A F)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited (formerly
known as RBI Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) set out on pages
35 to 175, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

R S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 December 2009 and of the
Group's loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Grant Thornton

Certified Public Accountants
6th Floor, Nexxus Building
41 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

21 April 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEEAWE %

35

For the year ended 31 December 2009

BHE_ZZNE+_A=1+—HILEE

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTT)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FET FET
Revenue WA 5 717,442 511,810
Cost of sales 5 E R AR (566,337) (450,160)
Gross profit EF 151,105 61,650
Other income H AU A 7 4,354 3,207
Revaluation gain on investment TEYE
properties Bl 17 1,746 —
Selling and distribution costs DiEEH (30,697) (31,818)
Administrative expenses THER (126,054) (81,725)
Development costs EREA (4,263) =
Net loss on disposal of equity L EHTE A R AR S
interests in subsidiaries FHEE 55 (83,187) =
Operating loss REEE (86,996) (48,686)
Finance costs Bi%5 8 R 8 (22,403) (605)
Loss before income tax FriSBial &8 g (109,399) (49,291)
Income tax expense FRS R TS B 2 10 (15,095) (6,386)
Loss for the year AEEZEE (124,494) (55,677)
Other comprehensive income, Hih 2 mEU
including reclassification BEESERE
adjustments
Reversal of exchange reserve upon 6 B 8 2 R B R B
disposal of a subsidiary ME H & 15 &5 (13,451) —
Exchange (loss) /gain on translation &GN EFR BT HEK
of financial statements of foreign 2B (E8), M=
operations (590) 8,917
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 E W
for the year, including BEESEAR
reclassification adjustments (14,041) 8,917
Total comprehensive income for REE2HENE
the year k] (138,535) (46,760)

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYI0S 01104V

FHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

0 8 B S O 28 & Y &l BE



36

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEEAWE %

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

5 AR RE R R B IR 2 A

A
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

2009 2008
—EEAE —TTN\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Kzt FET FETL
Loss for the year attributable to: LA FEEEE :
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEZEN 11 (122,102) (55,677)
Minority interest VAR R (2,392) =
(124,494) (55,677)
Total comprehensive income EhR2EKEEE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZZEWN (136,208) (46,760)
Minority interest o G EX (2,327) =
(138,535) (46,760)
HK Cents HK Cents
B BN
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss per share for loss attributable ZAT#EEABEEREE
to the owners of the Company ZEREER
during the year
Basic R 12 (4.5) (3.2)
Diluted o 12 N/A FER  N/A TEB




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEH BRI &
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As at 31 December 2009 RZZZNF+=A=+—H
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTTN\F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EESREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB R 15 112,267 174,319
Prepaid lease payments for land A LS 16 26,768 43,728
Investment properties B 17 30,000 —
Goodwill SES 19 7,882,953 —
Intangible assets mEE 20 435,441 —
Deferred tax assets BEFITREE 30 6,686 9,196
8,494,115 227,243
Current assets RBEE
Prepaid lease payments for land At LS 16 932 1,064
Inventories s 21 225,742 112,169
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H Ab FE WK 22 211,530 52,341
Bills receivable R E & 23 3,674 2,486
Deposits and prepayments & RIBNIA 12,143 5,206
Financial assets at fair value through 12 A FESIERNREZR 2 &7
profit or loss BE 24 3,806 —
Pledged bank deposits B RITIF K 25 864 —
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHET 25 153,637 51,770
612,228 225,036
Current liabilities =R
Trade and other payables B 5 REAEN IR 26 55,085 24,431
Bills payable FERT =R 27 711 —
Deposits and accruals e RERTER 28 210,898 38,028
Tax payable FESFLIR 49,740 3,175
316,434 65,634
Net current assets nBEEFHE 295,794 159,402

Total assets less current liabilities ZBEZAZERTHERS 8,789,909 386,645




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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As at 31 December 2009 RZZEZENF+=_A=+—H
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
Non-current liabilities E15 =K
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 2,802,885 —
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIEE F 30 82,881 4,008
2,885,766 4,008
Net assets EERSE 5,904,143 382,637
Equity R
Share capital [N 31 11,5632 39,726
Reserves & 5,713,654 342,911
Equity attributable to Company’s RATEEAEGRER
owners 5,725,186 382,637
Minority interest DY R EE R 178,957 —
Total equity ey R 5,904,143 382,637
Chau Kai Man Xu Guo Jun
R BRE R
Director Director

EZE EF



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B Bk 2
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As at 31 December 2009 RZZEENF+=_A=+—H
2009 2008
—EBBhE —TEN\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEHEEE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR Z’E 18 8,377,358 107,146
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG B 18 73,505 169,807
Deposits and prepayments & RIBNIE 3,640 88
Tax recoverable Al R B 718 — 126
Cash and bank balances He MBITER 25 669 4
77,814 170,025
Current liabilities REBEE
Deposits and accruals e RETER 28 1,698 64
Tax payable FE(S IR 56 =
1,754 64
Net current assets REEEFRE 76,060 169,961
Total assets less current liabilities ZEEAZERABEE 8,453,418 277,107
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Convertible bonds AR E S 29 2,802,885 =
Net assets REE 5,650,533 277,107
Equity =N
Share capital il 31 11,532 39,726
Reserves ke 33 5,639,001 237,381
Total equity BEARBE 5,650,533 277,107
Chau Kai Man Xu Guo Jun
BRI ®RE®&
Director Director

EZE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEREREHE

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

HE—

TEAFT A= t—ALFR

2009 2008
—EEAE —TT)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FET FET
Cash flow from operating activities REEKELRE
Loss before income tax FiRIEE (109,399) (49,291)
Adjustments for: R
Interest expense FEZ 8 22,403 605
Interest income F B WA 7 (251) (397)
Amortisation of prepaid lease TERT L4 7E S B SE
payments for land 932 1,064
Amortisation of intangible assets BT A 19,627 =
Depreciation of property, W RENMREITE
plant and equipment 27,766 28,149
Revaluation gain on investment BEMESHF =
properties (1,746) =
Equity settled share based B EE RGO TN RIE
payment expenses 39,137 —
Net loss on disposal of equity T EKTE A R AR
interests in subsidiaries Rz 2 FE1E 35 83,187 —
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE MEE
plant and equipment e it 1,523 459
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease HEBMNLTAS 2 U
payments for land A (117) —
Allowance for doubtful debts IR A — 2,917
Bad debts recovery ZiRIE (1,027) —
Allowance for slow moving AT B
inventories — 19,061
Reversal of allowance for slow T SEF B R
moving inventories (4,972) —
Fair value gains on financial assets BRATEREZRYIRZ
at fair value through profit or loss EHEE (455) =
Operating profit before working LIEE A
capital changes ZREREME 76,608 2,667
Changes in inventories FEE 291,392 29,481
Increase in trade and other B 5 R H b & W kIR 18
receivables pill (50,524) (1,246)
(Increase)/Decrease in bills FEMZE & (32 ), R
receivable (1,088) 3,536
Increase in deposits and Z& RIS FIELE N
prepayments (6,213) (303)
Decrease in trade and other B 5 K H At JE S ZIBR
payables 2 (313,843) (4,224)
Increase in bills payable FEST = HRIE N 568 —
Increase in deposits and accruals e RIERTEREM 67,803 136
Cash generated from operations (RARSEBE A VIS 64,703 29,947
Income tax paid Eﬁ%ﬂlﬁ (1,510) (1,824)
Interest paid BAIFE (27) (605)
Net cash generated from REEBELE RS FE
operating activities 63,166 27,518
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

2009 2008
—EEAE —TT)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FEx FETL
Cash flow from investing activities REEHREHE
Interest received B UHE 251 397
Purchase of property, plant and BBV - BB R&E
equipment (14,338) (6,745)
Purchase of investment properties RIS B (28,254) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 NG 34 29,892 =
Changes in pledged bank deposits BRI IRITIF R 2,794 =
Purchase of trading securities HEEHBS (40,369) =
Proceeds from sales of trading HEEZFEH
securities 37,018 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « HE RBEFT
plant and equipment 1S RIE 601 13
Proceeds from sales of investment HEREYESHIA
properties — 12,542
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid mEEMLES
lease payments for land 537 =
Proceeds received from minority & SRR W
shareholders 71,000 —
Net cash generated from REBAZREWAFE
investing activities 59,132 6,207
Cash flow from financing activities BEEEHRERE
Shares repurchases it 5 = (81,970) =
Repayment of bank loans EERBITER — (40,000)
Proceeds from issuance of share BITIRA TS RIE
capital 63,561 34,980
Share issue expenses & BT N (1,589) (973)
Net cash used in financing MEEA 2B SERFE
activities (19,998) (5,993)
Net increase in cash and ReRBHEEE/Y2
cash equivalents B hNFEE 102,300 27,732
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzREeRESEEY
beginning of the year 51,770 24,038
Effect of foreign exchange rate BINERERSEHTE
changes (433) =
Cash and cash equivalents at end HFRAZRERBELZEEY
of the year 153,637 51,770
Analysis of the balances of cash ReRESEENHEHRZ
and cash equivalents B
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITETT 25 153,637 51,770
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREEE

ZERERD A

il

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

EVNCLE

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZ N FFH kﬁ?

For the year ended 31 December 2009

HE_TTNEF+-_A=+—HILLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ATREAE
Retained
Convertible profits/
Share Capital bonds equity Share ~ (Accumulated
Share premium ~ redemption Capital  Contributed reserve Other Exchange option losses| Minority Total
capital aocount Teserve Teserve suples  TERER reserve reserve reserve Efi%ﬁfﬂ/ Total interest equity
e BAEE E4RERE Ergk RéRR RERE B ERdeE  BRERE  (RiHER) At JHBREE #8k
HKs 000 HKs 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKs 000 HK§ 000 HKs 000 HKs 000 HKs 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
AL AT AT 7ET TET AT AT AT AT AT AL AT 74T
At 1 January 2008 H_FENE-A-A 3126 96,204 6,203 40,269 = = - 25575 - 193,963 395,390 - 395,390
Issug of shares fnote 31() 6,600 28380 = = = = = = = = 34,980 = 34980
Share Issue expense = 973) = = - - - - - - (973) - (973
Transactons with owners — EEEAZRS 6,600 1407 - - - - - - - - 3007 - 34007
Loss for the year REER = = - - - - - - - (55,677 [56,677) - [55,677)
Other comprehensive income ~ 2%
Exchange gain on trenslaion 885 2K ER
of finencial statements o EXME
foreign operations = = = = = = = 8917 = = 8917 = 8917
Total comprehensive income. - AEZENAEE
for the year - - - - - - - 8917 = [65,677) [46,760) = [46,760)
At 31 Decerber 2008
39726 123,661 6,203 40,269 = = = 34492 = 138,286 382,631 = 382,631
At 1 January 2009 39,726 123,661 6,203 40,269 - - - 3492 - 138,268 380637 - 382637
Capital reorganisation
(note 31} (38,136 123,661) = = 161,797 - - - - = = — —
Issue of new shares upon
open offer (note 31(iv) 6,366 57,206 - - - - - - - - 63,561 - 63,561
Share issug expenses
(note 31(iv) = 1,589) = . - = = = = = [1,589) - 1,589)
Issue of share options to
business consultants
(note 32) - - - - - - - - 2863 - 2863 - 2863
Issue of consideration shares
(note 31l 2791 1125418 = = = = = = = = 1128209 = 1128209
Issue of commission shares
[note 31/uil) 7% 450,76 - - - - - - - - 451,560 - 451,560
Issue of convertile bonds
(note 29) - - - - - 3,886,118 - - - - 3,886,118 - 3,886,118
Issue of share options to
consultants of Apollo
Sub-Group (note 32) = = = = = = = = 36,274 = 36,274 - 36,274
Share repurchase and pending
for cancellation
(note 31 (v} = = = = = = 81,970) = = = (81,970) = (81,970)
Disposal of partial equity
interest in a subsidiary
(note 35(i) - - - - - - - - - - - 181,284 181,284
Transactions with owners BEEAZRS (2619) 1,508,138 - - 161,797 3,886,118 81,9701 = 39137 = 5,485,026 181,284 5,666,310
Loss for the year KEREE = = = = = = = - - (200 1210 030 (12449
Other comprehensive Eh2EhE AEE
income, including AERE
reclassification
adjustments
Reversal of exchange
reserve upon disposal of &
subsidiary (note 35 - - - - - - - (13.451) - - [13.451) - 13451)
Exchange loss on translation
of financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - = = (655) = - (655} 65 590)
Total comprehensive income  AE2EHHEE
for the year - - - - - - - (14,106) = (122,102) 136,208) (232 138,535)
Reversal of capital reserve
upon disposal of &
subsidiary (note 35) - - - (6,269) - - - - - - 16,269) - (6,269)
Aopropriation to capital reserve &
[note 3311 = = = 17,108 - = = = = [17,108) - - -
At 31 December 2009 o & 0
t2A=t-A 11532 1,631,799 6,203 51,109 161,797 3,886,118 81,9701 20,386 39,137 [921) 572518 178957 5904143
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

GENERAL INFORMATION

Apollo Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Clarendon House, Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is 7/F, Tower 1, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Pursuant to the special resolution passed on 23
November 2009 and with the approval of the
Registrar of Companies of Bermuda given on 27
November 2009, the name of the Company was
changed from “RBI Holdings Limited” to “Apollo
Solar Energy Technology Holdings Limited” and the
adoption of the Chinese name “#$AF3 X5 &8 K T2 A% A
[R/A®]" for identification purpose only to replace the
existing Chinese name “4IZ£BBRAF]" effective
on 25 November 2009.

On 25 November 2009, the Company had completed
the acquisition of Apollo Precision Limited (“Apollo
Precision”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “Apollo
Sub-Group”) (the “Acquisition”). The principal
activities of Apollo Sub-Group are manufacturing
of equipment and turnkey production lines for
the manufacturing of silicon based thin film solar
photovoltaic modules in the People's Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) after the
Acquisition include manufacturing of equipment and
turnkey production lines for manufacturing of silicon
based thin film solar photovoltaic modules, the
design, manufacture and sale of toys, production of
hybrid bus accessories and property investment. The
Group's operations are based in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 18 to the financial statements.

The financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2009 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 21 April 2010.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

—REH
HEAGREBRMERERAR(AA
ADRBERETMK I AEREER
AR ANA R M EE A Clarendon
House, Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda R EE & X B AH
PSR YD IE BB EE Hb 8 75 5% R 7 S AR D
17 RRABIRNEBTEHER S
FrBMR AR ([BERRAT]) £ o

BER-ZZZENFT+—A=Z+=A8A
ZRAAZRERBREQRFMERK
RZEZANF+—A=-t+tBEELZ
B - N T 2 A MAIRBI Holdings
Limited ] & 26 A[ Apollo Solar Energy
Technology Holdings Limited| + LA
e R ROy N G R R =]
RAFJ(EHFER) - MERRIRER X
LRABREEBRAF]  ERZZEE
NE+—A=Z+HEBEAX -

RZZETZAF+—HAZ+HRB ' XRQF
B 58 B U2 B8 Apollo Precision Limited
([ Apollo Precision]) X =B~ 7 (4t
[ Apollo fTEB &R 1) ([ Wi ) - Apollo
MEBEEZ EZXHARPEARLRN
BI([FRE ) &SR EEE ARG EE L IRA
HEERASERARETHEEER -

RRABREAWBAR(REIAEE DR
WEER s TEXKRBRAEEYWEFRA
BRE N RERRBE AR ZHE
B REH EERBEA  BUER
ERHETRFRYERE - KRB
EENTEREEREN - TENBAF
Z BN A 18

BE-_ZZhNEFE+_A=+—HBILEE
CHBBRER _E—ZFEMA —+—
REEESH &R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

The financial statements on pages 35 to 175
have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™).
include the applicable disclosure requirements

The financial statements also

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have
been used in the preparation of these financial
statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the
impacts on the Group’s financial statements, if
any, are disclosed in note 3.

The financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which are stated at fair
values.

The measurement bases are fully described in
the accounting policies below.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

2. FEETHERBE

2.1 wRBEEE

HNIBE 176 B Z W HEHRRE %
BEBSZTMAL([EE S
NG |)EMG BB BEREER

(T&BMBHREER ] -

ERZEREEMBREER - &
AR EREE)RE - KR
RV BB R AHED] K Bt 32 P 8
FEMRAUMT ETRADREZ

EREEER -

REAMBHRERAER 2 ETERS
BERBA T o R =B EAS -
FRRENMEBRNSEFEER
BRA o AR ERT BT HRE
BRI 2 KA ARNEEI B RER
FE(MB )N EIHE -

MBERREBRRBELRAEER
5 EREMERIZ A FENE
IR EMEERA AT -

FMAEEER T 28T RREEM

it o
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

[t should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
financial statements. Although these estimates
are based on management’'s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (see note 2.3)
made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They
are excluded from consolidation from the date
that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset
is also tested for impairment from the Group's
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Minority interests represents the portion of the
profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary
attributable to equity interests that are not
owned by the Group and are not the Group's
financial liabilities.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

2. FEETBERERE)

2.1 mBEEE)

ERHARRAEYBRRREERS
FHERT RRER - BAZFREETE
EEABRBEUREFHHTE
AATBERAEmMEL - EEES
RERAEEGBFTAEMBA - R
BEASEMEERR 2 HIEH - Y
AR BHREREBEATE

fEHER 4 PR ER o

2.2 %

op

2

i

N,

=t—BZHBHE -

MEARNEFEEBREAREE
HEESE AR » WREHIER IS

HEFEIFEZEAa AR -

KERBZENXHEZEEARNR
5 REER MR B Was
RAMBRRELE - RERIE
EHEZABREENRARAR
e MAEEETSENAKEZ
ARETRERR - MBARNE
BRAMRE 2 RN TERE
HAAE  UERERNSERA S

TR —2 -

PHBERES L IFRAREREE
ZBEAES(RYIEAREBBEE
BIEZHBAREE REEF

BZHSH -

FEMBRRERBARALENE
ARE(RME23) BFEHET - H
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from the equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.
Profit or loss attributable to the minority
interests are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the Group’s results.
Where losses applicable to the minority exceeds
the minority interests in the subsidiary’'s equity,
the excess and further losses applicable to
the minority are allocated against the minority
interests to the extent that the minority has
a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.
Otherwise, the losses are charged against the
Group's interests. If the subsidiary subsequently
reports profits, such profits are allocated to the
minority interests only after the minority's share
of losses previously absorbed by the Group has
been recovered.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group has the
power to control the financial and operating
policies so as to obtain benefits from their
activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing
whether the Group controls another entity.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

2.

FESHBRMESE)

2.2

2.3

mEEE(E)

PHBEREENERA MBI KR Z
Bah 27 BEBIRARAE
BARGER - DBBRREREN
BanGaeaRaRBIZ2IR
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. TESTHBERBESR)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued) 2.3 MEBLARE)
In consolidated financial statements, acquisition REABERER - WEHBAF
of subsidiaries (other than those under common (5 £ F 4 522 5 50 ) 7 B g B 5

control) is accounted for by applying the
purchase method. This involves the estimation
of fair value of all identifiable assets and

SIBR o WP R AGETPTE R BRI EE
rAE(BREHBARZHAEE)

liabilities, including contingent liabilities of the RFEB 2 AFE - T wRA R
subsidiary, at the acquisition date, regardless BEERBBERKBIREERHE
of whether or not they were recorded in the RNalZ I EEmERINER o R HER
financial statements of the subsidiary prior to B WEBATIZEERGGIRAEN
acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets FEH A A BTSN WAk
and liabilities of the subsidiary are included in HupmreEeHEter
the consolidated statement of financial position % o

at their fair values, which are also used as
the bases for subsequent measurement in
accordance with the Group's accounting policies.

In the Company's statement of financial RAERB ZHBHRAERA - BA
position, subsidiaries are carried at cost less any AR AR AT R EEE AL
impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held B AT AR ER et A E
for sale or included in a disposal group. The SRR BIRR AN - BB AT 245 h
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the AN SR SR B A U T i

Company on the basis of dividends received and s s
=) AR - RIERIRE RN
receivable at the reporting date. All dividends B2 REB - EE LA RAZ

o 1B E ST
whether received out of the investee’s pre or Hﬂl/ﬁﬁﬁ\]jZHQﬂﬁ{ﬁ/ﬁuf\H&?XZfﬁﬁﬂx
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the B —HRARRZBEER o
Company’s profit or loss.

2.4 Foreign currency translation 2.4 IIEBREHE
The financial statements are presented in Hong R IEHRERTIAB T BT 25
Kong Dollars (HKS$), which is also the functional IR IR R 2N REEH o

currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of RERE BB Z @RS BEREA - b
the consolidated entities, foreign currency WX HHERER5E BEXRBE SE
transactions are translated into the functional PIEBZIEER - REmER - A
currency of the individual entity using the HINBIIE BB ER BB TR
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the FHZBTEERRE - HEEZE
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary RGERMEAEFHREINEEE
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign REE  HINEERSFKEE -
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange i /2= A B9 SNE U A % 518 A Uk 2 2R
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains R -

and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined and are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements,
all individual financial statements of foreign
operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation
currency, have been converted into Hong
Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates, or at the average rates
over the reporting period provided that the
exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure
have been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in the
exchange reserve in equity. Goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005
have been treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the closing rates. Goodwill
arising on the acquisitions of foreign operations
before 1 January 2005 is translated at the
foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of
acquisition of the foreign operation.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land, where the fair value of the
buildings could be measured separately from
the fair value of the leasehold land at the
inception of the lease, other than factory under
construction, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Factory under construction is stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
incurred during the periods of construction,
installation and testing. Factory under
construction is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Buildings held under leasing agreements are
depreciated over their expected useful lives of
20 to 25 years or over the terms of lease, if
shorter.

Depreciation on other assets is provided to write
off the cost less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years

Moulds and tools 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements, 4 to 5 years
furniture, fixtures and

equipment

Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

2.

FESHBRMESE)
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WE - BB RREIREBAER
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal
is determined as the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and land use rights

Upfront payments made to acquire land held
under an operating lease are stated at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The determination if an
arrangement is or contains a lease and if the
lease is an operating lease is detailed in note
2.15. Amortisation is calculated on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease/right of
use except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits to
be derived by the Group from use of the land.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Investment properties (Continued)

When the Group holds a property interest under
an operating lease to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, the interest is classified
and accounted for as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis. Any such
property interest which has been classified as
an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease.

On initial recognition, investment property
is measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is stated at
fair value, unless it is still in the course of
construction or development at the reporting
date and its fair value cannot be reliably
determined at that time. Fair value is determined
by external professional valuers, with sufficient
experience with respect to both the location
and the nature of the investment property. The
carrying amounts recognised at the reporting
date reflect the prevailing market conditions at
the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes
in the fair value or the sale of an investment
property is included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary
represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities. The cost
of the business combination is measured at
the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 2.20).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of a business combination is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of
gain or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially
at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Amortisation commences when the
intangible assets are available for use.

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, identified
on business combination, are recognised at their
fair values. These include technology know-how
and customer contracts secured on the date
of the acquisition. Technology know-how with
finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-
line basis from the date of the acquisition over
ten years or remaining useful lives. Customer
contracts secured on the date of the acquisition
will be recognised as cost of goods sold when
the revenue of the related customer contracts
recognised.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
and research and development activities
(Continued)

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are
expensed in profit or loss as incurred. Costs that
are directly attributable to development activities
are recognised as intangible assets provided
they meet the following recognition criteria:

(i)  demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the
intangible asset is demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable
economic benefits through internal use or
sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other
resources are available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset can be reliably measured

Direct costs include employee costs incurred
on development activities along with an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The
costs of development of internally generated
software, products or know-how that meet the
above recognition criteria are recognised as
intangible assets. They are subject to the same
subsequent measurement method as acquired
intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as
incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. XESTBERBMER)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets 2.10 £@MEE
The Group's financial assets are classified into AEERNESREE RSB R ERK
financial assets at fair value through profit or I8 o

loss and loans and receivables.

Management determines the classification of its ERERVTHERFRECMEE
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financial assets at initial recognition depending
on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired and where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at
every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and
only when, the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases of financial assets are
recognised on trade date. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable
transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments expire or are transferred and
substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are
reviewed to assess whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. If any such evidence
exists, impairment loss is determined and
recognised based on the classification of the
financial asset.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss include financial assets held for trading.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
in the near term, or it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that are managed
together and for which there is evidence of
a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments or financial guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid
contract may be designated as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss, except
where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear
that separation of the embedded derivative is
prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated at initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss
if the following criteria are met:

— the designation eliminates or significantly
reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the
assets or recognising gains or losses on
them on a different basis; or
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (Continued)

— the assets are part of a group of financial
assets which are managed and their
performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy and information
about the group of financial assets is
provided internally on that basis to the key
management personnel; or

— the financial asset contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately
recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial
assets included in this category are measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined by
reference to active market transactions or
using a valuation technique where no active
market exists. Fair value gain or loss does
not include any dividend or interest earned on
these financial assets. Dividend and interest
income is recognised in accordance with the
Group's policies in note 2.18 to these financial
statements.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised
cost is calculated taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction cost.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

2. FEETBERERE)

210 EMEEE)

BAFEREZIRZEMEE
(&

—  REBEIIRZ AR E R
RERERHEXEREH
RBADIBAFEEEMBEZ
ERMEEC &N MER
ZATREEZERGRIL
HEEMANPIBERABR
a1

— RERMEERSFHEIAR
ZRBRALTETR -

RYITHERR - FTALLIER] 2 & Bt
BERNFEFE  mMATHEZS
RIEEAER - A FEDZEER
M52 5 8 (fin I )% BB 5 ) (£ /4
HERDGEE - AFEKEHER
YT BEERZELMEEMBRNZE
A EFE o BB A B AT
REBEAF B HREAMFT218E <
REBEHRER -

B REWNE

B EMGRIR T 453 A B
LHREBABEXAIEERR LI
TTETASREE - EMERKS
B PR M) 2R B2 B 3 G P AR A AR
EEIRRTE o BHARA LR RAEM
W ESEBRTE - Y EEE
RERNE R R BRAZ BKERD
BB -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB 7 M et

For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FESHBRMESE)

210 EMEEE)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets other
than at fair value through profit or loss are
reviewed to determine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual
financial assets includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial
assets include observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from the group of financial
assets. Such observable data includes but not
[imited to adverse changes in the payment
status of debtors in the group and, national or
local economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

If such evidence exists, the impairment loss is
measured and recognised as follows:

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment
loss on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’'s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The amount
of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of the
period in which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to
the extent that it does not result in a carrying
amount of the financial asset exceeding what
the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised at the date
the impairment is reversed. The amount of the
reversal is recognised in profit or loss of the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.12

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. In the case of business
combination, work-in-progress of customer
contracts secured are recognised at fair value at
the date of the acquisition. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated cost of
completion and applicable selling expenses.

(i)  Turnkey production lines

Work in progress of turnkey production
lines at the date of the acquisition are
recognised at fair values. The fair values
are determined at the prices of finished
goods less the sum of (1) costs to
complete, (2) costs of disposal and (3)
a reasonable profit allowance for the
completing and selling effort based on
profit for similar finished goods.

(ii)  Other inventories

Cost is determined using the first-in-first-
out method, and in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprise
direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at
bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks
and short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the
statement of cash flows presentation, cash and
cash equivalents include bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial liabilities

The Group’'s financial liabilities include
convertible bonds, trade and other payables, bills
payable and accruals.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All interest related
charges are recognised as an expense in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs (see note 2.22).

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability, and the difference
in the respective carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted to
equity share capital at the option of the holders,
where the number of shares that would be
issued on conversion and the value of the
consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a
liability component and an equity component.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that
contain both financial liability and equity
component are classified separately into
respective liability and equity component on
initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair
value of the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debts. The fair value
of equity component of convertible bonds,
representing the call option for conversion of
the bonds into equity, is determined using the
binomial model that takes into account factors
specific to the convertible bonds, and is included
in equity as equity component of convertible
bond.

The liability component is subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component will remain in
equity until conversion or redemption of the
bond.

When the bonds are converted, the equity
component of convertible bonds and the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion, are transferred to share capital and
share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bonds are redeemed, the equity
component of convertible bonds is released
directly to retained profits.

Trade and other payables, bills payable and
accruals

They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Financial guarantees issued

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer (or the guarantor) to make
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantee issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised if and when it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee and the amount
of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the current carrying amount i.e. the
amount initially recognised less accumulated
amortisation, where appropriate.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or

a series of transactions, is or contains a lease

if the Group determines that the arrangement

conveys a right to use a specific asset or

assets for an agreed period of time in return

for a payment or a series of payments. Such a

determination is made based on an evaluation

of the substance of the arrangement and is

regardless of whether the arrangement takes

the legal form of a lease.

(i)

Classification of assets leased to the
Group

Assets that are held by the Group under
leases which transfer to the Group
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases, with the
following exception:

—  property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property is
classified as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis and,
if classified as investment property,
is accounted for as if held under a
finance lease;

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

2. FEETTBERERE)

2.15 &

HAREEE R (TwmE—
RRHH—RIRFHE) B
AT E R A E A — R E &
EXZIREENRR—RKZ AN
R BRZHERBERREE —AE
#) o HBEDRBHZLZEE
HEMEL - M WR L BRI
BENZEEB/N -

o

(i) HBEFFEBzEESTH

AEBREBEHEREZE
B - i E A8 AREMD B &
BRERNGHEBREARE
ZHEY DOERRERE
HERBZEE - T€AAX
SEEBBB A0 =R K E
BRNGZZHENDBRE
SHE - BATEHIIN :

— RERENAGREME
EENREHERS -
iz R Y xR EED 1
REEMENME - K
WEDRRREME
Alg R mIAREE
ERANTAARK:

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYI10S 01104V

HHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

0 8 B S 0 28 & Y BT



64

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB 7 M it

ARG RERMTERBR AR

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

=
7

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 =22 i % £ 3§ &Eg

For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Leases (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use
of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are
charged to the profit or loss on a straight
line basis over the lease terms except
where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to
be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent
rental are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Assets leased out under operating leases
as the lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases
are measured and presented according to
the nature of the assets. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense over the lease term on the
same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on
the straight-line method over the periods
covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Contingent
rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Provision, contingent liabilities and

contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting
date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future uncertain events not wholly within
the control of the Group are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are recognised in the
course of the allocation of purchase price to
the assets and liabilities acquired in a business
combination. They are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition and subsequently
measured at the higher of the amount that
would be recognised in a comparable provision
as described above and the amount initially
recognised less any accumulated amortisation, if
appropriate.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the
Group that do not yet meet the recognition
criteria of an asset are considered contingent
assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.17

2.18

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share
capital is determined using the nominal value of
shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares are deducted from the
share premium (net of any related income tax
benefits), to the extent they are incremental
costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
sale of goods, net of value-added tax, rebates
and discounts. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised as follows:

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised
when the Group has delivered products to
the customer, the customer has accepted the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’'s acceptance of
the products. Delivery normally does not occur
until the products have been shipped to the
specific location, the risk of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customer, and
either the customer has accepted the products
in accordance with sales contracts, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the periods of the repective
tenancies.

Dividend is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2,18

2.20

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions. Government grants relating to
income are deferred and recognised in gross
under “other income” in the statement
of comprehensive income over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate. Government
grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred government grants and
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight
line basis over the expected lives of the related

assets.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment
testing:

— goodwill arising on acquisition of

subsidiaries;

— other intangible assets;

—  property, plant and equipment;

—  prepaid lease payments for land; and

— the Company’s interests in subsidiaries.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite useful life or those not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they are impaired. All other assets
are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the asset’s carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs to
sell, and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the
asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment,
where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent from those other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in
particular is allocated to those cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from
synergies of the related business combination
and represent the lowest level within the Group
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

2.21

Impairment losses recognised for cash-
generating units, to which goodwill has been
allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment
loss is charged pro rata to the other assets
in the cash generating unit, except that the
carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less cost to sell, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods. In respect of other
assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset's recoverable
amount and only to the extent that the asset's
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised
had the impairment been assessed only at the
end of the financial year to which the interim
period relates.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)
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Retirement benefits (Continued)

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group's employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded
to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting
fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
which operate in the PRC are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as expenses in
profit or loss as employees rendered services
during the year. The Group's obligations under
these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contribution payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences
such as sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based employee compensation

All share-based payment arrangements granted
after 7 November 2002 and had not vested on
1 January 2005 are recognised in the financial
statements. The Group operates equity-
settled share-based compensation plans for
remuneration of its employees, directors and
consultants.

All services received in exchange for the grant of
any share-based compensation are measured at
their fair values. These are indirectly determined
by reference to the equity instruments awarded.
Their value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as
an expense in profit or loss over the vesting
period if vesting conditions apply, or recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the
equity instruments granted vest immediately
unless the compensation qualifies for recognition
as asset, with a corresponding increase in
the share option reserve in equity. If vesting
conditions apply, the expense is recognised over
the vesting period, based on the best available
estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of equity instruments that are expected to vest.
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there
is any indication that the number of equity
instruments expected to vest differs from
previous estimates.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21

2.22

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based employee compensation
(Continued)

At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. After vesting date, when the
vested share options are later forfeited or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to retained profit.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the
asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time get ready for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expenses when
incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset when expenditure for
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are
being incurred and activities that are necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZEZNF+_A=+—BILFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTBERBE®R)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Accounting for income taxes 2.23 FIBBZEtRE
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred Fri5 i 215 BN HARS 18 SR e 18 -
tax.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities BIEAFT S BB E R A ERIER
comprise those obligations to, or claims from, WIT8R A RE M A BA RS
fiscal authorities relating to the current or T 1 R E 5l R B T M 2 L T R R
prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the EHRMASZTNZCEERRR - %5
reporting date. They are calculated according & 58 THAR IR F A e AR B A HE AR
to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the IS EAREIE AR 2 B R RBUERT & -
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on BIEAFI B L EN BB FTAZERN
the taxable profit for the year. All changes to BaPERaTERE —Ho -

current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as
a component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability RETIE TYIRR RS B SRR A
method on temporary differences at the BERE EREEEL AR ER
reporting date between the carrying amounts of ZEREZHEEABEENE BL
assets and liabilities in the financial statements MIEBE RSB EART G K
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax ERER REHBEERA
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable AR ERERE A AERIEEE
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets AR EAMARERNBE LR -
are recognised for all deductible temporary AT RE B ERBEF(BEREY
differences, tax losses available to be carried =50 ) AT SH AT AL S R 2 5
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to REAMIBEREE R ARERNGER
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, ZIEREBR -

including existing taxable temporary differences,
will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not RIE SR (EBE OBRIN 2
recognised if the temporary difference arises BEKBEMESBTER KK
from goodwill or from initial recognition (other i EECORERE  ATERER
than in a business combination) of assets and FEREEERBE -

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
taxable nor accounting profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period the liability is settled or the
asset realised, provided they are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss, or in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity if
they relate to items that are charged or credited
to other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.24 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group's
business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors
are determined following the Group’'s major
product and service lines.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Segment reporting (Continued)

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

— Turnkey production lines and equipment
— the manufacturing of equipment
and turnkey production lines for the
manufacturing of silicon based thin film
solar photovoltaic modules

— Toy and moulds — the design, manufacture
and sale of toys; manufacture of moulds
for sales to customers

— Property investment — leasing and
investment of properties

— Hybrid bus accessories — the
manufacturing of accessories for hybrid
buses

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service
lines requires different resources as well
as marketing approaches. All inter-segment
transfers are carried out at arms length prices.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTTHEEMER)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Segment reporting (Continued) 2.24 DEHREE)

The measurement policies the Group uses
for reporting segment results under HKFRS
8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs, except
that:

— expenses related to share-based payments

— finance costs

— income tax

— corporate income and expenses which are
not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment

are not included in arriving at the operating
results of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but deferred
tax assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. In addition, corporate
assets which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment
are not allocated to a segment, which primarily
applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities
which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment and
are not allocated to a segment. These include
deferred tax liabilities and convertible bonds.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements,

a party is considered to be related to the Group

if:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

the party has the ability, directly
or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, to control the Group or
exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

the Group and the party are subject to
common control;

the party is an associate of the Group or
a joint venture in which the Group is a
venturer,

the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent, or a close family member of such
an individual, or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence
of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of a
party referred to in (i) or is an entity under
the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan
which is for the benefit of employees of
the Group or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that individual in

their dealings with the entity.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time the following new standards, amendments
and interpretations (the “new HKFRSs”) issued by
the HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective for
the Group's financial statements for the annual period
beginning on 1 January 2009:

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial
statements
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) Borrowing costs

HKAS 27 (Amendments) Cost of an investment
in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or
associate

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Share-based payment —
vesting conditions and
cancellation

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Improving disclosures
about financial

instruments
HKFRS 8 Operating segments
Various Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2008

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new
HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results
and financial position for the current and prior periods
have been prepared and presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of financial
statements

The adoption of HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) makes
certain changes to the format and titles of the
primary financial statements and to the presentation
of some items within these statements. A third
statement of financial position as at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period is required when
an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively
or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its
financial statements or when it reclassifies items in
its financial statements. It also gives rise to additional
disclosures.

The measurement and recognition of the Group's
assets, liabilities, income and expenses is unchanged.
However, some items that were recognised directly
in equity are now recognised in other comprehensive
income, for example revaluation of property, plant
and equipment. HKAS 1 affects the presentation of
owner changes in equity and introduces a ‘Statement
of comprehensive income’. Comparatives have been
restated to conform with the revised standard. The
Group has applied changes to its accounting polices
on presentation of financial statements and segment
reporting retrospectively. However, the changes to
the comparatives have not affected the consolidated
or parent company statement of financial position at
1 January 2008 and accordingly the third statement
of financial position as at 1 January 2008 is not
presented.

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) Borrowing costs

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) requires borrowing costs
incurred for the acquisition, construction or production
of any qualifying asset to be capitalised during the
period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use. In prior year,
the Group recognised all the borrowing costs in
expenses. Under the revised accounting standard,
borrowing costs related to acquisition, construction or
production of any qualifying asset will be capitalised
accordingly.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKAS 27 (Amendments) Cost of an investment in a
subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or an associate

The amendment requires the investor to recognise
dividends from a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or
associate in profit or loss irrespective the distributions
are out of the investee's pre-acquisition or post-
acquisition reserves. In prior years, the Company
recognised dividends out of pre-acquisition reserves
as a recovery of its investment in the subsidiaries,
jointly controlled entity or associates (i.e. a reduction
of the cost of investment). Only dividends out of
post-acquisition reserves were recognised as income
in profit or loss.

Under the new accounting policy, if the dividend
distribution is excessive, the investment would be
tested for impairment according to the Company's
accounting policy on impairment of non-financial
assets.

The new accounting policy has been applied
prospectively as required by these amendments to
HKAS 27 and therefore no comparatives have been
restated.

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Share-based payment
vesting conditions and cancellation

The HKFRS 2 (Amendments) clarifies that vesting
conditions are service conditions and performance
conditions only. Any other conditions are non-vesting
conditions. Where an award does not vest as a
result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition
that is within the control of either the entity or the
counterparty, this is accounted for as a cancellation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Improving disclosures
about financial instruments

The amendments require additional disclosures for
financial instruments which are measured at fair
value in the statement of financial position. These
fair value measurements are categorised into a
three-level fair value hierachy, which reflects the
extent of observable market data used in making the
measurements. In addition, the maturity analysis for
derivative financial liabilities is disclosed separately
and should show remaining contractual maturities for
those derivatives where this information is essential
for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows.
The Group has taken advantage of the transitional
provisions in the amendments and has not provided
comparative information in respect of the new
requirements.

HKFRS 8 Operating segments

The adoption of HKFRS 8 has not affected the
identified and reportable operating segments for
the Group. However, reported segment information
is now based on internal management reporting
information that is regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker. In the previous annual
financial statements, segments were identified by
reference to the dominant source and nature of the
Group's risks and returns. Comparatives have been
restated on a basis consistent with the new standard.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

At the date of authorisation of these financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have
been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group.

The directors anticipate that all of the
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's
accounting policy for the first period beginning after
the effective date of the pronouncement. Information
on new and amended HKFRSs that are expected
to have impact on the Group’s accounting policies
is provided below. Certain other new and amended
HKFRSs have been issued but are not expected
to have a material impact of the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations

The standard is applicable in reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and will be applied
prospectively. The new standard still requires the
use of the purchase method (now renamed the
acquisition method) but introduces material changes
to the recognition and measurement of consideration
transferred and the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities, and the measurement of non-controlling
interests (previously known as minority interest) in
the acquiree. The new standard is expected to have a
significant effect on business combinations occurring
in reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

The standard is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and addresses
the classification and measurement of financial
assets. The new standard reduces the number of
measurement categories of financial assets and all
financial assets will be measured at either amortised
cost or fair value based on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset. Fair value gains and losses will be recognised
in profit or loss except for those on certain equity
investments which will be presented in other
comprehensive income. The directors are currently
assessing the possible impact of the new standard on
the Group’s results and financial position in the first
year of application.

HKAS 27 (Amendments) Consolidated and separate
financial statements

The revised standard is effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and
introduces changes to the accounting requirements
for the loss of control of a subsidiary and for
changes in the Group's interest in subsidiaries. Total
comprehensive income must be attributed to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
The directors do not expect the standard to have a
material effect on the Group's financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Annual improvements 2009

The HKICPA has issued Improvements to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards 2009. Most of the
amendments become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010. The Group
expects the amendment to HKAS 17 Leases to be
relevant to the Group's accounting policies. Prior
to the amendment, HKAS 17 generally required
a lease of land to be classified as an operating
lease. The amendment requires a lease of land to
be classified as an operating or finance lease in
accordance with the general principles in HKAS 17.
The Group will need to reassess the classification
of its unexpired leases of land at 1 January 2010
on the basis of information existing at the inception
of those leases in accordance with the transitional
provisions for the amendment. The amendment will
apply retrospectively except where the necessary
information is not available. In that situation, the
leases will be assessed on the date when the
amendment is adopted. The directors are currently
assessing the possible impact of the amendment on
the Group’s results and financial position in the first
year of application.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Assessment of impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2.8.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require
the use of estimates about future cash flows
and discount rates. In the process of estimating
expected future cash flows, management makes
assumptions about future revenues and profits.
These assumptions relate to future events and
circumstances. The actual results may vary and
may cause a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of goodwill within the next financial
year. Determining the appropriate discount rate
involves estimating the appropriate adjustment
for market risk and for asset specific risk factors.
Details of the estimates of the recoverable
amounts of cash generating units containing
goodwill are disclosed in note 19.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

Estimated fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices
in an active market for similar property in the
same location and condition and subject to the
same lease or other contracts. In the absence
of such information, the Group determines the
amount within a range of reasonable fair value
estimates. In making its estimation, the Group
considers information from a variety of sources
including:

(i)  current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature, condition or
location (or subject to different lease or
other contracts), adjusted to reflect those
differences.

(i) recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since
the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and

(iii) discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
derived from the terms of any existing
lease and other contracts, and (where
possible) from external evidence such as
current market rents for similar properties
in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in
the amount and timing of the cash flows.

Details of the Group's investment properties are
disclosed in note 17.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

4. EESEHEFTRME )

4.1

ETEEHETRERGE)

REWEZ (G512 FlE

NHEZ RIERE R RARE
R ZHRBHHEME QORR
ZBRUMENEEM S L2 BREE
e EREZZFEHZBERT - K
SEeESEQFEMTESER
BEEAHETE - EIELHER - X
SEEETFRRROER - B -

(iii)

TRME - AR I F (R
TRBEHREMSORR)
WMENERM S L2 REE
RZEBREEHAE - A
RBZEZR) °

BTERTSBUDEL
BEE GRS EEAT NS
% ARREERSERE
7% 5 B BMEREERR 2 E
M) R

REBEAKRASREZ A FG
AAMBERAMFTRRERE
Mz SRR EREMMESR
A EHE & # R RFK (10
A 1T ) SN /R AE (A0 3t Bh B R
MERMBEUMEERTE
He)  AHRARNARRE R
MEHELSENEARR S
METRNMEREETHEN
PFIRKFH -

AEBREMEFHBRME17E

==

i

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYT10S 01104V

FHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

0 8 B S O 28 & Y &l BE



88

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB M it

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
ARG RER AT R B IR A F

=
7

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 =22 fi £ £ 3§ &Eg

For the year ended 31 December 2009

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

Estimated fair value of acquired intangible
assets and work in progress

Fair value of technology know-how is determined
based on relief-from-royalty method. These
calculations require the use of estimates about
rate of royalty savings and discount rate. In
the process of estimation, management makes
assumptions about future revenue and costs.

Fair value of customers’ contracts is determined
based on excess earnings method. These
calculations require the use of estimates about
future cash flows, discount rate, required
returns on contributory assets and duration
of customers’ contracts. In the process of
estimation, management makes assumptions
about future cash flow, costs and duration of
customers’ contracts.

Customers’ contracts are valuated separately
into two components, complete portion and
incomplete portion.

The percentage of completion of customers’
contracts is determined based on the
management estimation for the duration of
customers’ contracts. In determining the
duration of the contracts, the Group has
considered various factors, such as the
complexity and terms of customers’ contracts.

Fair value of complete portion, representing
work in progress of customers’ contracts, are
determined by selling price less estimated cost
to complete and estimated gross profit margin
of customer contracts. In determining estimated
cost to complete, management based on
budgets of customers’ contracts and total cost
incurred up to date.

The fair values of incomplete portion are derived
from the estimated percentage of completion
and fair value of sales contracts from excess
earning method.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

Estimated useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

In determining the useful lives and residual
values of items of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets, the Group has considered
various factors, such as expected usage of the
assets, expected physical wear and tear and
legal or similar limits on the use of the assets.
The estimation of the useful life of the asset
is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation and/or amortisation
is made if the estimated useful lives and/
or the residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets
are different from previous estimation. Useful
lives and residual values are reviewed at the
end of each financial year based on changes in
circumstances.

Impairment on trade and other receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated
losses arising from the inability of its debtors
to make the required payments. The Group
makes its estimates based on the ageing of its
trade and other receivable balances, customers’
creditworthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of its
debtors was to deteriorate so that the actual
impairment loss might be higher than expected,
the Group would be required to revise the basis
of making the allowance and its future results
would be affected.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

Impairment and net realisable value of
inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Management conducts
assessments on the net realisable value
of inventories by reference to their age,
obsolescence, estimated net selling price and
other economic conditions of the markets
in which the Group's customers operate. If
the actual selling prices of inventories are
substantially less than expected due to an
adverse market condition or other factors,
impairment on inventories may result.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

Research and development activities

Careful judgment by the Company's
management is applied when deciding whether
the recognition criteria for development costs
have been met. This is necessary as the
economic success of any product development
is uncertain and may be subject to future
technical problems at the time of recognition.
Judgments are based on the best information
available at each reporting date. In addition, all
internal activities related to the research and
development of new software, products or
know how are continuously monitored by the
Company’s management.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

EREEHEE R A E o)

4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s 42 FEAERSTBEERZEZZHE

accounting policies (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2009, deferred tax assets of
HK$6,686,000 (2008: HK$9,196,000) in relation
to unused tax losses and other deductible
temporary differences have been recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
The realisability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected,
a reversal of the deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal takes place.

Impairment on assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or
the event previously causing the impairment
no longer exists, the Group has to exercise
judgement in the area of asset impairment,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these
cash flows projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by the management to determine the
level of impairment, including the discount rates
or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.
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5. REVENUE e

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1
to these financial statements. Turnover of the Group
is the revenue from these activities.

Revenue from the Group’'s principal activities
recognised during the year is as follows:

WA

AEEZETEXBHFRMBHERME
T- AEBEZEXBRELERHTHK
AO

REBEZEBRAFAER WA
BT

2009 2008
—BRNE —TT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
Sales of turnkey production lines HETHAEEGHE 315,292 —
Sales of toys and moulds IMARKRAEE 401,484 511,810
Rental income A 666 —
Total revenue WA&EF 717,442 511,810

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. o¥WEH

The executive directors have identified the Group’s
product and service lines as operating segments as
further described in note 2.24.

These operating segments are monitored and
strategic decisions are made based on segment’s
performance.

WITEEHEAEB 2 X2 E M MRS
RAKESTE  FFRINE2.24 -

FEE MRBIERTE IREL D B
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER®E

For the year ended 31 December 2009

BE_ZTAFF+-_A=t—RILFE

Turnkey
production
lines and Toys and Property  Hybrid bus
equipment moulds investments accessories Total
HETE
£ER REEN
k#fFE DARER MERE B+ E4 #ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE FE FET FE
Revenue PN
Reportable segment revenue A 2R H1BHKA 315,292 401,484 666 - 717,442
Reportable segment profit/ A 2#WHEEF/
(loss) (B18) 49,067 (7,257) 492 (3,196) 39,106
Other information Hi g
Additions to non-current EMFERBMEEE
assets 462,074 12,293 28,254 2,010 504,631
Amortisation of intangible B EESH
assets 19,627 - - - 19,627
Amortisation of prepaid BN LA EH
lease payments for land - 932 - - 932
Bank interest income RITFISMA (26) (225) - - (251)
Bad debt recovery ZERIE - (1,027) - - (1,027)
Depreciation of property, mE - BEREET
plant and equipment E 35 27,731 — - 27,766
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE k&
plant and equipment B EE - 1,523 - - 1,523
Revaluation gain on REMEE RS
investment properties - - (1,746) — (1,746)
Reversal of allowance for T ERERD
slow moving inventories — (4,972) - - (4,972)
Reportable segment assets FEZHHBEE 8,626,535 424,534 30,220 3,492 9,084,781
Reportable segment AEHRAEAE
liabilities (259,872) (54,222) (225) (355) (314,674)

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYT10S 01104V

FHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

0 8 B S O 28 & Y &l BE



94

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB 7 M it

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

5 AR RE R T R B IR 2 A

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZ N FF kﬁg

For the year ended 31 December 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

The totals presented for the Group's operating
segments reconcile to the Group’'s key financial

TEERE)

HE_TTNF+-_A=+—HLFE

RASEREDERMEY 2 BB
BRI ZAEBTEMBHF Y

figures as presented in the financial statements are BRAOT -
as follows:

2009
—BEBAEF
HK$°000
FET
Reportable segment revenue A 2O FEWA 717,442
Other income HAn A 4,354
Group revenue AREE 2 Wiz 721,796
Reportable segment profit Al 2D = T 39,106
Unallocated corporate income RO EEWA 6,100
Equity settled share based payments e A E IR TN FRIE (39,137)
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBBEREZ (93,065)
Finance costs ZURID RN (22,403)
Loss before income tax FriSHi A& 18 (109,399)
Reportable segment assets AZRHEEE 9,084,781
Deferred tax assets REBIEE E 6,686
Other corporate assets HhbEEE 14,876
Group assets REBEEE 9,106,343
Reportable segment liabilities A HBOEBE 314,674
Deferred tax liabilities REEBIBEE 82,881
Convertible bonds AR B 2,802,885
Other corporate liabilities HEmrEaE 1,760
Group liabilities AEBEZEE 3,202,200
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

In 2008, the Group only consisted of toys and
moulds — design, manufacture and sale, as a single
reportable segment. Accordingly, no operating
segment analysis has been presented.

The Group's revenue from external customers and its
non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets)
are divided into the following geographical areas:

BE_ZTNF+_A=t—HILEE

6. DEER®E)

Eé TENF  AEBEERERT  #
MEEMARER BE-—E28HD
*E it - W2 FEE DA

AEBERBINRER ZWAREIERE
BEGRERBEERIN I BR/AT
MRS HE

Revenue from customers Non-current assets
REEFZWA FREBEE
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZNF —EENF —EENF —EENF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Hong Kong (place of & (G i)
domicile) 666 — 52,516 23,458
The PRC Hh [ K e 315,292 — 8,434,879 194,554
North America 1k FE=M
United States of EH
America 103,509 152,515 34 5
Canada YD 36,541 43,430 — =
Europe (mainly BN (EERE
including the HE - JER
United Kingdom, = F))
Denmark and lItaly) 207,948 233,966 — —
Asia (mainly TNM(EEBRE
including Japan HAREE:)
and South Korea) 14,902 20,702 — —
Other locations Hipihm (EE
(mainly including AR
Australia and New P )
Zealand) 38,584 61,197 — —
717,442 511,810 8,487,429 218,047

The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or
the goods were delivered. The geographical location
of the non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets.

BE AN DIRBRERE SR ES
ZHBREETE o 3F//|L@§I2Fﬁﬁi‘mﬁ$ﬂyﬁ
BEERMNEMERE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

On 25 November 2009, the Group acquired Apollo
Sub-Group, the principal activities of which are
manufacturing of equipment and turnkey production
lines for the manufacturing of silicon based thin film
solar photovoltaic modules in the PRC.

Set out below are the results of Apollo Sub-Group
for turnkey production lines, from the date of the
Acquisition to the reporting date, and the respective
fair value adjustments upon business combination in
accordance with HKFRS 3:

RE-FEAF+-A=+-BLFE

TEERE)

R-ZTAF+—A=-+HA  A£EH
Wi ApolloffiBEE * ZARIZEE X
AN EREIEREEREARG XK
B EERBERERETHEEER -

TX& 5 Apollo fft BB AR THEE
REKBAREREAMIRE UK
REBBEAMBRELEANE IRETER
EHRZEBZATFERE

From 25 Included
November in the
2009 to 31 consolidated
December Fair value financial
2009 adjustments statements
H-ZZNE
+—A
—+&H
E-EBNE
+=A=+- FTARE
=} AT ERE b E e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
(note)
(K1at)
Revenue A 315,292 315,292
Cost of sales 85 AR (80,351)  (i)(181,332) (262,220)
(ii)(537)
Gross profit EF 234,941 53,072
Selling and distribution costs 5% &% fHAK A (35) (35)
Administrative expenses THAX (2,404) (ii)(500) (2,904)
Development costs ERNA (1,066) (1,066)
Reportable segment profit A 235 ERF 231,436 49,067
Note (i)  Represented the fair values recognised in the B () BDRUGEERR Apollo B & E 2

inventories and customer contracts of Apollo
Sub-Group upon the Acquisition and recognised
in the cost of sales upon the recognition of
revenue of relating customer contracts.

(i) Represented the additional amortisation for fair
value adjustments of intangible assets acquired
during the Acquisition.

ERIRERTEFPANMERZA
FE - REREP &K 2 W
RIL - BIFFASHEMRA -

(i) BIRKBEREMRCBBETLE
ERFEZEINES -
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RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HWA
2009 2008
—BBAE —TT)\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fair value gains on financial assets at #ZAFEVENEFZ CRIEE

fair value through profit or loss Z A ERE 455 —
Interest income FEWA 251 397
Management fee income BEEEIA 45 —
PRC tax incentive (note (i) R BRI ) 525 637
Government grants (note (ii)) BT B (A2 (i) 170 —
Sales of scrap materials EERLH S 1,290 1,547
Bad debts recovery ZER D 1,027 =
Others EAh 591 626
4,354 3,207

Note: (i) The PRC tax incentive represented part of the et o () PEIFBEEBRERA GBS

income tax and other tax paid by certain PRC
subsidiaries refunded by the PRC local tax
bureau as an incentive for re-investment of the

profits of these subsidiaries.

B 2 B = 138 o (2 B J88 2 ) 80 A
HERE  MAEHBOENNEE

PRSHRE -

(i) AEBZEOEBSIHHDEZ

(ii)

The Group was entitled to receive the grants
from a provincial government in the PRC for its

B RTET ZFBE o

import activities.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HMK&EH
2009 2008
—BBAE —TTN\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Imputed interest expenses on Al AR & 25 2 (B A B

convertible bonds 22,376 —

Interest on bank loans wholly REFARER 2 BITER
repayable within five years ZHE 26 602
Interest on bank overdrafts RITE ZHE 1 3
22,403 605
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

O

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

9. FEHAEE

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTTN\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before income tax is arrived at ~ FrEELATEE DI, (5t A)
after charging/(crediting): THIIEE :
Allowance for doubtful debts IR A — 2,917
Amortisation of prepaid lease TS i FH S HE 8
payments for land 932 1,064
Auditors’ remuneration ZERD & 2,012 805
Bad debt recovery AR [E] (1,027) =
Cost of inventories sold, including BEEFERAE @ 81 424,934 260,947
— Allowance for slow moving — T ERE
inventories — 19,061
— Reversal of allowance for slow — WHIETERERE
moving inventories (4,972) —
Depreciation of property, plant YE - BERRENITE
and equipment 27,766 28,149
Equity settled share based payment  ARZN45 & J& () Sk 5 2B
expenses 39,137 —
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease HERMLHEES 2 W
payments for land (117) =
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEMZEZEE
plant and equipment 1,523 459
Net foreign exchange loss b 5 B8 )5 5E 826 1,552
Operating lease charges: AL
— land and buildings — THREEY 1,708 2,502
Research and development costs 95 R 3 R B AR 9,623 7,075
Employee benefit expense including BIEEEE 2 B TAA
directors’ remuneration (note 13) (H1a13) 154,441 138,886
Total amortisation of intangible BB EMERRE ()
assets (note (i)) 24,434 —
Less: Capitalised to inventories B BTNMEERE
(note 20 and 36) (Ktet20 %k 36) (4,807) —
Amortisation of intangible assets RIERER 2 BT EEEE
recognised in profit or loss 19,627 —

Note: (i)

Amortisation of intangible assets of

Bz )

HK$4,807,000 (2008: Nil) has been capitalised
to inventories, approximately HK$18,622,000
(2008: Nil) included in cost of sales and
approximately HK$1,005,000 (2008: Nil) included

in administrative expenses.

4,807,000 T(Z T T )\ F :

EIZEEERFEEERNLE

FE - #18,622,0008 (=&

TNF: E)DFACEEDK

AN+ T #91,005,00058 (= &
TNFE  &)AFFATTEAX ©
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

10. FREHBAX

2009 2008
ZEBRE —ZZN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
Current tax: NEEFERIA
— Hong Kong — BB
Tax for the year REFRIE 1,669 2,588
(Over)/under provision in EFEGBR) /T EEE
respect of prior years (1,144) 443
525 3,031
— The PRC — X
Tax for the year RERIE 57,091 254
Deferred tax (credit)/charge EEFEIBE (WA,
Current year REE (42,521) 3,101
15,095 6,386
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate BB TSR IEF NG E R TR A
of 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable EME16.5% (ZZZNF : 16.5%)aT
profit for the year. & o FRE R H Ath BVE L[ AT EE A 2 TR IR
TR EAREMEEIT ZHRGHE o
Income tax on overseas profits has been calculated Y HINE F 2 BLIE Th Bl ET SR B s 1) I iz
on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the BASEMEEMIRIT I REGHE ©

rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which

the Group operates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

loss at applicable tax rates:

HE_TTNF+-_A=+—HLFE

10. FrEBipASI(#)
BB SR B R AR B AR PR

2009 2008
—EEAFE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before income tax BRETSET A B 18 (109,399) (49,291)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate  ZAHFTEFREE16.6% (—F
of 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) TNF : 16.5%)HZBIA (18,051) (8,133)
Tax exemption TRIE AR (3,416) =
Tax effect of expenses not deductible “SAJ 305 2 2 F1 75 5 28 31,045 8,537
Tax effect of income not taxable RHIAZ B 5 2 (8,521) (1,723)
Effect of different tax rates of RE A A R K 2 TS
subsidiaries operating in other RAEZ PRBERTZE
jurisdictions 5,353 (1,289)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised KRR Z FHiGEIETE 5,243 4,793
Tax effect of other deferred tax not  KERERFEEZE 2 HIFTE
recognised 7,241 4,011
Utilisation of deferred tax assets FABAERER ZIELERIE
previously not recognised BE (2,038) (287)
(Over)/under provision in respect of  BAEEE (HBi8) T EBE
prior years (1,144) 443
Others HAh (617) 34
Income tax expense for the year NERZFBHBRY 15,095 6,386
11. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 1. XAREBEAEBLESE

THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to the owners
of the Company of approximately HK$122,102,000
(2008: HK$55,677,000), a loss of approximately
HK$111,600,000 (2008: profit of HK$267,000) has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

RARER AFEEEEL 122,102,000
BIL(ZTZ/)\F : 55,677,000/87T) °
EF49111,600,000 8 C(=FZ)\F :
& K 267,000 %70 ) 2 BEE ST AR R F]
ISRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLLFE
12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BRREE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on SREXRNEBEEIBEBEFARIGEE A
the loss attributable to the owners of the Company of FE {5 E548 122,102,000 T (ZFEZE )\
HK$122,102,000 (2008: HK$55,677,000) and on the % : 55,677,000 7T) R B #17 & B
weighted average of 2,698,928,000 (2008 (Restated): Z INHE 1580 2,698,928,000 8 T (==
1,701,174,000) ordinary shares in issue during the ZNEEET]) : 1,701,174,000787T)
year. The loss per share for the year ended 31 FE -HE_ZTTE/N\F+-A=+—8
December 2008 is restated due to the issuance of IEFEZEREBER TEY - THER
new shares upon open offer, share reorganisation and NAZERZEITHRGD  ROEZARRE
share subdivision as mentioned in note 31. PIFAFRTER -
Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 AR AR BRERELERITEEREZE
December 2009 and 2008 were not presented BETNEE  UIWEEYREBEE
because the impact of the conversion of convertible ZNERZZEENEFEF+_A=FT—HL
bonds and the exercise of share options was anti- FEZGREEES -
dilutive.
13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 13. BEERFER(BEEEHS)
(including directors’ emoluments)
2009 2008
—EEAFE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Salaries, allowances and benefit-in-kind X & ~ E8E & H & 106,493 126,191
Performance related and incentive RI(ERRES
payments 3,255 2,524
Termination benefits ot ok M) 2 — 4,164
Equity settled share based payments R4 E AR 24T 39,137 —
Contributions to retirement benefits  RRBAIFTE] 2 #5K
schemes 5,556 6,007
154,441 138,886

There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the
defined contribution retirement scheme being utilised
for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: Nil). No
forfeiture balance was available as at 31 December
2009 (2008: Nil) to reduce future contributions.

HE_ZTTNF+-_A=1+—HILFE
VEEHBAREBHRTBRNRFEZER
WHRK(ZFZNF: &) - R_FTN
FT+ZR=+—H  ITESRBRERR
AEA(ZTTNF &) URDRKRHM

e
N
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLLFE
14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND 14, EERSHRBEMS
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEZ=ME
Executive directors, non-executive directors -?Z TEE  #HTEBEREVIH
and independent non-executive directors EE
Directors' fees Other emoluments
EESE Ao
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
and other  Discretionary benefits
benefits bonuses schemes Total
E# > 2ER BRIERE  BHEFHE
At g e 2 ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TEn FEn FEn FEn
2009 “2EnF
Executive directors HTEE |
Mr. Peng Li Bin’ ZAURAE - 30 - 3 33
Mr. Xu Guo Jun” REEEE - 28 - - 28
Mr. Chau Kai Man AR K& - 786 562 39 1,387
Mr. Lee Kin Fai ; SRBEE - 721 558 36 1,321
Mr. Choi Hip Ming, William * By - 178 21 9 208
Non-executive directors FHITE
Mr. Tsui Ming® RRLE - 315 153 16 484
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Kwong Kwan Ming"™ B L™ 28 - 68 - 9%
Mr. Wy Tak Lung™ SEREE 36 - - - 36
Mr. Leung Chi Kin" ™ Y 28 - - - 28
Mr. Chow King Lok’ J%%'é%i* 3 - - - 3
Mr. Jiang Zhe Sheng” LBERE 12 - - - 12
Total emoluments for year 2009 ~ZTAELHE 137 2,064 1,362 103 3,666
2008 “2IN\E
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Tsui Ming” e — 622 13 31 766
Mr. Chau Kai Man BRI = 742 62 37 841
Mr. Yip Yun Kuen® EmELE — 3,000 000 101 4,101
Independent non-executive BUHATEE
directors
Mr. Kwong Kwan Mm%”““ i e 2% - — — 2%
Mr. Shih, Daniel Chia™* REERE™ 3 - - — 3
Mr. Foo Tin Chung, Victor™* BRELAE 40 - = = 40
Mr. Wu Tak Lung” ﬁﬁfﬁgﬁim 16 - — 16
Mr. Leung Chi Kin”" 2E2gk 16 - — — 16
Mr. Chow King Lok™ AR&rE 10 = = 10
Total emoluments for year 2008 —ZEE\F
|&Me 138 4,364 1,175 169 5,846
Appointed on 1 January 2009 R_ZFZNEFE—A—HZE

Appointed on 25 November 2009
Appointed on 1 May 2008
Appointed on 1 August 2008
Resigned on 1 January 2009

#* Resigned on 22 April 2009

###  Resigned on 25 November 2009
##  Resigned on 1 May 2008

Re-designated as a non-executive director on 1

January 2009 and retired on 26 June 2009

RETNF+—A-+HAZRE
T ORZEEN\FRA-BEZAE

R-ZBENENR—BEF
# R-ZETNFE—F—BEE
o OR-TBTBHENA =+ BT
N B — A+ A ARHE
M N —TEN\FERA—HEHME
8 m:$$A¢ A—BEEkE

77
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors
(Continued)

Note:  The discretionary bonuses were determined

mainly with the Group's overall performance.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any
directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 31 December
2009 and 2008.

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2009 and 2008.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

14. EERSRBEMS (&)

(a)

BEEME(#)

BITEE HHTEERBVHH
TEE(E)

et THERBRSCETEEEE
EERBAEE 2 EER

3o

BE_ZZN\FR_ZTTNF T
A=Z+—BLEE A5EHRE
AEFMESNME - ARSIKRSE
MAREBH N IMAREEEHIR
B - SERBERAE

REBEZE_ETENER_ZEZTNF+=
A=+—HLEFEVEENESKHE
KA ERERBUE MBS 2 25
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
two (2008: one) directors whose emoluments
are included in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining three
(2008: four) individuals during the year are as

(b)

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

14. EERSRBEMS (&)

TEREHMERE

TEsEeHFREREME(ZET
NE: —RB)ARAES Ef2
HEMENE - R T=R(=2F
ZNF: AR)BEZHEFEN
™

follows:

2009 2008
—BENE BT N\EF
HK$’000 HK$000
FExT FET
Salaries and other emoluments ¥ - R R A= 4,761 4,158
Discretionary bonuses RIERRES 1,025 1,349

Contributions to retirement RNE G2 2 73R
benefits schemes 104 57
5,890 5,564

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e R AT ARIA

2009 2008
—gBhE —TT\F

Emolument bands B < 48 7]
Nil — HK$1,000,000 21,000,000/ 7T — —
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 £ 2,000,000/ 7T 2 4

HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000  2,000,001#7c%3,000,000/% 7T — —
HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 C%4,000,0007% 7T 1 =
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5
Q
o
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — 15. 1¥ - RERRZHE — x&£H 5
GROUP %
z
5
Leasehold %)
improvements, o
furniture, %
fixtures and w 2
Factory under Plant and Moulds equipment Motor §@ 8
Buildings construction machinery and tools £ 51 vehicles Total —g,; ;
g7 ERER REREE BARIE $ERRRE fE Gl ®O
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 g g
FAT 7AT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT B0
B C
At1 January 2008 H-2BNE-F-A S
Cost e 184,180 280 160,591 177815 8,049 5663 602556 o
Accumulated depreciation ZifE (62,043) - (129,609) (167,140) (60,940) (4487) [414.219) L
Net carrying amount BRE 12137 260 29 20675 21,109 1176 188,339 2
=
Year ended 31 December 2008 R=FENETZA=1-R ;i
235 =
Opening net camyingamount VB ERE 122,137 260 2091 20675 21,109 1176 188,339 3
Exchange differences EiEH 460 51 1311 29 1,267 346 7,856 3
Addions 54 - % 129 394 129 - 6785 S
Reclassification ik - (54) - - 5 = — l“;
Disposel i = = = - (7] = ) Pt
Depreciation il (8571) = (3,959) (10672 (4,39%) (551) (28,149) ”ﬂ
_FH
Closing net carrying amount ~ HXEEEE 118,188 593 21,566 14210 18791 n 174319 g
At 31 December 2008 HN-EENETZR=1-A
Cost e 190,768 593 157,852 182,485 8,8 5732 621,712
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (72,580) = (136,286) (168,275 (65,491) (4,767) (447,393)
Net carrying amount FATE 118,188 593 21,566 14210 18,791 n 174319
Year ended 31 December 2009 H=FFAET=F=1-A
LEE
Opening net carrying amount 4IRS 118188 593 21,566 14210 18791 il 174319
Exchange differences EiZE - - - - 4 (264) (260)
Acquisition of subsiciares (note 4] HEAZIAG Hizos) - - 1,008 - 679 570 2057
Additions HE 210 6,56 1883 2979 2574 97 14338
Reclassification ENE 4918 (5,413 17 15 163 = =
Disposal ik 81) = (1,868 (33) 17 (29) (2,12)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35 HiEMBAZH#%5) (45,699) = (810) (285 (1,706) (13) (48,507)
Depreciation & (7,624) - 6,222 (9492 4031) (397) (27,766)
Closing net carrying amount ~ HXEEEE 69,948 1,745 15,574 7,3 16,657 949 112,67
At 31 December 2009 H-BBAFTZA=1-R
Cost el 123,198 1,745 152,647 179,464 60,647 6,088 524,389
Accumulated depreciation ZinE (63,850) - (137,073) (172,070) 43,990) (5,139) (#12,122)
Net carrying amount FEAE 69,948 1,745 15,574 1.3% 16,657 949 112,267
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — 15. ¥ - BELRZE — &XEEBH
GROUP (continued) (&

An analysis of the net carrying amount of the Group’s REBYEZEREFESNUT ¢
properties is set out below:

2009 2008
—BRNE —TT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

ARG RERAMTERBR AR

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

FET FET
Buildings situated on land in Hong BREBT BT
< g Kong — FARFEAY
J — Under medium-term lease 8,002 8,729
ﬁ Buildings situated on land in the PRC &A1 Bl +#h 7 &
ﬁ — Under medium-term lease — FHEIFEA 61,946 109,459
it
512
'IB(T 69,948 118,188
3 Factory under construction on land in & B 43178 F # 2 1E 2R =
& the PRC — TR
S — Under medium-term lease 1,745 593
i
-
<3( 71,693 118,781
zZ
zZ
<
At 31 December 2009, the Group's certain banking R-ZEZFTNE+_BR=1+—H ' &&E
facilities were secured by the Group's certain B iEFRM®E7,677,000% T E FK
buildings with net carrying amount of HK$7,677,000 WRAEEB ZRITRE(ZEE )\ F -

(2008: HK$8,267,000). 8,267,000/&7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS FOR LAND

— GROUP

HE_TTNF+-A=+—HLFE

The Group's prepaid lease payments for land

comprise land use rights in the PRC and leasehold

land situated in Hong Kong which are held under

medium-term leases as follows:

16. B Lt#iHE — AKH

AEEREMIHWESBEEAPHELZ
R L (E AR E BRI

2009 2008
—EEhE —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Leasehold land — leases of between AL — AR +F

10 to 50 years EATH

In the PRC il 14,080 30,426
In Hong Kong B 13,620 14,366
27,700 44,792
2009 2008
—EEhE —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Opening net carrying amount HAT AR FHE 44,792 44,794
Exchange differences PE 3 =R — 1,062
Amortisation for the year RE 5 (932) (1,064)
Disposal HE (420) =
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) HEMB AR (HiE35) (15,740) —
Closing net carrying amount HAK BR [ FHE 27,700 44,792
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

16.

17.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS FOR LAND
— GROUP (continued)

HE-TTAF+-A=+-BLEE

16.

ANLHEE — KB #E)

2009 2008
—BhE —TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$000

FET T
Analysed for reporting purposes as: TERERZZ AN
Non-current FEMED 26,768 43,728
Current ok 932 1,064
27,700 44,792

At 31 December 2009, the Group's certain banking
facilities are secured on land with carrying amount of
HK$12,588,000 (2008: HK$12,888,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — GROUP

All of the Group's property interests held under a
medium-term lease to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

17.

R-ZTAF+_A=+—0 A&H
Z TS i 7E 2 BRE{E 12,588,000 /7T
EEERRASBZEBITRE(ZES
J\E : 12,888,000/87T) °

RENWE — ~KH

AEEARBRESXABEERERNM
RETHBOKE 2B EERTR
NHEAE - UHRRIIRKREDE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BBl 109

For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — GROUP 17. REWE — FEB(#)

(Continued)

Changes to the carrying amount presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

AEEARBRESHNAEELERNM
RELEBORA 2MBNERRDR
NHERTE - WRBIIRREME -

2009 2008
—gEAE  —TI)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Carrying amount at 1 January FREER—H—H — —

Additions during the year FAIE N 28,254 =
Changes in fair values of investment &Y% N F{E %

properties 1,746 —

Carrying amount at 31 December EEERTZA=1+—H 30,000 =

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 December 2009 had been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried on that date by a firm of
independent professional valuers, which is a member
of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation
conformed to Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
Valuation Standards on Properties, was arrived at by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties in same location and condition, and
gave rise to an increase of HK$1,746,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2009.

AEBEENER=-_ZTZNF+=A
=+ —HZAFENABILEETIEA
RZBEBZHEARE  ZTMHA
A The Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors R BB A ERMEBEe S8 - it
EREREBASMEeTEMRNY
FHEZER R A AR E R AR 2
HOUMENSEMMIZKRER/IRE &
KEHEBRZZEENFTA=1—
HER 71,746,000 87T °
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17.

18.

For the year ended 31 December 2009

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES — GROUP
(Continued)

On 8 January 2010, the Group entered into an
equity agreement with independent third parties
to dispose of a subsidiary incorporated in BVI,
Talent Link Holdings Limited, and its subsidiary, RBI
Conglomerate Limited (the “Disposal Group"”) which
holds these investment properties, with an aggregate
consideration of HK$30,000,000. The disposal has
been completed on 8 January 2010 (note 44(i)).

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES —
COMPANY

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

17. BREYXE — K&EB(2)

RZZE—ZTF—AN\A ' NEBEREL
FE=AFF—HEREAEE—RARNE
BRELZEHENKIL 2 FAT  Talent Link
Holdings Limited + R EFAF] @ 415
GECEAERAR(TEERE])  F48
BELREYE - 2R ER 30,000,000
Lo HEER_ZTE—ZTF—ANATK
(MFEE44()) °

18. RIMBARZIRE — A2H

2009 2008
—BEAE —ZTT)NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET T

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LT, - EREKANE 8,377,358 107,146
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES —
COMPANY (Continued)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,

interest free and repayable on demand.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

18. RMIBARZKRE — AR FH
()

5 <t Jm =k
EREFER ©

R B AR RIAESEERR 22 AR

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December R-ZBEENE+_A=+—BFTENE
2009 are as follows: RNAEFFIBAT ¢
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Particulars of of equity
establishment/ issued share/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company  Principal
Name AL/ ER/ BRITRE/ ADFEEES  activities
£78 Beny EMERFE BAlt  EBEE
Held directly
EREE
Apollo Precision Ltd. (v) British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1,000 100%  Investment holding
("BVI") ERR1,000%TT RERR
EBRAHS
RBI Industries Holdings Ltd (i) BVI Ordinary US$30,025 51%  Investment holding
REXRRERAT ABRTHS £1AIR30,025% T RERR
RBI Conglomerate (Holdings) Ltd (i) BVI Ordinary US$100 100%  Investment holding and
ABRUES EER100ET securities investment
RERRRESFRE
Held indirectly
B#RE
Apollo Precision (HK) Ltd (i) Hong Kong Ordinary 100%  Investment holding and trading
HERIEEERAR Bk US$1,000,000 of equipment and turnkey
E&EMR1,000,000% T production lines for thin film
solar modules
RERRREERRAGH A
HEEREREELER
Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd i) (“Apollo (Fujian“) The PRC Registered 100%  Manufacturing of equipment and
(@ wholly-owned foreign enterprise) e US$3,800,000 turnkey production lines for
BRARRIRAEARAR ( [BRRG] ) A 743,800,000 thin film solar modules
(2ESERELR) SERRAGM KRB EERE
REELER
Apollo Precision (Beijing) Ltd (ii The PRC Registered 100%  Manufacturing of equipment and
IR ARLERERR AR el RMB5,000,000 turkey production lines for
# 1 475,000,000 thin film solar modules
ARE HEBRAGE A NBEES R

REBELER
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES — 18. RMB AR ZRE — AR FH

COMPANY (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2009 are as follows: (Continued)

(%)

X=EEAFH- A=+ AT ENE

RAEFEWT : (&)

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Particulars of of equity
establishment/ issued share/ attributable to
operations registered capital the Company  Principal
Name AMAL ER/ BRITRE/ ADFEEES  activities
£78 LEny EMERFE BAlt  EIBEE
Syne International Company Ltd (“Syne”) (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,200 100%  Investment holding
B ERERAR B EBR10,200%7T RERR
Tai Fat Toy (Shenzhen) Ltd (ii The PRC Registered HK$7,000,000 100%  Manufacture of accessories for
(a wholly-owned foreign enterprise) i A 747,000,000 hybrid buses
RETEBROANBRAR (2 BINGRALE) HERRHNETEMS
RBI Property Investment Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100%  Property Investment
TEMEREERAT i L1A%10,000% 7T nERE
RBI Conglomerate Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100%  Property Investment
R tFERAT i EBI%10,000%T NERE
Dongguan Tai Fat Toy Factory Limited (i) The PRC Registered 51%  Manufacture and sale of toys
(a wholly-owned foreign enterprise) f HK$36,800,000 RERHENA
REARTABARAT(ZEINERALE) #1 &7836,800,0008 7
Dongguan Tungfat Toy Factory Limited (i) The PRC Registered 51%  Manufacture and sale of toys
(a wholly-owned foreign enterprise) i HK$55,670,000 HEREEMA
RERETARBRAR(ZEIERELE) FEf & 755,670,000
Motormax Industries (Heyuan) Ltd (ii) The PRC Registered 51%  Manufacture and sale of toys
(a wholly-owned foreign enterprise) i HK$30,000,000 HEREETMA
RAEX(TR)ERLA(ZENERELR) #HE 430,000,007
Motormax Toy Factory Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 51%  Trading of toys
SEMARARAA &F EiEMR100,000% 7T BENA
RBI Toys Inc. (iii) United States Common Stock 51%  Trading of toys
of America US$10,000 EEmA
%8 LR 10,000% T
Red Box Toy Factory Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 Non- 51%  Design, trading and marketing of
AETARERAR BB voting deferred (iv) toys and investment holding
HK$12,000,000 Fit EEELHMARRERR

TER1,00087
ERERELERV)
12,000,000/
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES —
COMPANY (Continued)

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2009 are as follows: (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Operating principally in Hong Kong.

Operating principally in the PRC.

Operating principally in the United States of
America.

The non-voting deferred shares, which are held
by RBI Industries Holdings Limited, practically
carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meetings
of the respective company or to participate in
any distribution on winding up.

The shares of Apollo Precision has pledged to
GS Solar (Cayman) Company Limited and the
other holders of the convertible bonds whose
investment cost in Apollo Precision amounting
to approximately HK$8,250,542,000 as described
in note 41(i).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

principally affected the results for the year or formed

a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

18. RINBARZIRE — A2H

(%)

R_ZETENF+T_A=+—BIZNE
RAEFEWT : (&)

() EBREBLE -
(i) EERHELE -

(i) EBREELE -

(iv) ZEmERZEEIELTRH HRBI
Industries Holdings Limited#F
B BFELRERMEL LW EER
BMBBARARZRE  IMEEENE
AR 2 EMREAE 2B EH
FEARSIRE LR MEA
AERK  TEEZEEFIIE -

(v) Apollo PrecisionZ % 3 B # 3
T GS Solar (Cayman) Company
Limited R AT R E 5 2 Hfth#5H
AR Apollo Precision Z & B
#8,250,542,000 8 7T * = R MiEE
41(i) °

EERA RERANINEEYES
FREYEEIMRAEEEEEEFE
ZAATMBAT - 5 EMHEAR
ZERESBRIERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZThF+_A=+—HLLFE

19. GOODWILL — GROUP 19. HE — KEM

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Apollo
Sub-Group during the year. The net carrying amount
of goodwill can be analysed as follows:

22 A F A U Apollo i B & B i &
£ BEZREFEINAT :

2009 2008
—BRNE —TT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TFET
Net carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BZRE#E — —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34)  UrE&T B A 7 (M 34) 7,882,953 =
Net carrying amount at 31 December W+—-—A=+—HZEKEFE 7,882,953 =

The goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is allocated
to the cash generating unit of turnkey production
lines business.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
was determined by the directors of the Company
with reference to the valuation performed by a firm
of independent professional valuers, based on value-
in-use calculations covering a detailed ten-year budget
plan followed by an extrapolation of expected cash
flows at the growth rate stated below. The growth
rates reflect the expected long-term average growth
rate for the product lines of the cash generating unit.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use
calculations include the increase in sales of 756MW
turnkey production line per year, and a discount rate
of 21.73%.

BE (KR EFIRERSR) D EEEAX
TREEREBZREELEM -

ReELBEN A BOSHEAAREE
F2EBUEXMAEMETZAERR
BRETFAEREFB ZEREE
BIERBTIEREXEZAYRES R
BETE ZFERXRRESELEM
EmRIzBHRATFHERE -

FHEEEFEAFRAZEERRET
FRMEEBSREAETHLEERR
21.73% 2 BHIR =K -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLFE

19. GOODWILL — GROUP (cContinued) 19. BE — XEH %)

The key assumptions also include stable profit
margins, which have been determined based on
past performance, and management’s expectations
for market share, evidenced by the sales contracts

entered during the year, and also other sales

contracts entered into after the reporting date (note cFRAZIERRETEREANZTE nsil_j
44(ii)), and after taking into consideration published J*@Z" B2 BGER R BRI A 2 BRI 5
market forecast and research. The growth rate used I}iﬁ%/\,ﬂﬁnﬁEF D E A §
is consistent with the forecast included in industry ZfFi % o FE
reports. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect iﬁpf
specific risks relating to the turnkey production line T\)n

Il o
segment. \¥
Impairment testing taking into account the sales KERBEAHAIEFILCEESOR %
contracts entered into before and after the reporting BB BN LR K EER R 2 RE ZRER S
date, together with the management’s assumptions AEA - BREBEABEFE 2HETHE %
on the growth and rate of return. No impairment of SER/RSEEBNBR BN E §
goodwill was associated with the cash generating unit 1B ° :

o
of turnkey production lines based on this value-in-use 3
calculations. M

AR

<
Apart from the considerations described in REXEETHReELEEMZFREEBR ﬁ
determining the value-in-use of the cash generating Fritz RESN - REBEEEBRLT =
unit above, the Group’s management is not currently RNBEMEMATREE B ERE 2

aware of any other probable changes that would
necessitate changes in its key estimates. However,
the estimate of recoverable amount of the Group’s
turnkey production line business is particularly
sensitive to the discount rate applied. The impact
from a reasonable change in the discount rate is
assessed in note 4.1 together with other critical
accounting estimates and assumptions.

TERITEFREZHNEE - ATS
BREBEATXREAREEERH 2SN
BHEFATIZHEANERRER
HI1& 7] 3 2 HoAth 35 & & 49 (MY 3£ 44(i0)
*’é‘ﬁﬂ)jﬁ@%ﬁﬂ A T 35 T8RN R B 5%

B - R AEEAEZHEEER
EBz st RE B ATRAZ R
KEBHPRE - BRXE mibzw%)%
M4 1 REREBEB S EHRR
=0 F LAFEAY ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — GROUP

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

20. BPEE — &A&KH

Technology  Customers’
know-how contracts Total
1l 25 25 S A EFEN &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET TBT TET
(Note (i) (Note (ii))
(KT () (K132 (i)
Year ended 31 December BE-ZZENEF
2009 +=—A=+—8
LHEE
Acquisition of subsidiaries g BpE=pNG]

(note 34) (K1aF34) 384,829 74,953 459,782
Amortisation for the year AN S (B 22 (i)

(note (iii)) (3,499) (20,935) (24,434)
Exchange differences b =5 = 93
Closing net carrying amount BARERHF(E 381,423 54,018 435,441
At 31 December R-BENE

2009 +=H=+—H
Cost BN 384,922 74,953 459,875
Accumulated amortisation Rt (3,499) (20,935) (24,434)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 381,423 54,018 435,441

(i)

In February and September 2009, Apollo
Sub-Group entered into a contract with GS-
Solar (Fujian) Company Limited (“GS-Solar
(Fujian)”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
former ultimately holding company of Apollo
Precision, to purchase 7 registered technologies
and 26 non-registered licensed technologies
in relation to the know-how on the production
of equipment and turnkey production lines for
thin film solar modules. These intangible assets
were subsequently acquired by the Company
through its acquisition of the Apollo Sub-Group
on 25 November 2009. They are recognised
at fair value on business combination and are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

(i)

RZZEZENF_AKNA ' Apollo
B /e £ [E &2 Apollo Precision Bi&x
BERARIZZEN B R REE
BRERERAR(TEES AL
BTG - BE 7 ES 3R
M5 R 26 B SEFE M 5 AT 4520405 - 225
BT B B 35 59 IR K B5 e iR 4B AR
RAEZHBEERZEENHEE
e 2SRV EEREBAART
RZZBZNhE+—AZ+HASE
BUWEApollofEEEEE - 2
REBEHBRATFTERR I
REGSER Gt FERFH
RS o
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — GROUP
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

GS-Solar (Fujian) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the former ultimately holding company of Apollo
Precision. A director of GS-Solar (Fujian) is the
former beneficiary shareholder (the “Former
Beneficiary Shareholder”) of Apollo Precision and
is a close family member of a former director
(the “Former Director”) of Apollo Precision. The
Former Director is another former beneficiary
shareholder of Apollo Precision.

Customers’ contracts acquired from the
business combination are recognised at
fair value on business combination and are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives and are capitalised to
work-in-progress. They are charged to profit or

loss when customers’ contracts complete.

The analysis of amortisation of intangible assets
during the year is as follows:

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

20. EBLEE — X&EH#®)

(ii)

(iii)

B A EEIR A Apollo Precision
AR ERAGICEZENEB A
Al BEHAERE—REEAR
Apollo Precision < Bl 5 75 A JRER
(AT =2z ARRE )+ I A Apollo
PrecisionRIEE([RIEE]) 23
# - AIE H A Apollo Precision 3
— BRI R @ AR ©

REBEHKBZ TP ENNER
BHEZEQFERER - RERER
EFFAIME R FHIREE - Y B
EERETE - RPAKMRTRER
1B AR o

FREBLEEBHEITMOT

Technology  Customers’
know-how contracts Total
1l 25 25 A EFEN &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FEIT FEIT FEIT
Total amortisation for F N
the year 3,499 20,935 24,434
Less: Capitalised to 0 BERNMEERE
inventories (1,435) (3,372) (4,807)
Amortisation of intangible A 1825 NFER
assets recognised in E AR
profit or loss 2,064 17,563 19,627

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYI0S 01104V

FHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

0 8 B S O 28 & Y &l BE



118

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB H et

ARG RERAMTERBR AR

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

=
7

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZ N FFH kﬁ;ﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2009

21. INVENTORIES — GROUP

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

21. B8 — X&H

2009 2008
ZEBRE —ZTN\F
HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET
Turnkey production line business HETREER
Raw materials JR R 5,394 =
Work-in-progress R 150,735 —
156,129 —
Toy business T B 575
Raw materials R % 21,884 38,027
Work-in-progress ER 28,191 47,124
Finished goods BURY fh 19,538 27,018
69,613 112,169
Total g 225,742 112,169

All the inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
net realisable value.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group has
reversed the allowance for slow moving inventories
of approximately HK$4,972,000 (2008: allowance
for inventories of approximately HK$19,061,000)
being part of the inventory written down in previous
years that was subsequently not required because
the obsolete stock has been sold or disposed. The
amount reversed has been included in “Cost of sales”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

FEEEER AR R EERE 2 8
16 A -

HE_ZTTAE+_A=1+—RHB=EE
NEE 277 E 4% % [l 494,972,000
B ZZEENF: GEEHBY
19,061,000 7C) * EEE U AEFE
BEZ—BMH - AREMBZFEE S
EREA AT ERETAILIEERS -
thEOCREFALARERPRHEE
FRARNER ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES —
GROUP

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

22. BEREMEBYRRKIE — F&EH

2009 2008
—BhE —TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Trade receivables B 2 M GRIE 136,913 65,660
Less: Allowance for impairment of Ji - FEAERIB R E R

receivables (2,459) (13,933)

Trade receivables — net B EIEIE — FE 134,454 51,727

Other receivables H b fE U SR I8 77,076 614

211,530 52,341

The directors of the Company considered that the
fair values of trade and other receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts
because these amounts have short maturity periods
at their inception.

The Group generally allows a credit period of 0 to
90 days to its trade customers. Based on invoice
date, the ageing analysis of the Group's net trade
receivables is as follows:

HRNE 5 & A YRR B FAER R
MR BAKREEEA/ERT
ERARAETEEAESR

AEBE-RETEPZEENLTREER
Hi - REEE 5 EUHIAIAEER A B
ZIRE AT

2009 2008
ZBBAFE —TT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET
0 — 30 days 0 £ 30 X 113,908 19,559)3
31 — 60 days 31 £ 60 X 11,290 12,738
61 — 90 days 61 £ 90 X 7,525 14,349
Over 90 days 90 KA E 1,731 5,045

134,454 51,727
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES —
GROUP (continued)

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless the
Group is satisfied that the recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written
off against trade receivables directly. The movements
in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

22. BEREMEBYRRKIE — F&EH

(%)

BB 5 OB 2 A E R TS iR A
B BRESEEEMKERET #E
B MR T AR B
HE SRR S - B B
EEERDTIROT :

2009 2008
—gBAE —2T)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FET
At 1 January R—A—H 13,933 11,118
Amount written off during the year FRREE 2 &5 (11,474) (102)
Impairment recognised BRI EEE - 2,917
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2,459 13,933

At each reporting dates, the Group reviews
receivables for evidence of impairment on both an
individual and collective basis. As at 31 December
2009, the Group has determined trade receivables
of approximately HK$2,459,000 as individually
impaired (2008: approximately HK$13,933,000).
Based on this assessment, no impairment has been
recognised (2008: impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,917,000 has been recognised). The impaired
trade receivables are due from customers
experiencing financial difficulties that were in default
or delinquency of payments.

Included in other receivables is the sales proceeds
from disposal of a subsidiary, RBI Industries
(Shenzhen) Limited, amounted to approximately HK$
71,685,000, which was received on 22 January 2010
(note 35(i)).

EHEER  AEERTEKKIEZ
B IR R 8 Bl 3k B B £ TR R
B RZZEZENF+ZHA=+—8H"
AEBEBREBEEE S ERFIE LS @A
1B %92,459,000%8 T(Z T T )\ F :
13,933,000 70 ) © RAR UL FT 1l - AN
ERERBEBEEBRE(ZZEZTNGF  BRERS
H#92,917,000%7T) - EREE ZEHK
HREARF LR BREMERERZ
FEWRIE o

iy 518

o

HihERFREBERELE —WEAR -
ABEEXRI)ERAASELN
71,685,000 87T ' WRER=ZFE—FF
— A=+ =B UWER(FizE35()) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BBl 121

For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES — 22. EFREMEWRIIE — FA5H

GROUP (continued)

In addition, included in other receivables is the term
loan of HK$3,000,000 (2008: nil) advanced to Dr. Hui
Ka Wah, Ronnie J.P., the chief financial officer of the
Group. The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at
2.5% per annum and is repayable on 9 September
2010. The maximum amount outstanding during the
year is HK$3,018,750.

No amounts in relation to other receivables were past
due at the reporting dates.

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or
other credit enhancements over the impaired trade
receivables, whether determined on an individual or
collective basis.

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables
that were past due as at the reporting dates but not
impaired, based on due date is as follows:

(%)

BE  HitRUEXEBRAXASEEEM
BEARBEER @I BNAEHRER
3,000,000 8T (ZZEFN\F: &) - &
HREEIT - RENE25%TERAR
“ZE-ZFNANBEE REARS
ZAREERA3,018,750 & T °

RHmER - EMERAANERAESS
5 -

AR E L B OB E B 5 R MR (R
mE R M =) R A EAERmE
RIREHEMERRT

RBEAEBHERBREZAEBRES
FEMRIEC RBF B ERE ST T

2009 2008
—gBAE —2T)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FET

Not yet past due KA ER 31,772 38,457
1-90 days past due 28 H51-90K 101,592 12,340
91-180 days past due E 8 H§91-180K 301 109
Over 180 days past due 2i@H180K A E 789 821
134,454 51,727

As at 31 December 2009, trade receivables of
HK$31,772,000 (2008: HK$38,457,000) were neither
past due nor impaired. These related to a large
number of diversified customers from whom there
were no recent history of default.

RZZEZEAF+ZA=Z+—H-
31,772,000 L 2 B 5 EWHRIE (=&
TN\ : 38,457,000/ T) Km0 E sk
WA LEEFHERFEREARAED
MeBP MESHEIBAZEARD
ﬁ °
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES — 22. EFREMEBWRIIE — FA5H

GROUP (continued)

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to customers that had a good track record of
credit with the Group. Based on past credit history,
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

Included in trade receivables that were past due
but not impaired is a balance of approximately
HK$98,593,000 was due from IERFABIHE TR
RAEBRAF ("FEE5"). An equity owner holding
50% interest of A #8f5 is the Former Beneficiary
Shareholder of Apollo Precision and a close family
member of the Former Director of Apollo Precision.
The Former Director is another former beneficiary
shareholder of Apollo Precision. The directors of
the Company believe that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of this balance as H i85
had a good track record of settlements during the
period and the balance is still considered to be fully
recoverable.

Apart from the trade deposits received from i85
amounted to approximately HK$69,848,000 (note 28),
the Group did not hold any collateral in respect of
trade receivables past due but not impaired.

(%)

ERRERBELE S BEKEERK
ENRYBRFLENER - RIEBHE
EELE  EEEREANMEEERY
BEANE M A BERDRRIET 2R
Yol - # B A R F AR AT IR (B
o

ERMERBECEZEBFIEREL
98,593,000 7Lt H #7 [5 B F Bl %
BRAR(HIREG") 2ER - RIBEE
—M B Apollo Precision RISz ARRE
(1% 75% Apollo Precision RIE 3 i1
) FEB0% Em AR o NAAIES
HEBRERPRERANFAZRIFEERT
B - HAARRER 250403 R A EIE
HREZERE o

BR T o #5549 /5 69,848,000 78 7T (Fff &
28| B 55 % ARBERBEERE
HHERRE 2 B 5 B WA M YR 2
Ham o
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23. BILLS RECEIVABLE — GROUP

The ageing analysis of the Group’s bills receivable
outstanding at the reporting dates based on invoice

date is as follows:

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

23. BREE — x&H

AEBERKREENEE B AR H B
ZIREAITINT

2009 2008
—BRNE —TT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FEIT
0 — 30 days 0 £ 30 K 863 1,232
31 — 60 days 31 £ 60 X 2,341 220
61 — 90 days 61 £ 90 X — 384
Over 90 days 90 KA E 370 650
3,574 2,486

All of the Group's bills receivable are not past due as
at the reporting dates and no impairment allowance

has recognised.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair
values of bills receivable are not materially different
from their carrying amounts because these amounts

have short maturity periods at their inception.

MBRBRKREENEE AL EREN
KRB ERER o

HREUEEBREETREHAED
B SARBEERSEQNFEERR
E{EYEERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZThF+_A=+—HLLFE
24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24. BAFEREBRIIRZEHME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS — GROUP E— XxKEH
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$°'000
FET FET
Equity investments stated at fair T BRE AT ER
value — Listed in Hong Kong — EFELT 3,806 —
The fair values of the Group's investments in listed REEKRERN ETMERESF < ATE -
equity securities have been measured in accordance BIRESETBORME 210515 -

with the accounting policy described in note 2.10.

25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED 25. RE&RRT&EF CIKIFRT

BANK DEPOSITS EE
Cash and bank balances include the following REe RRTEFBEEATIER ¢
components:
Group Company
REE AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—®BAF -—TT)\F -BEAF —TT)\F
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Cash at banks and WITRFEES
in hand 80,073 18,239 669 4
Short-term bank REERIRIT I 3K
deposits 74,428 33,5231 — —
Less: Pledged bank  J&f - 2R TT
deposits TR (864) — — —
Total cash and cash FTERERREE
equivalents =7 153,637 51,770 669 4
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED 25. B&RB{T#E CEFRIT

BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

The short-term bank deposits earn 0.25% (2008:
1.38%) interest per annum. They have maturity of
1 day to 3 months and are eligible for immediate
cancellation without receiving any interest for the last
deposit period.

Pledged bank deposits represent the Group’'s bank
deposits pledged to secure the Group's bills payable.
The effective interest rates of the pledged bank
deposits are ranging from 0.36% to 1.98% per
annum. The maturities of pledged bank deposits are
ranging from 150 days to 182 days.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair
value of short-term deposits is not materially different
from its carrying amount because of the short
maturity periods at its inception.

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group
is HK$45,196,000 (2008: HK$1,831,000) of bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB")
placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely
convertible currency. Under the PRC's Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks
that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

FRE)

CHRITERIRFMNE02E(ZT T
NE 1.38E)FE  BHANTF1HE
3MEA - WAl £ AU ER 5 18 — (& 15 3 HA
2B ZERTRIREUY o

ERBRITERRANEEIARITIFRIE
REARE 2 RBEMNRZME - EF
ERETF036%E1.98% LEHAE AR
150 H£ 182 H -

AEBEERR  AREHEFFNRL

2 BIHAHAMRAE - A QAP EEERE
BEYESAER -

AEEZH S RRITETFRETHNSE
Bl zRITUAARBITARE ) BB
2 SRITH 82 45,196,000 8 (=T ZF £
F :1,831,000/87L) - ARBIWIEATB
BRABRZER  Am - BERERM 2
HNEEE Bl P R A5 TE - EERNSESE
RE - AEEEM ESBEREESD
Bl ITINE 55 2 SRITHEA R H e
HNIE o
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES — 26. EZREMENRIE — A5H

=
7

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 =22 i % £ 3§ &Eg

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods

ranging from 0 to 60 days. Based on the invoice date,

o

w

=

=

-

[72]

©]

<

5 GROUP

o)

T

% 2009 2008

g —EEhEFE —TENF

= HK$°000 HK$'000

E FET FET

o

o

w me: =+

& = Trade payables 2 SN IE 35,274 17,001
&

e Other payables HAt BT 50R 19,811 7,430

cjaj%s 55,085 24,431

o

o

HEBERAEETXRENTRARE
H - mBEREHE  AKEZESEN

the ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables is SRIARRBR AT
as follows:

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
0 — 30 days 0% 30K 20,617 10,402
31 — 60 days 31 % 60K 10,442 5,002
61 — 90 days 61 % 90K 2,467 915
Over 90 days 90 KM 1,748 682
35,274 17,001

PrBETEARY  AEESREMEN
IR Z REEREATERS -

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying
amounts of trade and other payables are considered
to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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27. BILLS PAYABLE— GROUP 27. BNERE — r5H

At 31 December 2009, bills payable were secured by
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$864,000
(2008: nil) (note 25), corporate guarantees of
approximately HK$56,787,000 (equivalent to
RMB50,000,000) (2008: nil) provided jointly by GS-
Solar (Fujian) and RMNTEARGEFEEBRAR(" 2K
).

An equity owner holding 80% equity interest of &
AXF5 is the Former Beneficiary Shareholder of Apollo
Precision and a close family member of the Former
Director of Apollo Precision. This Former Director of
Apollo Precision is also a director and equity owner
holding 10% equity interest of & AF5.

The bills payable were also guaranteed by personal
guarantees given by the Former Director and the
Former Beneficiary Shareholder of Apollo Precision.
None of the guarantees were utilised at 31 December
2009 (2008: Nil).

R-ZZEZNE+_A=+—8B EfRt
SZRAEHE I IRITF 5049 864,00048 T
(ZZETN\F : 8)(WHF25) A REE
HRERERMNMEABETRIES
RAR(T& AR XRARHZAFE
1R #4956,787,000 8 T(HWHERARKE
50,000,000 L) (=T N\F : &)
=R o

BBE2ANZ80% kAN tEm L EaER A
A Apollo Precision Z A1 & 25 AR -
B A& Apollo Precision A1 E = 2 i1 4 °
Apollo Precision tt Z A1 E E N A& K
rEERFESAG10% Em 2 IRA
EREBA o

JE 4 Z 5 I3 LA Apollo Precision AT & =&
¥ Apollo Precision A 52 25 A B% 5 3
ZEAEREER -RZTThEF+=
A=+—H8 TEHBERAERCCE
TNF: &) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

28. DEPOSITS AND ACCRUALS

RE-FEAF+-A=+-BLFE

28. RERETTER

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EEhRE —TENF
HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET
Deposits received e WAL 182,344 24,338
Accruals R &R 28,554 13,690
210,898 38,028

Company

RAF]

2009 2008
—EEAFE —ZT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Accruals FEETE R 1,698 64

Included in the deposits received in the Group were
the customer’'s deposits from R[5 (note 22)
amounted to approximately HK$69,848,000 (2008:
nil).

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying
amounts of accruals are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of their fair values.

FRIRE 2 B € £ 584)69,848,000 /8
T(ZEENF : 8)(WiF22)BE8REE
EEIR S AR -

FiAeEARMRENEAZEEED
ZRABOTATHE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND 29. AIRES — FXEERALQF

COMPANY

On 25 November 2009, the Company issued
zero coupon convertible bonds, as part of the
consideration in respect of the Acquisition (note 34),
with a principal amount of HK$3,814,950,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds"”). The Convertible Bonds were
issued in two tranches. The principal amount for the
first tranche Convertible Bonds is HK$1,040,440,000
and the second tranche Convertible Bonds is
HK$2,774,510,000. The Convertible Bonds will be
matured on 25 November 2013 and are convertible
into fully paid ordinary shares with a par value
of HK$0.0025 each of the Company at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.329, subject to the
adjustments in the event of, inter alias, consolidation
or subdivision of the shares, capitalisation of profits
or reserves, capital distributions in cash or specie or
subsequent issue of securities, at a discount of the
then market price, in the Company.

The Convertible Bonds are secured by the shares in
the share capital of Apollo Precision (note 41(i)).

The holders of the Convertible Bonds will have the
right to convert the whole or part of the outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds during the
conversion period. The Convertible Bonds remains
outstanding on the maturity date shall be redeemed
at its then outstanding principal amount.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component of the Convertible Bonds was calculated
using an effective interest rate of 8.23% for
an equivalent non-convertible bond. The equity
component of the Convertible Bonds was recognised
at fair value and was included in convertible bonds
equity reserve in the owners’ equity.

ERWBEIE(ME34)REZ—55 -
ARARZBEZENF+—A=-THBEE
11784 53,814,950,000 8 L 2 T E B
MR ES([AIRRES]) - TRIRE
FomALET c s AT BRBRESAE A
1,040,440,000 8 7T - R E Z# AT
BEHEARE A2,774,510,000/8 T ° 0] #
REHFBER=_ZE—=F+—HA=+AH
EIH] - W AR ) S AR (B 0.329 % 7T
BABARRRZIRAEO0.0025 B L2 B R
TERRG - HRRERIERD S sk
A BASEBEERNE  REHEY
BADRKBERBEITARRZFHFZEMR
TFAFE -

A] 42 }% & % H Apollo Precision % 28 #f
Z R YER (BIEE41()) °

RAJBBEA - AT RRESSEAGE
RBMABMEESEAIT I RLEBER
T o REIB AR ARL B JRRESEA
BERARLBEASED -

RIS HERE - AT RBREFRBERD
NP EERBEUFITRRESERZE
BRA=8.23% 7t & - A ES 2 s
Mo AFERER  UREAAEDZN
At AR RS o
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2
2
é) 29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND 29. TERES — AEERAEALQ
=) COMPANY (Continued) T)(#&)
o
g The Convertible Bonds recognised in the consolidated RERE B ISAR R R AR 2 A AR & 5
g statement of financial position are calculated as SHEWTF
= follows:
e
-
% & Liabili .
o o iability Equity
%& component component Total
Efé =Kt D =
R HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
%g FET FET FET
O o§
o

Net carrying amounts on initial #)2F R 2 BRE =&

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 =22 fi % £ &Eg

recognition 2,780,509 3,886,118 6,666,627
Interest expenses B> 22,376 — 22,376
Net carrying amount at RZZTENF+=A

31 December 2009 =+—H

Z BREVFE 2,802,885 3,886,118 6,689,003
The fair value of the equity component of the AMmREFERSDSI 2 A FEERAZE
Convertible Bonds was calculated using the binomial NERGE  RZERAMERACEEH
model with the major inputs used in the model as BT :
follows:

At 256 November

2009
RZEE Hi

+—A=+#A
Expected volatility TEHR R R 75.53%
Risk free rate 42 [ e 71| 2 1.29%
Expected life TEHAEIR 4 years
Expected dividend yield TEHA AR B e 2 0%

Effective interest rate B = 8.23%
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29.

30.

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HE-TThNF+-_A=+—HIEFE
CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND 29. TERES — AEERAEALQ
COMPANY (continued) T)(#&)

During the period from 25 November 2009 (date RZZBEZENF+—AZTHABUKRE
of Acquisition completion) to 31 December 2009, EHETKAM)E_TZNF I+ = A
no Convertible Bonds were converted into ordinary =t+—BILtHME > WEABRRRES LB
shares of the Company. BARNREBRRD
Interest expense on the Convertible Bonds is AR ER 2 M EFR R EBRRZE
calculated using the effective interest method by FBmAEIS D EHE823% 2 Al K&t
applying the interest rate of 8.23% to the liability =i
component.
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 30. EXEBELEE (&F)
The followings are the major deferred tax assets and NTAREERREERERIBEE
liabilities recognised by the Group and movements REBERERRRITHBATFE &
thereon during the current and prior years:
Unrealised
profit on Fair value
Accelerated intra-group  adjustments Other
tax transfer of  on business temporary
depreciation assets  combination differences Total
£ER
EEERY E3 Y v
MEHERE RERET ATERE  EfERER ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FEn AT FEn Az FEn
At 1 January 2008 m:zz\i_ﬂ—a 583 4,018 — 3,206 7,807
Credit/(Charge) to profit or RERAETA/ (1)
loss (note 10) (HtzE10) 1,484 (5,107) - 522 (3,101)
Exchange difference ERER 293 129 - 60 482
At 31 December 2008 and RZZENE+-A=1-H
1 January 2009 R=ZENE-A—H 2,360 (960) = 3,788 5,188
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note UEEF A7l
34) = = (123,904) = (123,904)
Credit/(Charge) to profit or RBHERETA/ (10%)
loss (note 10) (RtzE10) 1,309 (4,810) 45,779 243 42,521
At 31 December 2009 R-EENETZA=1-A 3,669 (5,770) (78,125) 4,031 (76,195)
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

HE-TTAF+-A=+-BLEE

30. EEBHEBEBEE (BE)#)

(Continued)
2009 2008
—EBEBhE —TTN\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets RIEFIAE B 6,686 9,196
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIEE E (82,881) (4,008)
(76,195) 5,188

At 31 December 2009, the Group had unused tax
losses of HK$91,195,000 (2008: HK$62,944,000)
available for offset against future profits. Deferred
tax assets have been recognised in respect of
HK$6,917,000 (2008: HK$1,739,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining HK$84,278,000 (2008:
HK$61,205,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses
are losses of HK$41,556,000 (2008 HK$24,870,000)
and HK$27,706,000 (2008: HK$17,538,000) that will
expire from 2012 to 2029 and from 2010 to 2014
respectively. Other unused tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

RZZEZNF+ZA=+—H K&
B oK B IE B 18 A LA B R 2R R
A £91,195,000% (= T T )\ F -
62,944,000 7T) - i FEEZE
TRz R IE & E /6,917,000
TL(ZZFZT)\F 1,739,000/ L) ° £
T #84,278,000% m(= T T )\ & :
61,205,000 7T ) + R TEERETE &R
FoEH 2z B MLTRERRBBIE
ERBEE ERBERABRZHB
&5 $541,556,000%8 (= T T \ F ¢
24,870,00078 7T ) % 27,706,000/ T
(ZZFZ)\F: 17,638,000/ 7T) % Bl #5
%:;— FEZTNERZFT—Z
FEZZT—NFER - EMAREARE
Eﬁ?ﬁjﬁﬁﬁ%mﬂ% °
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HE-TTAF+-A=+-BLEE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
Number Nominal
of shares value
gk 24| HE
‘000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: JETE ¢
At 1 January 2008 (Ordinary shares RZEZENF—H—H
of HK$0.1 each) (BREMEO0.1 BT EAR) 800,000 80,000
Share subdivision (note (i)) R 4 (B 72 (1) 800,000 =
At 31 December 2008 and E’\fy 7)\¢+ A=+—8H
1 January 2009 (Ordinary shares MZFEZTNF—H—H
of HK$0.05 each) (SEE0.058TT 2 @A) 1,600,000 80,000
Capital reorganisation (note (iii) BARNEH (KA (i) 6,400,000 =
Share subdivision (note (v)) B H 4 (B (v) 24,000,000 =
At 31 December 2009 (Ordinary RZZEZNF—A—B (8K
shares of HK$0.0025 each) ME{E0.0025/87T 2 &#AX) 32,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREZ
At 1 January 2008 (Ordinary shares RZ-ZZENFE—A—B(FK
of HK$0.1 each) EEO0.1E T BEAR) 331,256 33,126
Issue of new shares (note (ii)) BATHAR (K752 (i) 66,000 6,600
Share subdivision (note (i)) A 4 (B 72 (1) 397,257 =
At 31 December 2008 and E’\:??)\E‘P A=+—8H
1 January 2009 (Ordinary shares RZZTNF—-A—RA(EK
of HK$0.05 each) EE0.05 8T EEAR) 794,513 39,726
Capital reorganisation (note (iii) BANEH(H 5 (i) (635,611) (38,136)
Issue of news shares upon open AR R T AR
offer (note (iv)) (K172 (iv)) 635,611 6,356
Share subdivision (note (v)) R&ADHR AR (A7 72 (v)) 2,383,641 —
Issue of consideration shares BITREIR D (HEE (vi)
(note (vi)) 1,116,614 2,791
Issue of commission shares BITRERM (K732 (vii)
(note (vii)) 318,000 795
At 31 December 2009 (Ordinary RZZBEZNF+_A=+—H
shares of HK$0.0025 each) (SHREE0.0025 BT 2
EER) 4,612,668 11,532
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Pursuant to the resolutions passed at the Annual
General Meeting held on 13 June 2008, the Company
subdivided each of the issued and unissued shares of
HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company into
2 shares of HK$0.05 each. The share subdivision took
place on 16 June 2008.

On 23 May 2008, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for a placement of total of 66,000,000 new
shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.53
per share. The share placing was completed on 12
June 2008.

Pursuant to the special resolution passed on 22
April 2009, the Company implemented the capital
reorganisation which involves the followings (the
“Capital Reorganisation”):

Share consolidation

The Company effects the share consolidation pursuant
to which every five existing shares of HK$0.05 each
have been consolidated into one consolidated share of
HK$0.25 each (the “Consolidation Share”).

Capital reduction and share subdivision

—  The issued share capital of the Company has
been reduced through a cancellation of the
paid up capital of the Company to the extent of
HK$0.24 on each of the issued Consolidation
Shares such that the nominal value of each
issued Consolidation Share will be reduced from
HK$0.25 to HK$0.01;

— The entire amount standing to the credit to the
share premium account of the Company as at 22
April 2009 has been reduced and cancelled;

—  The credit arising in the book of the Company
from the reduction of the paid-up capital of
the Company and the cancellation of the share
premium account of the Company as at 22
April 2009 meeting has been credited to the
contributed surplus account of the Company;
and

— Each of the authorised but unissued consolidated
shares of HK$0.25 each has been subdivided
into 25 new shares of HK$0.01 each;

Immediately following the capital reorganisation, the
authorised share capital of the Company remains
as HK$80,000,000 divided into 8,000,000,000 new
shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each, of which
158,902,712 new shares has been in issue and the
aggregate nominal value of the issued share capital of
the Company is HK$1,589,027.

HE-TTAE+-A=+-BLEE

31. B&E&#)
Wit -

(i) ARBR_EENFENA+=HEB
ZRFBE DIHARBRBAFRFI
AEIOB TEHTRAETRG
A2 EREEO.05E T 2 M » it
BOFAR_—ZZENE~A+AE
1T °

iy RZBEZNFRA-+=8''4KAA
FIIMEEH  LABR0L3BTREE
N1 A% A 66,000,000 B (B {5
RE]) - BROEER_ZEZENEFERA
+=B5%K -

(i) ARAR-_ZEZNFHA-+-HB&E
BIRER  BARABRAETEE
(TEREA DI RIATEA :

B & B
E=gETROEH Bl 8AK
FREE0.058 T2 A KA 6
R/R—BREREE2E T AR
([A&HHAf 1) °

Bl IR AN I 1% 40 45 4B

— BREHEAQAZEBRBRA(E
B ETE R TESH0.2478
JL) M BR AR R 2 B TR
N FEREETEHEKND
M {8 A 0.257%8 7o Hl 5 £ 0.01 78
JC H

— ARFRZZETAFHA=F=
BzBphaERz 2 ERSRE
15 F DA & a8

— FHEIRAR RS RRA R EA
REIR_FEZNFMNA=-+=H
Z DR ERMRA A REREH
EEZER  BRAQARZEH
BHIEAR &

— HEKREE0.25E T EEER
BITE G DY A 5 26 B A E
E0.01 BT 2R o

BHERASZAHE ARRZAETE
B A& 13 # 480,000,000 JT - &
#58,000,000,000% & & m {E0.01
BT ZH BB D) H&
158,902,712 B& %1 B 17 #& F LA 3 17 -
MARABIEBEITRAZ BAEBHN A
1,589,027 87T °
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

32.

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 4 June 2009, an
open offer of 635,610,848 shares of HK$0.1 each to
the shareholders on the basis of 4 offer shares for
every share of the Company was approved. The open
offer was completed on 26 June 2009.

Pursuant to the resolutions passed at the Special
General Meeting held on 4 November 2009, the
Company subdivided the issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.01 each into four shares of HK$0.0025 each.
The Share Subdivision took place on 5 November
2009.

On 25 November 2009, an aggregate of 1,116,613,652
Shares of HK$0.0025 were alloted and issued at an
issue price of HK$0.329 as partial consideration for
the acquisition of the share capital of Apollo Precision
Limited.

On 25 November 2009, the Company allotted and
issued 318,000,000 commission shares of HK$0.0025
each to the introducing agent for the acquisition of the
share capital of Apollo Precision Limited.

The Company repurchase 63,900,000 of its own shares
through purchase on the Stock Exchange during the
year ended 31 December 2009. The shares have been
cancelled subsequently to year end. The total amount
to acquire the shares was approximately HK$82 million
which have been recorded in other reserve in the
owners’ equity.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(a)

The Company

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 August
2007,
scheme (the

the Company adopted a share option
“Scheme”) relating to the grant
of share options to directors, employees and
other participants (the “Grantee”) including
consultants, advisers, suppliers and customers

of the Group.

The directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or
the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved by the Grantee before the option can

be exercised.

HE

— ==

NETZA=t—ALEE

1. BRA& (&)
Kzt -

32.

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

KRARKRZ=ZZEE
aﬁ;z/%ui N
635,610,848 % * }ﬁiﬂx
0.10B T2 BRE
BE— Hﬁﬁ’ifﬁiﬁﬁé‘%mﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁ
AEER_ZTZNEA-+"B=
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HERET o
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N EFRR0329B L n B RETA L
1,116,613,652 i H {E 7% 0.0025 % T
Z W& fn - 1E % Y B8 Apollo Precision
Limited B& 5 2 R RE ©

E@:‘—??hiﬂ'—ﬂ:ﬂ'ﬁﬁ :

S % K 1T & B%0.002678 T 2
318 000,000 18 & % 19 45 U & Apollo
Precision Limited & 13 2 /48 X 32
A e

BE_ZTAF+-A=t—Hi"
AR 2 AR B 22 A 2 B8 363,900,000
B BMEFRZETZHE - BERO
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32. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(Continued)

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment and at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the highest
of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (ii) the closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of the grant
of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not exceed 10 per cent of the
share capital of the Company in issue on 28 August
2007, the date of adoption of the Scheme, unless a
refresh approval of the shareholders is obtained.

Pursuant to the Special General Meeting held on 4
August 2009, the resolution approving the renewal
of the 10% of the general limit was passed by the
shareholders and the maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all options
to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not exceed
10 per cent of the share capital of the Company in
issue on 4 August 2009. As at the reporting date, the
total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 317,805,424, (representing 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of passing the resolution to refresh the 10% limit (as
adjusted by the share subdivision)).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may
be granted under the Scheme to any one Grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of
the share capital of the Company in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

RE-FEAF+-A=+-BLFE

32. URMAERZEERM &)

BREAHEELOSNRMEL - 17
EEE(ATIRASREM T AFAR)KE S
TH=FF2z&"%E (RO ZEE:
(i) BN EHBREE A ERTER
S RRERARKLHE - Kiii)
BEEONEEZRHBREER 2AR
BAEXBEFTBERX ST HRERAER
ZFEWTE -

REBREAZRTES TREZHBE
rEMm Al gE A RITRD 2 &S B T F
BEAR_—_ZFELFNAA-TNBUERS
BRETEER) ZARRADHEITRA
Z10% @ MERIG IR 2 EFRTHEAERRSD ©

BER—ZZNF/\AMNABRZER
BRERARE L BREREEFIAEI10%E
HERBEBRESSACERE TFELE
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RIEBTRAZI10%  HEREEKERZ
BHHLERIN c BEARESHEER - B
BRI EIR THETCRNBE A
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10% ZmEEHEZEITRH Z210% (B
RERDIFAFARE)) -
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REB1I2EABRRE-AZARFE
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32. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(Continued)

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders of
the Company on 28 August 2007 and has a life of 10
years until 27 August 2017.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed in special
general meeting held on 23 November 2009, the
directors are specifically authorised to (i) grant the
options to consultants of Apollo Sub-Group and (ii)
upon the exercise of the options, allot and issue up to
320,000,000 shares of HK$0.0025 each in the share
capital of the Company to the grantees.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s
share options and movements in such holdings:

Year ended 31 December 2009

32. URMAERZEERM &)

Outstanding
at
1 January
Subscription 2009 Granted
Date of Exercisable priceper  R=EZAE during
Granted to grant period share -A-H the year
o RTAH (i) SHAKE HRTRE EREF
HKS
Consultants 13 July 13 July 2010 to 0.18* - 52,992,000
of the Group i 2009 12 July 2011
A& EER “TENFLR CE-TELATS
1=H AEZE—£tA
TZH
Consultants of 25 November 25 November 2009 0.25* — 320,000,000*
Apollo Sub-Group 2009 t0 24 November
(ii) 2014
ApoloEEER  ZEEAFT- ZTENET-A
B-tRA -ftRAZ-%-M
£+-A-+MA
* The exercise price and number of share options were
adjusted for the effect of share subdivision (note
31(v)).
Notes:

(i) On 13 July 2009, the Company granted 59,992,000
share options to consultants of the Group for nil
consideration at an exercise price of HK$0.18 per
share. The vesting date of the share options to
business consultants of the Group is one year from
the date of grant.

BREFZHENR _ZZTLFNAAZTN
HEARRERRIE  SHBETF HE
—E—tFNAZFTEERIL -

N_EZNF+T A +t=BHFAIKRR
AREBBIRIZR  EFHHBEENEK
th BB A #E T Apollo B /B 5= B A Al K (ii) 77
R AR - D8 R EITER0.00258
TT.Z 320,000,000 A& T8 H & ©

TERBEBEARRBERENBRESER
NEE 2 FHIF

BE_ZRNF+-A=+—-HLHFE

Number of shares under options granted

ERTEREZRAEA
QOutstanding Exercisable
at at
31 December 31 December
Exercised Forfeited 2009 2009
during during  RZBBAE  RIBEAE
the year theyear TZA=t-B T+ZA=t-A
Eniifk ERlE HRITR L[t
- —  52,992,000* —
— — 320,000,000* —

* 8 B #E 1T 6 B AT X B 0 A AR (R A
31(v) TIARE -

i) RKRZZBEZAFEA+=8 ' AR27EBL
#% 59,992,000 ik # T 7N & B &
M 1TFEEAR018B T - BRERT
AREBEM K& Apollo &k B EE 2 578
AHmBETEZE—F BREZE
BHAE—F -
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32. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

At the Acquisition completion of Apollo Sub-Group, the
Company issued 320,000,000 share options to certain
consultants to Apollo Sub-Group for nil consideration
at an exercise price of HK$0.25 per share as incentive
of their contribution to the development of the
Acquisition completion. The vesting date of the share
options to consultants of Apollo Sub-Group is one year
from the date of grant.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2009 had
exercise price of HK$0.18 to HK$0.25 and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 4.4 years.

HE-TTAE+-A=+-BLEE

32. URMAERZEERM &)

BE_EENF+-A=T—-RLEFEHE)

Bt :

(ii)

(iii)

£ 55 Ak W B8 Apolloff B &£ B 15 - &
A A) 3 17320,000,000 i A% & % F
Apollo S BB 1T E A0.258 T -
AstEE MY TR E 2 BB - B
REZFHAE—F -

R-FEAET-A=+—RHAS]
(R Z T (2 50.18 0,253 7
EMBEFHRB A OTERAA4F -

(iv) The valuation of the share options was carried out (iv) BERECWIB L EES EKT A
by an independent professional qualified valuer. The TEE - BRER-_ZZNF+=A
fair values of the share options granted during the =+ —AZATFERZEBEAXBRESE
year ended 31 December 2009 were calculated using BRABT TEEREATERFE
the binomial model. The inputs into model were as RAzERET :
follows:

At 13 July

2009

Business consultants of RZZETNF
the Group AEEEKERD +A+=H
Expected volatility TEHRR i 129.36%
Risk free rate =R R IR 2 FI = 0.39%
Expected life (Years) TEEATTEEA(5) 2
Expected dividend yield TEERRR B K 0%
At 25 November

2009

Consultants of RZZTTNF
Apollo Sub-Group Apollo [ B & EFEM +—HA=+HH
Expected volatility TEHRR i 79.09%
Risk free rate ERR IR 2 FI=E 1.54%
Expected life (Years) TEEATTEEA(5) 5
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B & 0%

The underlying expected volatility was determined JEHPRIE S22 Z B8 EEF - REHITFEHET
B HHRRETREE_BEXEREEER
NETFE - REEHEREZ A FERILELSH

by reference to historical data, calculated based on
expected life of share options. Expectations of early
exercise were incorporated in the binomial model. No
special features pertinent to the options granted were
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
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32. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

Notes:

(iv)

(b)

(Continued)

The share-based payment expenses attributable to
business consultants of the Group and consultants of
Apollo Sub-Group were approximately HK$2,863,000
and HK$36,274,000 respectively. In total,
approximately HK$39,137,000 of share-based payment
expense has been recognised in profit or loss for
the year (2008: nil). The corresponding amount of
which has been credited to share option reserve. No
liabilities were recognised due to share-based payment
transactions.

The subsidiary

On 17 August 2009, Syne International Company
Limited (“Syne"”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group, signed a deed of option (the Option
Deed) with a director of Syne (the Syne Director)
in order to give incentive to him towards the
contribution to Syne. In consideration of HK$100
paid the Syne Director, Syne grants to and
in favour of the Syne Director an option (the
“Option”) which may be exercised by the Syne
Director subject to the terms and conditions
of the Option Deed by a notice in writing to
be given by the Syne Director to Syne. If the
Syne Director exercised the Option, he shall
subscribe 9,800 new shares of HK$1 each in the
issued share capital of Syne for an aggregate
consideration of HK$9,800.

The Option shall only become exercisable by the
Syne Director when the Group has successfully
developed a hybrid bus with fuel efficiency
by not less than 25%. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the development of
hybrid bus accessories are still in preliminary
stage as at 31 December 2009. The fair value of
the Option is insignificant and accordingly, it is
not accounted for in the financial statements.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

32. URMAERZEERM &)

BE_EENF+-A=T—-RLEFEHE)

wisz :

(iv) (%)

LARR D B BB S AT F A S B ¥R B
KApolloffBEEER 2 ERAS A A
2,863,000 Jt 36,274,000/ T °
RIEM T * 2009 F X RIE R ARG
AEMSEAA39,137,00087T(=
TT)N\F &) - HEEBRBEAERE
FERTREABE - AARD B
ERIMRGITREELEFMARE -

(b) HMIEBRF

R=ZFEZEAFNA++LAH"
(AABZEKNBAR)EERES
FEEERE - LUREN LB RE1E T
B o BXAELA 1008 T 2 REE T
RERETRAEES  BEESEA
IR AR B 2 55 A 2 (R A A B 7 T 5
fElE - BERBREEERTEEEBR
7 - AR 88 9,800 AR B A A 1.00
BT BREEEBITZRE

B/49,800/8 7T °

= AR RE R Th T 2 R B A 25% MR
FRAEZREHHNELE
=T RRITEERRE - REARQ
AESER  BREDESLRE
R-BENFt_A=1+—HEE
VIR - Bt - BRABAEY T
BRENRNFERTEREEER

ART -
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32. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

33.

Year Ended 31 December 2008

No share options under the Scheme were outstanding

at the beginning or at the end of the last financial

year, and no share options under the Scheme were

granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the last

financial year.

RESERVES

Group

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes

in equity for reserves of the Group on pages 42.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
PRC enterprise reserve fund appropriated from
retained profits.

Share premium

The share premium represents the premium
arising from the issue of shares, net of issuing
expenses.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus was arose from the
capital reorganisation as stated in note 31(iii)
and the excess of the carrying value of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued.

32.

33.

RE-FEAF+-A=+-BLFE

IR AER 2 ESHRM )

HE_ZZN\E+-A=t+—-HLEE
RAFRERE NS R - EREHBRE
Bl BRERITR  MRAMBFEE
TERBEH BRI ZBREER
o 170 - FEHERR -

(i) EXGEE

BRI AR SN EENTE
CEREHES -

(i) BeEE
Bt at (B o BTN (B E
TITXH -

(iii) BEHRE

BEHARBRTIAFHRH L3 2
EAEMRRWENBARZEE
BRARBDETRAZETBEL
SREREMX -
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33.

BHE_ZZNE+_A=1+—HILEE

RESERVES (Continued) 33. REE)
Company PN
Retained
Capital Convertible profits/
Share redemption Contributed ~ bonds equity Other  Shareoption  [Accumulated
premium Teserve surplus reserve Teserve Teserve losses) Total
} Wﬁ@ﬁ% %ﬁﬁﬂ/
RERE  E4BORE RdER RERR HfhGf BREGR (BitEE) ait
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK8 000
At 1 January 2008 1=5%/\&-A-H 9,24 6,203 100,635 - — - 6,615 209,707
Placing of new shares Kb

(note 31 (i) 28380 - - - - - - 28380
Share issue expense BOEGEL: (973) - - - - - - 973)
Transaction within owners ~ REEAZRS 740 = = = = = = 277401
Profit for the year REEH - - - - - - 27 27
Total comprehensive income  AE2EREHS

for the year - - - - - - 267 27
At 31 December 2008 R-5BNE125

Sisk 123661 6,203 100,635 - - - 6,882 237,381
At 1 January 2009 R-E30E-A-H 123661 6,203 100,635 - - - 6,882 237,381
Capital reorganisation EREH (Wit

(note 311i) (123,661) - 161,797 - - - - 38136
[ssue of new shares upon

open offer (note 31/iv)) 57,205 - - - - - - 57,205
Share issue expenses Ri%HER (i

[note 31 (i) 31fiy) (1,589 - - - - - - (1,569)
Issue of share options to HIERETEEEE

business consutants of the B (72)

Group (note 32) - - - - - 2,863 - 2,863
Issue of consideration shares

(note 31(vi) 1,125,418 - - - - - = 1125418
[ssue of commission shares

(note 31/l 450,76 - - - - - - 450,765
Issue of convertible bonds

[note 29) - - - 3,886,118 - - - 3886118
Issue of share options to

consultants of Apollo Sub-

Group (note 32) 7) - - - - - 36,274 - 3,274
Share repurchased and RAEEREAD

pending for cancelation (Wetstiy)

(note 31{vii) - - - - 81,970) - - (81,970)
Transaction within owners ~ EEEALRS 1,508,138 = 161,797 3,886,118 (81,970) 39,137 = 5,513,200
Loss for the year FEEER - - - - - - (111,600) (111,600]
Total comprehensive income  AE2EREAR

for the year - - - - - = (111,600) (111,600)

R=ZBnET2R
At 31 December 2009 =t-A 1,631,799 6,203 262,432 3,886,118 (81,970) 39,137 (104,718) 5,639,001

SN 28 &l Y iR
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION

HE-TTAE+-A=+-BLEE

34, ¥BEH/

On 25 November 2009, the Group acquired
the entire share capital of Apollo Precision.
The principal activities of Apollo Sub-Group are
manufacturing of equipment and turnkey production
lines for manufacturing of silicon based thin
film solar photovoltaic modules. The acquired
business contributed revenues of approximately
HK$315,292,000 and profit after tax of approximately
HK$37,908,000 to the Group for the period from 25

RZZZAF+—A=+HA K&
E U BE Apollo Precision & 2 B 31T
PN ApolloMﬂ‘EElZIg%ﬁk%%ﬁ
Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ% H KA 1 B AR &

HEZRBEER R-_TTNF+—A
:+£Eif7 Th&+=—A=+—H
IHEAR - W 2 ¥ AR K BRI
A#9315,292,000 7% 7t M Bk i 18 i F1 49
37,908,000 7T °

November 2009 to 31 December 2009.

Details of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as

follows:

Wi FEENBEFBOT

HK$'000
FET
Total purchase consideration, at fair value: BAFEGTZEEERE

— Issue of consideration shares — BITRERMD 1,128,209
— Issue of Convertible Bonds — BITRRRE S 6,666,627

— Issue of the commission shares to the — BFTHESBRO THBREA
introducing agent 451,560
8,246,396

Transaction costs incurred directly attributable to W SEEEEELH 2 EEATS
the Acquisition BN 4,146
Total consideration BRE 8,250,542
Fair value of net assets acquired W2 FEECNTE (367,589)
Goodwill S 7,882,953
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 34. X EDH)

The fair value of the consideration shares issued was
based on the published share price on the Acquisition
date at restricted stock discounts of 25% and 30%
for the first tranche consideration shares and the
second tranche consideration shares respectively,
with reference to the respective lock-up period.

The fair value of the commission shares issued was
based on the published share price on the Acquisition
date. The commission shares vested on the date of

grant and without lock-up period.

The basis of the fair value calculation of Convertible

Bonds is set out in note 29.

The assets and liabilities arising from the Acquisition

are as follows:

BERITREBRNDZATFERBKEER
BHzETERERE  BRHRERD
K —HERE R 2 BIIR L E R HI A 17
& 25% K% 30% °

BETREROD A TFERBKREER
AMZENNERESE - AEBRORE
HEMEBI S ELEED -

AR ES AT EE 2 AR LR
29

WESHELCEERAGBAT

Carrying

Fair value amount

AFE BREE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB &R 2,257 2,257

Intangible assets mIEE 459,782 191,186

Inventories 7E 395,186 168,168

Tax recoverable AR B IR 9,763 9,763

Trade and other receivables B 5 R EH A pE MR IA 35,953 35,9183

Deposits and prepayments e RIENFUE 724 724

Pledged bank deposits BRI TIE 3,658 3,658

Cash and bank balances e MRITHET 29,892 29,892

Trade and other payables B 5 R E A FER IR (23,311) (23,311)

Bills payable AN T (143) (143)

Deposits and accruals meRETER (100,860) (100,860)

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NGBS NG (3,330) (3,330)

Amount due to a related company FESRAE R R FUA (3) (3)
Deposits received from a related B EEAARE

company (317,853) (317,853)

Tax payable e IE (222) (222)

Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE (123,904) —

Net assets acquired A EEE 367,589 (4,121)

HK$'000

FET

Cash and bank balances acquired Ue g 2 & MIRTTEETT 29,892
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Had the combination taken place on 1 January 2009,
the revenue and the net profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2009 would have been
approximately HK$718,363,000 and approximately
HK$81,400,000 respectively. These pro forma
information are for illustrative purposes only and are
not necessarily an indication of revenue and result of
operation of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the Acquisition been completed on 1
January 2009, nor they intended to be a projection of
future results.

The initial consideration is subject to adjustment
depending on the financial performance of Apollo
Sub-Group and the details of which have been set out
in the circular for the Acquisition of Apollo Sub-Group
dated 29 October 2009 (the “ VSA Circular”).

As disclosed in the VSA Circular, if the actual
profit after income tax of Apollo Sub-Group for
the period from 1 August 2009 to 30 June 2010 is
less than US$55,000,000 (or its equivalent in other
currency at agreed exchange rate), the aggregate
principal amount of the second tranche Convertible
Bonds shall be reduced to the excess of initial
purchase consideration over the adjusted purchase
consideration determined.

34.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

E¥Xett®)

HEHER-_TThF-A—H#EL
ApolofiBEBBE_TTNF+_H
=+ —BLEFEZRARMARE D RIL
/%$718,363,0007% 7T 5 81,400,000 7T °
ZEEHEERHEHRGHA A TARTRKE
FEHER-_ZZNF A BRKESE
BEERBIRGZBARKERE T
FRBREEZTES -

NHERERTF Apollo B R B 2 %K
BATHE  BRAABERAREARZ
ZZNF+ A+ BUEE Apollo
BEREmN#EZBK(GERENRER
A e

WMEETERNRBBERTEE - M
Apollo i BEER —ZTZNE/N\A—H
E_ET-ZTFEANA=ZTHIHHEZER
B PR 45 T 12 & A1 2> 50 55,000,000 % 7T
(B EEXAE HMEBEES
) FPAmRES A BER
BOEYTHBERBHRBETE CKHE
BEREBZH -
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35. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTERESTS IN 35. HEME QA zkAEzm

SUBSIDIARIES
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEME A B 2 s (A A )
(note (i) 27,097 —
Loss on partial disposal of equity D HEWNB A R IR AERS 2
interest in a subsidiary (note (ii)) 18 (BT (1) (110,284) —
Net loss on disposal of equity HEWB AR RAER
interests in subsidiaries HEE (83,187) —

()  On 20 May 2009, the Group entered into the (i)

equity transfer agreement with independent
third parties to dispose of its entire interest in
one of its subsidiaries, RBI Industries (Shenzhen)
Limited, to independent third parties at a cash
consideration of RMB63,800,000 (equivalent to
HK$71,685,000). The transaction was completed
in August 2009 and a gain on disposal of the
equity interest in a subsidiary of HK$27,097,000
is recorded in the current year.

R-ZZAFHEA-1+H A&H
RBYFE=FEF RS EA
[ AR & X E A K % 63,800,000
Jt(% 171,685,000 7T ) [ 55
VE=ZAFEHEER—BWEBAR
ABEBEERINABRRAAIZEE
X RFGER _ZEZTAE/NA
SER  HENB QRS 2 e
27,097,000/ 7t 2 R & F E 7
EE °

HK$'000
TFET

Net assets disposed of: EHEZFEE
Property, plant and equipment VI~ BB R 48,507
Prepaid lease payments for land T TR AR ERIR 15,740
Deposits and accruals RekETER (3,760)
60,487
Reversal of exchange reserve upon disposal H & B eh o] BEE 3 A1 (13,451)
Reversal of capital reserve upon disposal HERBEERHE (6,269)
Transaction costs R G KA 3,821
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERB ARz WS 27,097

Total consideration — satisfied by cash BRE — LRI 71,685
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

35. DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

The proceeds from the disposal were received
on 22 January 2010.

On 4 September 2009 and 30 September 2009,
the Group entered into the disposal agreement
and the supplemental disposal agreement,
respectively, with an investment holding
company incorporated in BVl and owned by a
key management personnel of the Company,
to dispose of 49% of the issued share capital
of one of its subsidiaries, RBI Industries
Holdings Limited, at a cash consideration of
HK$71,000,000. The transaction was completed
in November 2009 and loss on disposal of the
equity interest in a subsidiary of approximately
HK$110,284,000 is recorded in the current year.

36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year, amortisation of intangible assets
of HK$4,807,000 (2008: Nil) has been capitalised
to inventories.

December 2009,
the Group issued approximately 1,116,614,000

During the year ended 31

consideration shares, 318,000,000 commission
shares and the Convertible Bonds in the
aggregate fair values of HK$8,246,396,000 as
part of the consideration for the acquisition of
Apollo Sub-Group.

During the year, the Group disposed of its entire
interest in one of its subsidiaries, RBI Industries
(Shenzhen) Limited, to independent third parties
at a cash consideration of RMB63,800,000
(equivalent to HK$71,685,000). The transaction
was completed in August 2009 and the total
consideration was recorded as other receivables.

RE-FEAF+-A=+-BLFE

35. HENBARIZRAER (&)

(ii)

HEMBSHRBEENR _Z—ZTF—A
oy = 12

RZZBEZNFNARBE=ZZE
NENALA=Z+H AEER—MHA
RAZ EEEREREREBREKX
BERN 2 IREERAR - DRI%
A—MHEEERREEMAER -
A8 & {2 71,000,000 % 7 H &
H — [ Kf B 2 "]RBI Industries
Holdings Limited 49% 2 B 31T
&R - RBERFRNTEH + HEM
JB A E s 2 B5184Y 110,284,000
BITERAFESIR

36. TEHHRERSH

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

RARFEE EFEE #
4,807,000 8 TL(ZEENGF : £)
BERMLERE -

RBEZZZNF+A=1—
HIEFE - /R YEE Apollo fff &
SEREzZ—#H  AEEHD %
17 #91,116,614,0001% (B & 17 -
318,000,000 1T & X n 2 AJ 2
& &% 48 A F {8 5 8,246,396,000
PETT °

BE_ZTNF+_A=+—8 "
AEEBHEEMBAR — A%
BEXRIDAERAAZHMN =R
BYF=F UNESEBAREK
63,800,000 (18 % 7 71,685,000
BIL)  WRIRAFETHKEE
BRAREFREMELGIEA °
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_ZTNF+_A=+—HLLFE

37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 7. BREHNRERZH

Group REE
At 31 December 2009, the total future minimum lease REZZFEZNFTHA=+—8 " #BRT
payments under non-cancellable operating leases I BB PR 2 2 3 R AE R Al U AL

in respect of land and buildings are payable by the

Bz BEREHESAEDT ¢

Group as follows: i

&

%_

§

2009 2008 ?‘é

—gRhE —TTNF =

s

HK$’000 HK$'000 §

FET FEIT B

5
Within one year —EW 2,448 880
In the second to fifth year inclusive “EhF(BREEEMRT) 913 1,372
3,361 2,252

The Group leases a number of properties and
warehouse under operating leases. The leases run for
an initial period of 6 months to 3 years, with an option
to renew the lease and renegotiated the terms at the
expiry dates or at date or at dates as mutually agreed
between the Group and the respective landlords.
None of the leases include contingent rental.

Company

The Company did not have any significant operating
lease commitments and arrangements at 31
December 2009 (2008: Nil).

AEERBELEHOBEES T L g
FoRERO—BRONTREANEAZ=
FARERIHBEXAEENMBRART
SETRBZ BEBHEOMENER 5K
e ZEHOMAEEXAEE -

KT

R-ZFFAF+A=1t—8 " &R
I?ﬂﬂfﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%@%@%(:%ﬁg/\i :
&) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009 BHE_ZTTNEF+-_A=+—HILLFE
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BARKIE
Group KEHE
2009 2008
—BENE —ZETN\EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Capital expenditure in respect of B E A B RIER
the acquisition of property, plant ZIBEME BB
and equipment contracted but not HEEAURZ
provided for 1,856 994
The Company did not have any significant capital REZZBEZNEFEF+_A=+—H  KQ7F
commitments at 31 December 2009 (2008: Nil). WEEMEBAERNEE(ZZTE)\F
') o
39. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 39. IBERERN

At 31 December 2008,
executed guarantees amounting to approximately
HK$141,500,000 with respect to general banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the

the Company has

Company. Under the guarantees, the Company would
be liable to pay the bank if the bank is unable to
recover the loan. At the reporting date, no provision
for the Company’'s obligation under the guarantee
contract has been made as the directors considered
that it was not probable that the repayment of the
loan would be in default.

All the guarantees were released during the year
ended 31 December 2009 and no guarantees were
outstanding at 31 December 2009.

RZZEENF+_A=+—H &AAQ
AAARAETHEBARER 2 — K
BITER MBTELQAERLY
141,500,000 8 7T ° RIFER + B RIT
R EIEF - AR R EREMRITE
NRREE - -REFER  ARESE
REAE B A EFREE - O R
BEENET 2 AR B AR IELERE

BE-PBAET-A=+—HL F
BRTHAE 2 BB RRA EMRT

ERREIH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

40. EXBEERS

(a) FREFEFHREEMEYFRZR

detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, 2 REEERIN » AN B R E S T
the Group had the following significant ATEARRS :
transactions with related parties.
2009 2008
—EEAFE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Notes FEx FET
Sales SHE #E
— turnkey production lines  — A THELEER (i) 315,292 —
— mould — RA (ii) 526 —
Management fee income EERBILA (ii) 45 =
Design fee income FETEBWA (ii) 26 =
Services fee expense Pk 7% & FA B 2 (ifi) 235 =
Proceeds from partial disposal #f5 EEHEA A
of equity interest in a & 7R e 25 P15 7B
subsidiary (iv) 71,000 —

(ii)

(iii)

The sales of turnkey production lines were
made between Apollo Sub-Group and A
$8F%, a company which is 50% held by
the Former Beneficiary Shareholder of
Apollo Precision, who is also a close family
member of the Former Director of Apollo
Precision. The Former Director is another
former beneficiary shareholder of Apollo
Precision.

The
management fee income and design fee

revenue from sales of mould,

income were derived from a company
which is owned and controlled by a
member of key management personnel of
the Group.

The service fee was charged by a company
which is wholly and beneficially owned by
a former director of the Company.

(i) ##E5EEE E KR TEApollo
Bt 28 & B B2 AP 88 5 (— [ B
Apollo Precision Al %z A f%
H (% 78 A& Apollo Precision
AIESE 28 ) FB50% %
mZAR)ZEHEE - fiIES
& Apollo Precision® — %
Al X ARRER ©

(i) W—FHArAEETIRERE
B R R AE S 2 2 B BRE
ZEEHEWRA H EEBI
ARBRFTEHRA -

(i) ARFER A —EHBARAA
EXZ2ENEalA AR
S e
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

(iv)

On 4 September 2009 and 30 September
2009, the Group entered into the
disposal agreement and the supplemental
disposal agreement, respectively,
with an investment holding company
incorporated in BVl and owned by a
key management of the Company, to
dispose of 49% of the issued share
capital of one of its subsidiaries, RBI
Industries Holdings Limited, at a cash
consideration of HK$71,000,000. The
transaction was completed in November
2009 and loss on disposal of the equity
interest in a subsidiary of approximately
HK$110,284,000 is recorded in the current
year.

At 31
were secured by pledged bank deposits
of approximately HK$864,000 (2008:
nil) (note 25), corporate guarantees of

December 2009, bills payable

approximately HK$56,787,000 (equivalent
to RMB50,000,000) (2008: nil) provided
jointly by GS-Solar (Fujian) and EMM &KX
ZEFREBERAR("EXE").

GS-Solar (Fujian) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the former ultimately holding
company of Apollo Precision. A director of
GS-Solar (Fujian) is the Former Beneficiary
Shareholder of Apollo Precision and is
a close family member of the Former
Director of Apollo Precision.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

40. EXBERZ (#)

(a) (#&)

(ivi RZZEZAFAAMAR=
ZETNFNAA=TH  &&
BR-—FARARZEREE
BRARRBREZESMKL

ZREER AT - DRIERE]
—DHEARRLERRES

A - JAER & (& 71,000,000
BATHEE —FWE QA
RBI Industries Holdings
Limited 49% 2 BE % 17 &
Ko RFERFATK -
EMBEAAERZERLN
110,284,000 7% 7T 2 X A F
JEFIER ©

v, RZEZENF+ZA=1+—
B ENZENERKIFERT
17 3% #49864,0007% (= &
TNFE: E)ME25) UK
BEHAERERMTE A
BEFRIEERARA(TE£X
51 HERE 2 REERLD
56,787,000% TL(Z N A K
# 50,000,000 T) (= ZF )\
F o Em)BER o

& 12 # A B R AApollo
Precision A & & £ iz A~ A
ZEEWB AR BED
A EER — B ESF BApollo
Precision Z Bl &%z ARRER -
7K % Apollo Precision Bl &
Evd it
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(Continued)

An equity owner holding 80% equity
interest of & AF% is the Former Beneficiary
Shareholder of Apollo Precision and a close
family member of the Former Director
of Apollo Precision. This Former Director
of Apollo Precision is also a director and
equity owner holding 10% equity interest

of ®KF5.

The bills payable were also guaranteed by
personal guarantees given by the Former
Beneficiary Shareholder and the Former
Director of Apollo Precision. None of the
guarantees were utilised at 31 December
2009 (2008: nil).

During the year, the Group advanced a
term loan of HK$3,000,000 to Hui Ka
Wah, Ronnie, the chief financial officer
of the Group. The balance is unsecured,
interest bearing at 2.5% pre annum and is
repayable on 9 September 2010.

Disclosure pursuant to section 161B of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set
out in note 22. There was no amounts due
and unpaid nor any provision made against
the interest or principal amount of the loan
at 31 December 2009 (2008: Nil).

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the above transactions were conducted

in accordance with the terms mutually agreed

between the Group and the counter parties.

On 25 November 2009, all the shares of Apollo
Precision were acquired by the Company. GS-
Solar (Fujian), €A% and 885 ceased to be
the related parties of the Group.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

40. EXBERZ (#)

(a (&
) (#&)

A& KE80%MKk & &
w2 = %A A ABApollo
Precision Z Bl & 25 ARRER -
B & Apollo Precision 8l &
£ 75 - Apollo Precision
hEAMEENREAGZE
ERFESAB10% S22
EREBA o

&+ Z LA Apollo Precision
LA m ARRRAIESE
B2 B AEREER - R
EEANE+-_A=+—8 "
WEBAEAER(ZZEEN
G fm)o

(i) RAEE  KN&EBE R HTBE
RETREDNEHERK
3,000,00078 JT ° 4 4 £ 3K
o BmEFE25%ET B &
HAR-—_Z—ZEFNANLBE
;‘E °

RIEEBQRIEHFE161B
EER 2 WBENMHE22
R=ZZEZNF+=ZA=+—
B - ST REH B KRR
B ONEHASKAEE
REMBECZZZT)N\F:
&) o

ARFEERE - LRRF RS
AR BT 5 1R 2
7 -

R-ZEZAF+—AZ+THRA"
Appollo Precision Z & 3 i 5
RAREE - BEHAAER X
BRAPRETHEAAEE ZHAEA
+ o
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

40. EXBERZ (#)

(b) Key management personnel remmuneration (b) FEEEEAEZHS
Key management of the Group are members of REBECFZEBEREEZRNE
the board of directors, as well as members of MAREREKE - TEEEEN
the “management board” of the Company. Key BEZMEBEATER !

management personnel remuneration includes

the following expenses:

2009 2008
it 55 1%: - A
HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Short term employee benefits: EHESRT
— Salaries, allowances and — KF 2R R FE

benefit-in-kind 5,234 8,660
— Performance related incentive — BRITERRES

payments 1,641 2,524
Post employment benefit: BRI R
— Contributions to retirement — RIREFIFT 8 2 5K

benefits schemes 194 226

7,069 11,410
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(i)

In consideration of GS-Solar (Cayman) Company
Limited (the “Security Agent”) and the other
holders (collectively the “Secured Parties”) of
the Convertible Bonds agreeing to accept the
Convertible Bonds issued under the instrument
executed by the way of a deed poll constituting
the Convertible Bonds (the “Instrument”) as
partial satisfaction of the consideration by the
Company pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the Acquisition (note
34), the Company covenanted with GS-Solar
(Cayman) Company Limited (as security agent
for and on behalf of the Secured Parties)
to discharge the obligations incurred by the
Company on their due date in accordance with
their respective terms.

Upon the signing of the share pledge deed
(the “Deed”) by the Company and the Security
Agent, the Company charged the shares in
the share capital of Apollo Precision (the
“Shares”) and other related assets, including
all dividends, interest and other monies payable
at any time in respect of the Shares and all
other rights, benefits, allotments, accretions,
offers, advantages and proceeds in respect of
accruing or made or arising or derived from
the Shares held by, to the order or on behalf
of the Company at any time (collectively the
“Securities”), as the legal and beneficial owner
and by way of first fixed charge in favour of the
Security Agent (for itself and on behalf of the
other Secured Parties) as a continuing security
for the due and punctual performance by the
Company of all obligations of the Company
contained in the Instrument and the Convertible
Bonds.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default
as described in the Deed below, the Security
Agent may, without notice to the Company or
prior authorisation from any court, in its absolute
discretion:

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

41. EEEA

(i)  EER GS-Solar (Cayman) Company
Limited ([ R K IE A 1) & 7] #
K& 5 ka8 A ER
7)) B EEMRE AT ERZES
BUBKIBERES 2 XE(X
BDMBITZAIRKRES  (ER
RAArRIBBEEANKRESZTEZER
W ahn XN 2 KRB FE34) -
X /A &l [ GS-Solar (Cayman)
Company Limited ({ER¥ER A Z
BRREBAVKRERERT)EHR
BAEBIESK A BITEHEITAR A

A2 BT -

RARRRERRBAZEZERNE
BEHOTRZLH )% ARAIAE
—BEEFRAR RERKEA
(BEAFRREREMERE)AZ
BARBARRR C HIEE2HRK
HRENEMSBEEASEERE RS
#AB AR Apollo Precision f& s/
A 2RO (IRM ) R EH A
BE - BRENEAEBRD
ZETERRE - F 8 REAS
RGP R - BENEHRES
OTEZ B EMER - Flax - D
B~ e B4 - 7R R
BIRED  EREARAIHER
B 1T AR Bl U R AT R AR (B 5
FTEl 2 B B 2 FEIRE -

RBEEZRNME 2 ENEFR - &
RREACEHABMNARFRBA
RS ERDERERIEZ TR TR

2HEBRE

0 8 B S O 28 & Y &l BE
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

(a)

secure and perfect its title to all or any part
of the Shares and related assets (including
transferring the Securities into the name of
the Security Agent or its nominees);

enforce all or any part of the Securities
and take possession of and hold, sell, or
otherwise dispose of all or any part of the
Securities; and

whether or not it has appointed a receiver,
exercise all or any of the powers,
authorisations and discretions conferred
by this Deed on any receiver or otherwise
conferred by law on mortgages or
receivers.

Event of defaults including the following events:

(1

Default: a default is made by the Company
in the performance or observance of any
covenant, condition or provision contained
in the Instrument or in the Convertible
Bonds and on its part to be performed or
observed and such default continues for
the period of 14 days next following the
service by any Secured Parties on the
Company of notice specifying brief details
of such default and requiring such default
to be remedied; or

Dissolution of the Company and disposals:
a resolution is passed or an order of a
court of competent jurisdiction is made
that the Company or any subsidiary which
its total assets represent 20% or more of
the total assets of the Group (the “Major
Subsidiary”) of the Company be wound up
or dissolved or the Company or a Major
Subsidiary of the Company disposes of
all or substantially all of its assets (other
than as permitted in the Instrument or this
condition or for the purposes of or pursuant
to and followed by a consolidation,
amalgamation, merger or reorganisation,
the terms of which shall have previously
been approved in writing by an ordinary
resolution of Secured Parties); or

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

41. EEEA @)

(i)

(%)

(a)

RE M EEENME HEM
Mo RABEE(RREE
EREZERNEASIEN
BANBT)Z BB

58 ¥ 1T 2 BB S AR AR R
EURER - FE - HEX
A 75 5 38 & 8B 5k (1]
BORE - R

TwmERREMERZRA -
TTEARZQME T I8 EE
WASERE TRBIME
BWA 2 2BBAE(IHE T -
BN EBRE -

EBHOFEHBEATEN

(1)

B ARAIREITHEST
HIBBITEBST 2 XEHA]
IR SRR P 8L 2 AT A 3258
RESHRERESR  MBH
BN EMERT RAARRR]
LHBANERERENZH
BB I B SKAEH A& 14
AHRDARE - %

ARRREBREHE  FRIEX
BRI EFFRIBZ G R
FRREEEBERT LR
REBERNEERAMEZE
& RO AfHEMA K
RABBREFRIAEE A
B ZERBSARARK
ARRMEMBEEERNEE
BEE20%HALEZHEBA
A EZ2WMBRARDETTE
RAMHMIRVSTARARA
REAETEMBRARHERH
KA EE + K
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

(3)

Encumbrances: an encumbrancer takes
possession or a receiver is appointed of
the whole or a material part of the assets
or undertaking of the Company or any
Major Subsidiary of the Company; or

Distress etc.: a distress, execution or
seizure before judgement is levied or
enforced upon or sued out against a
material part of the assets or undertaking
or property of the Company or any Major
Subsidiary of the Company and is not
discharged within seven days thereof; or

Trading suspension and delisting: if the
shares of the Company are suspended
by the Stock Exchange for a period of
30 consecutive trading days or listing of
the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange are being revoked or withdrawn;
or

Insufficient share capital: if there is not
a sufficient number of shares of the
Company available for the fulfilment of the
obligations regarding the conversion of the
Convertible Bonds;

Insolvency: the Company or any Major
Subsidiaries of the Company becomes
insolvent or is unable to pay its debts as
they mature or applies for or consents
to the appointment of any administrator,
liguidator or receiver of the whole or any
material part of its undertaking, property,
assets or revenues or enters into a general
assignment or compromise with or for the
benefit of its creditors;

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

41. EEEA @)

(i)

(%)

(3)

ERAE: ERAEAERE
IVERZBRABZRTEENRN
NEHEEAEERE QA
ZEMEAKRILPEERE
%K

HHSE  ARAHEEM
TEMBRARZABNEE
KRB Y ER HR AT ZH]
Be HMISTHERBMSAT
TR FI AT ERIIT
BERtHALERD ;3

EEEBERRE  HARTA
ZBRMMI0EEER S AE
B R E R B B RSO
RN A N
™o

BRATRE - AR EAE R
WEB ZBROHAIHETER
R ES 2 BT

WE - NRFSRERMEEN
BARWERENEESH
B KFFXAREREE
MM ERIDOER
M BEIBAZEEM
BEA - BEASIEREAN
S EREASBERANH
£ &) M 2 M 8 M AR

2 .
EE A
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

(8)  Winding-up: proceedings shall have been
initiated against the Company or any
Major Subsidiaries of the Company under
any applicable bankruptcy, winding up,
reorganisation or insolvency law, and such
proceedings shall not have been stayed
within 2 months from the date of service of
the initiation of such proceedings with the
Company or any of the Major Subsidiaries
of the Company; or

(9) Cross-default: any other debentures,
bonds, notes or other instruments
of indebtedness or any other loan
indebtedness (“Indebtedness”) of the
Company and any Major Subsidiary of the
Company or any securities convertible
into or exchangeable for shares (“Equity-
Linked Securities”) of the Company and
any Major Subsidiary of the Company
become prematurely repayable following
a default in respect of the terms thereof
which shall not have been remedied, or the
Company or any Major Subsidiary of the
Company defaults in the repayment of the
Indebtedness or Equity Linked Securities at
the maturity thereof or at the expiration of
any applicable grace period thereof, or any
guarantee of or indemnity in respect of any
Indebtedness or Equity Linked Securities of
others given by the Company or any Major
Subsidiary of the Company shall not be
honoured when due and called upon.

At 31 December 2009, the Group had total
banking facilities amounted to HK$55,200,000
(2008: HK$141,500,000). None of the banking
facilities was utilised at 31 December 2009
(2008: None). These banking facilities were
secured by certain leasehold land (note 16)
and buildings (note 15) held by the Group
and corporate guarantees provided by certain
subsidiaries and the Company.

(iii) Bank deposits amounted to approximately

HK$864,000 (2008: nil) were pledged to secure
the Group’s bills payable (note 25).

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

41. EEEA @)
(i (%)

8) AR RECMBERRE -
R BERNENEERED
HARAFEEEMEZENE
NEREAERF - M&F
REFILENRAARFREE
MEXEMBRRRESBRE
FEHERBEARNDAR
K

9 XRNED: ARRRHEDM
TEMBRARZEFMEME
BE B REIHEME
X R E M E R E
(MEH DA kR A
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

42.1 Category of financial assets and liabilities

The Group is exposed to financial risks through
its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk
(including currency risk, interest risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group's headquarters, in close co-operation with
the board of directors. The overall objectives in
managing financial risks focus on securing the
Group’s short to medium term cash flows by
minimising its exposure to financial markets.
Long term financial investments are managed
to generate lasting returns with acceptable risk
levels.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage
in the trading of financial instruments for
speculative purposes. The Group's senior
management works under the policies approved
by the board of directors. It identifies ways
to access financial markets and monitors the
Group's financial risk exposures. Regular reports
are provided to the board of directors.

HE-TTAF+-A=+-BLEE

42. BF 7% R by B I
421 cREEREEER

AEBZEBEFLEBRELENE
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BEXERKFEA - EBRRPPHER
BIAELERALR -

SEREEE ST ARSI
AEBEZHR SESREEAR
RIBEFSREZBRET  HA
TEASBM ST AREEASE
Bz HBRAR - ZEERRHTER
BERESE o

28 & Y e

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYI0S 01104V

FHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

AR



158

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB H et

ARG RERAMTERBR AR

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

=
7

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 =22 ji % £ 3§ &Eg

For the year ended 31 December 2009

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.1 Category of financial assets and liabilities

(Continued)

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

The carrying amounts presented in the

consolidated statements of financial position

related to the following categories of financial

assets and financial liabilities.

42. BIEERERE &)

421 RIEEREEERN(E)

AR KRERZ EEELE TS
REERTRAGBENEH -

Group TEE
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZET)N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets ERIEE
Loans and receivables &R R E W R IE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b fE WA 211,530 52,341
Bills receivable e 3,674 2,486
Pledged bank deposits BEEBIRITER 864 —
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITHET 153,637 51,770
Financial assets at fair value RAFEIIRAERR
through profit or loss BEEzeMERE
— listed equity securities held — BBEBS2zLEm
for trading B EH 3,806 —
373,411 106,597
Financial liabilities TRAaf
Financial liabilities measured A ENBEKAE
at amortised costs &
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E b FIE 55,085 24,431
Bills payable JERTRIE 711 —
Accruals fEEtE 28,554 13,690
Convertible bonds AR ES 2,802,885 —
2,887,235 38,121
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RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. MIERABRERE &)
(Continued)
42.1 Category of financial assets and liabilities 421 tREEREBBER(ZE)
(Continued)
Company VAN |
2009

2008

—2BAE —TI)\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables B R EWFRIE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E O] 73,505 169,807
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTHET 669 4
74,174 169,811
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial liabilities measured at £ RIS &L
amortised costs ARG E
Accruals RE-= 1,698 64
Convertible bonds AR ES 2,802,885 —

2,804,583

64
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.2 Foreign currency risk

(i)

Transactions in foreign currencies and
the Group’s risk management policies

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group's exposures to currency risk arise
from its overseas sales and purchases,
which are primarily denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB") and United Stated
Dollars (“US$"). These are not the
functional currencies of the Group entities
(other than those entities operating in
the PRC or the USA) to which these
transactions relate. As HK$ is pegged to
USS$, accordingly the Group does not have
any significant exposure to risk resulting
from changes in US$ exchange rates.

The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposure regularly. No hedging or other
alternatives have been implemented during
the year.

The polices to manage foreign currency
risk have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to be
effective.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

42. BIEERERE &)

42.2 SNER B
(i) HNEXZRAEFBZEABRE
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SNERBIERRNEXREHE
HERMTAEZAFEXAR
BeRbR RS AR - KN
SEAEZINERRKEHE
FERARBIARE DR
Ea([ET]) BEMZ B
HERBE - WEHEBIIF
BRALERZZAKEER
(BR T ABLE R AP B KB Ko SR B
LECER)ZINEEY - &
KB TTERITAMNE - BURE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.2 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(ii)

Summary of exposure

Foreign currency denominated financial
assets and liabilities, translated into Hong

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. BIEERERE &)

42.2 HSMERE KR ()
(ii) RIEEEHIE
BT E R E AT 2 B
INESTTEZEREERARE

Kong dollars at the closing rates, are as LU
follows:
2009 2008
—EZAF —ZTENF
Us$ RMB US$ RMB
ESpr AR ETT AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEIT FHEIT
Trade and other B 5 R HAFEK
receivables FNIE 34,887 72,046 51,727 —
Bills receivable fEN =45 3,674 - 2,486 =
Cash and bank balances ¥ 4& RiR{T451F 86,901 1,417 43,184 2,101
Trade and other B 5 R EHAFER
payables FRIA — — (61) (6,238)
Gross exposure arising CiERTRIEE
from recognised S (BE)ITE
financial assets/ HEIERR
(liabilities) 125,362 73,463 97,336 (4,137)

The Company does not have any exposures
to foreign currencies at the reporting date.
(2008: Nil).

RHmEBH - ARABARE
FINERBAER(ZTT
NE &) o
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
42.2 Foreign currency risk (Continued)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (iii)
The following table illustrates the
sensitivity of the Group’s loss for the
year and equity in regards to a 5% (2008:
5%) appreciation in the Group entities,
functional currencies against the respective
foreign currencies. The 5% is the rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel
and represents management’'s best

assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group's
exposure to foreign currency risk at the
reporting date has been determined based
on the assumed percentage changes in
foreign currency exchange rates taking
place at the beginning of the financial year
and held constant throughout the year. All
variables are held constant.

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

42. BIEERERE &)

422 SNERBR(Z)

HBEETH

TREMAEE 2 FE BB
RS NEBERE 28
B A8 B8 S AT AE 3R
5% (ZZEZF/\F :5%)HAE
LHERE -MEEBEEAE
R B8 2 oINS B R I BT 5 AR
ZHEELE ALY REK
& 13 [ S [ 3R A] B & B
ZEIBEE -

WiE R AEEFAR
SV LI 2 BRI 5 17 T B
BONEEER BT S LR
B EADE A A B
HRRTETE - Fih A 2R
ZRIETE -

2009 2008
—EEAF —EENF
uss RMB US$ RMB
EY AR ETT AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Profit/(Loss) for the — ANEEHH
year and retained (E518) RIRE
earnings/accumlated &% Rzt
losses BB (5,234) (2,755) (4,060) 173

A 5% depreciation in the Group entities’
functional currencies against the respective
foreign currencies would have the same
magnitude on the Group’s profit/(loss) for
the year and equity but of opposite effect.

AEEERZEER LR
BERAINERES% R - A
SEzFERMN(BE)
LEZSBERFEZEARY

@,
=
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.2 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

These are the same method and
assumption used in preparing the
sensitivity analysis included in the financial
statements of the year ended 31 December
2008.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary
during the year depending on the volume
of overseas transactions. Nevertheless,
the analysis above is considered to be
representative of the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency risk.

42.3 Interest rate risk

(i)

(ii)

Exposures to interest rate risk and the
Group’s risk management policies

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The
Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from cash and bank balances. Other
financial assets and financial liabilities are
either non-interest bearing or bearing fixed
interest rate and measured at amortised
cost.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the
sensitivity of the Group's profit/(loss) for
the year and equity to a possible change
in interest rates of +/-1% (2008: +/-1%),
with effect from the beginning of the year.
The calculations are based on the Group's
amount of cash and bank balances during
the year. All other variables are held
constant.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. BIEERERE &)

422 SNERBR(Z)
(i) BREZHT(4E)

BETERBREREE
REBEE-_ZZNEFE+_-A
St BLEFEMBHRRZ
WRBRE LM PTER & A
Al o

EXERAERFRBMAT
R BFBIRBZNHE
E o A BT ERR
A J BR 7N 5% [ P ACHE 2 SN EE
R\ o

42.3 FZE

(i) FIEBBEERFKEEZE
BEERE

MERRBREERTIAZAYF
ExREREAT SR
RSz R - AEH
ZHERBREEREAE R
RITEF - B REER
TR B BT S HIREEF
RET B RIZEHRAGT & -

(i) BBEDH

TRELEFMNE KB
ZEERMN,(BR)R#ES
HHERAREER+/1% (ZF
TNF - +/-1%) BB 2 B
B - BRTEIUAEER
FRAZEERRTEFERE
o A EMAERRRE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.3 Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

42. BIEERERE &)

42.3 FZRE R (EZ)

BB H ()
2009 2008
S “ETN\F

HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET TAT

+1% -1% +1% -1%
Loss for the year and REFZEE R
retained earnings/ REBEF,
accumulated losses REtEE 1,536 (1,536) 518 (518)

The assumed changes in interest rates are
considered to be reasonably possible based
on observation of current market conditions
and represents the management'’s
assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rate over the period until
the next annual reporting date.

The sensitivity analysis included in the
financial statements of the year ended 31
December 2008 has been prepared on the
same basis.

42.4 Price risk

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair values
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices (other than changes in interest rates
and foreign exchange rates). The Group is
exposed to change in market prices in respect
of its investments in listed equity classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

PRz MERRES LR
RRTMBBEAREREE
WRIREHIR 2 E8 - X RE
EEYSEBET —BAFERS
BHILEHIMA R 2 S IR A
HE) 2 FHE ©

BRE-TTNE+= A
=t-ALFEZHBRE
BT 8L2 BB AT Ty R AR
AERRL -

42.4 ERERE

ERERESHITIA A TENH
&I\ A ™ B (R R E =X
SEERIN) MR B 2 A o AN
SBRERE IR E 7 M e

B BEARAFEYIRNER

ZEREE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.4 Price risk (Continued)

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. BIEERERE &)

42.4 BERARK(E)

42.5

To manage its market price risk arising from
these investments, the Group diversifies its
portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done
in accordance with the limits set by the board of
directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have
been followed by the Group since prior years
and are considered to be effective.

For listed equity securities, an average volatility
of 183% has been observed in 2009. If the
quoted price for the Group's listed equity
securities existing as at 31 December 2009
increased or decreased by that amount, loss
for the year and retained earnings would have
increased or decreased by HK$6,952,000 in
respect of listed equity securities classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

The assumed volatilities of listed securities
represent management’'s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in these security
prices over the next twelve month period.

Credit risk
(i)  Summary of exposures

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
counterparty to a financial instrument
would fail to discharge its obligation under
the terms of the financial instrument and
cause a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly
arises from granting credit to customers in
the ordinary course of its operations and its
investing activities.

REEZEREEL ZMHERR
B AEEZTEREALS - KK
EREBEESEET CRELZ T/
BHEE -

HERREREERREBERSF
E—ERASELA - BRBRIT
ZHE

FTRABAER-_BEZAF TS
BB —EH/A183% ° MASEER =
TEAF+_A=+—RABAZL
MIRANE FH 2 FREZ I S T IS
B BESBEAZRATETER
BRzemEEZAFEBBRIR
B A A 12 K R 46,952,000 8

JC °

EES 2 BRI R R YR
EHEEERA K12/ AME2
ABALRE 7 T -

425 ERk

(i) EEHE

EERRESRTAZHY
KRBT EZIRRET
HEME UEHAKEHE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.5 Credit risk (Continued)

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

42. IEEKRERE#)

42.5 EER K (Z)

(i)  Summary of exposures (Continued) (i)

The Group’'s maximum exposure to

credit risk on recognised financial assets

is limited to the carrying amount at the

reporting date as summarised below:

Group

ERHE ()

rEBMERREMEEZ
B EERBAENREB
HEREERR  #dnm
B

A EH

2009 2008

—BBAE _—TTN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

FEx FET
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b fE WL Sk IE 211,530 52,341
Bills receivable e =R 3,674 2,486
Financial assets at fair value BEATEEREREK 3,806 =
through profit or loss RIEZEHEE

Pledged bank deposits BEEMRITIFEN 864 —
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHTT 153,637 51,770
373,411 106,597

Company RAF]
2009 2008

—BBAE —TT)NF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FET
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUBHE A T ZIE 73,505 169,807
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTES 669 4

74,174 169,811
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.5 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Summary of exposures (Continued)

Apart from the trade deposits received
from FE8F5 amounted to approximately
HK$69,848,000 (notes 22 and 28) as at
31 December 2009, the Group did not
hold any collateral in respect of trade
receivables past due but not impaired.

Trade receivables that were past due as
at the reporting dates but not impaired is
further analysed in note 22.

Risk management objective and policies

The Group’s policy is to deal only with
credit worthy counterparties. Credit terms
are granted to new customers after a
credit worthiness assessment. When
considered appropriate, customers may
be requested to provide proof as to their
financial positions. Customers who are
not considered creditworthy are required
to pay in advance or on delivery of
goods. Payment record of customers is
closely monitored. Overdue balances and
significant trade receivables are highlighted.
The finance director will determine the
appropriate recovery actions. It is not the
Group's policy to request collateral from its
customers.

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered
negligible as the counterparties are
reputable international banks and securities
brokers.

The credit policies have been followed
by the Group since prior years and are
considered to have been effective in
limiting the Group's exposure to credit risk
to a desirable level.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. IEEKRERE#)

42.5 EERK(Z)

(i)

(ii)

BB (&)

RZZEENF+ZA=+—
B BRIEFEEKERZES
% & %) 569,848,000/ JT
(M 722 % 28) 4+ NEH
I gt B s BRI B KR E 2 &
5 M W SR I8 FF B E A K 4R

[}
Ao °

RS HEBRERREZ
REEE Z RURIAFIIR
izt 22 °

B EE E EEEE

AEBEZHRREREER
HZHFHETRD BT
MEPZEERNEEEN
REEL - WAREE T
JF R] 4% 2 Sk e AR B BOIRO 2
EH - HRAREETEZE
FBTER FRIA R R A B A
Ko TP Z A RESRERY)
B aERrEZ RN
REER - MBESHETE
BEEEBWITE AEEZK
RITERFFREHENSD -

BRI R EE R 2 B
RITMBHEL  WRPE
& 2 FEERBRBR BB -

EERREBERFE—H
HAEESA  BWRB AT
ZEREAEEAZ ZEE
2\ Bz R Il FE 3R ABIK T o

JLINIT SONIATOH ADOTONHIOILADYHINT HVYI10S 01104V

HHEYUEET 6002 LHOdIH TVNNNY (E
a

0 8 B S 0 28 & Y BT



168

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lk e

ARG RERAMTERBR AR

POLLO SOLAR ENERGY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

=
7

A
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 =22 fi % £ &Eg

For the year ended 31 December 2009

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.5 Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade receivables of
HK$134,454,000 was HK$98,593,000
due from one single customers, which
represented approximately 73% of total
trade receivables at the reporting date.

The directors of the Company believe that
no impairment allowance is necessary in
respect of this balance as the customer
has a good track record of settlements
during the period.

42.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the
Group will not be able to meet its obligations
associated with its financial liabilities. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of
settlement of trade payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The Group's objective is to
maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets and
committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group’'s and Company's
remaining contractual maturities for its financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2009. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is
settled, the liability is included on the basis
of the earliest date on when the Group can
be required to pay. Where the settlement of
the liability is in instalments, each instalment
is allocated to the earliest period in which the
Group is committed to pay:

RE-FEAFt-A=+-ALFE

42. IEEKRERE#)

42.5 EER K (Z)
(iii) 1EERREER

FREKE SZRELDN A
134,454,000 7T B 3F 4
98,593,000 /% 7T 73 & W & —
BEE - RKRE@mKBHE
WEZHI4I73% °

ARABcEFHEHARZE
ERAFRZREEES
B - HAASRER 2EUE L
ERSEFHIREER

42.6 REBELER

MEVE R T EA R EREEETT
TREEREETZRRAR - &
SEEREESENRAREITR
BAETHARERSREEET
HAERBESRR - NEEZH
BREREERE 2 NBEEKF &
HETRHE  UENEEREHZ

ATR/ARERARARER -F
FAFt-_A=+—HAZEBAE
ZHRBANIME - AETIRAE
BAMNRZZFBHEA @ EER
AFIEEREFREZAY - E8E
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based
on the undiscounted cashflows of the financial

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. IEEKRERE#)

42.6 RBESRER(Z)

ATBIRRIBES B RRR SR
EMAREE RARF AR BR &

statements: EEFEUSHTAEREEAAF =
TZNFE+_A=+—BHHTE
AREIEBLE
£33
Group
6 to
On Lessthan less than 1to Over
demand 6 months 12 months b years 5 years Total
618 A
BB ETEB
RERE 618 A 12184 1855  BENLE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEx FE FE7 FE7 FE7
2009 “EENF
Trade and other payables B35 &AM EMFIE 40,914 14,171 - - - 55,085
Bills payables ERZR - 71 - - - 711
Accruals i ER - 28,554 - - - 28,554
Convertible bonds AR ES - - - 3,814,950 - 3,814,950
40,914 43,436 - 3,814,950 - 3,899,300
2008 “EENF
Trade and other payables &% REMEMFA 682 23,749 = . = 24,431
Accruals T ER - 13,690 - - = 13,690
632 37,439 — — — 38,121
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.6 Liquidity risk (Continued)

RE-FEAF+-A=+-BLFE

42. BIEEKREE &)

42.6 REBIESRAM(E)

42.7

Company VNN
6 to
On Lessthan less than 1to Over
demand 6 months 12 months b years 5 years Total
618 A
TR ENER
RENHE 618 A 128A 1856  BENE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETL FETL FET FBT FAT
2009 “EENE
Accruals BT ER - - - - 1,698
Convertible honds e - - 3,814,950 - 3,814,950
- - 3,814,950 - 3,816,648
2008 2
Accruals it ER - - - - 64

As assessed by the directors of the Company,
it was not probable that the subsidiaries of the
Company would default repayment of bank
loans, In additions, it was not probable that
the banks would claim the Group for losses in
respect of the guarantee contracts due to pledge
of assets in place for the banking facilities.
Accordingly, no provision for the Group’s
obligations under the guarantees has been
made. The contractual maturity of these financial
guarantees is “on demand”.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position

The Group adopted the amendments to HKFRS
7 Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments effective from 1 January 2009.
These amendments introduce a three-level
hierarchy for fair value measurement disclosures
and additional disclosures about the relative
reliability of fair value measurements. The
Group has taken advantage of the transitional
provisions in the amendments to HKFRS 7 and
accordingly, no comparatives for the hierarchy
for fair value measurement disclosures have
been presented.

42.7

WADREEZ T - ARRZM
BARARTATEERBTER
B - BEEEMAR - S RBR
AT HFRATATEREA K
REEBR o E - ZHOAELMEA
& - BESRARY AFAMA
BREFE" -

REBRRRER 2 ATVEFE
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W2 BB MwEERNE 7 RIER]
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

42.7 Fair value measurements recognised in the

statement of financial position (Continued)

The following table presents financial assets
and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The
hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities
into three levels based on the relative reliability
of significant inputs used in measuring the fair
value of these financial assets and liabilities. The
fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

— Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets and
liabilities;

— Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived form
prices); and

— Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which
the financial asset or liability is categorised in
its entirety is based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

42. BIEEKREE &)

42,7 RUBRRKRBREZ A FENE
(%)

TREJNRE R FERHR AR
MRFAEZEBREEMABAYF
B cREERRERETEZS
EREENBBEATEMAEARR
ABEZREAIERREEND B
= - RHERRNBEATER

— M HREEREBE
REEME 2 RECKEH

%) .

— FRF-HAER®mE
LN EE s B EEE (AE
1) S E (R B B8 B
PISRARIE : &

— B= XFEUBEMRET
BHBEREZEEXAR
WAREBEBTABRERAK
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REEERBRFEFEBERZ
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. BIEEKREE &)
(Continued)

42.7 Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position (Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position are grouped into the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

42,7 RUBRRKRBREZ A FENE
(%)
R BHRRAREZAFEAEZESR
BENBEDRATAFERR :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— B E=H &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT FEIT FET
Assets BE
Listed securities held BIEEE 2 L™
for trading (note (i) EH (B ) 3,806 — — 3,806

There have been no significant transfers
between levels 1 and 2 in the reporting period.

(i)  Listed securities

The listed equity securities are
denominated in HK$. Fair values have been
determined by reference to their quoted
bid prices at the reporting date.

BEMA - F-ANE R ZEL
BEAEE -

(i) LHEF
ERBRAEZAEITEE -

RFELZHESHEHREAR
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43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 43. EXRER

The Group’'s capital management objectives are
to ensure the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern and to provide an adequate return
to shareholders by pricing goods and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

E’:’:

®
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital REEEFHTE RN HERERBAL L %ﬂ;
structure and makes adjustments in light of changes EARRERMIEL AR  AEEERE §
in economic conditions. The Group monitors its BEFHEEBRA R REREEARE 5
capital structure on the basis of the net debt to equity BeopEms BEFEREESRHE 1];
ratio. For this purpose net debt includes trade and IR - B EE - e MERTK S

other payables, bills payable, deposits and accruals,
tax payable, convertible bonds and deferred tax
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. The Group's
goal in capital management is to maintain a net
debt to equity ratio to a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

AEEZAREEABARRAERS
ENREGE  LEBRARRKT
2 ERRBEITE  AREIREEHD
% -

B ABRRESRERBIEA  BRE R
ReEHEY AREZEXEEBRRER
R EFRURA R ZRNAEK
F o REFHRFERLE  KEEA
AEXNTRRZBEESER - BITHRK
N ARREEER  SEHMEBRE
FHEBEARE °
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Z
2
)
é) 43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 43. EXEE(#)
o
2 The net debt to equity at the reporting date was: REEFE R 2 FEBHRAERHT)
T
>
3
= 2009 2008
= —BRAE —TT)\F
o HK$000 HK$°000
S 24 - — .
9 FET FET
2
& =
oc 2 e N
< Current liabilities mEEE
a §§ Trade and other payables B 5 N E b e FRIE 55,085 24,431
S Bills payable ERRESER 711 —
o) X \
< 2 Deposits and accruals re METER 210,898 38,028
J Tax payable e I8 49,740 3,175
b
ﬁ 316,434 65,634
4&;’ Non-current liabilities EmeEnatE
'lf‘(;’ Convertible bonds Al A AR (& 2,802,885 —
2 Deferred tax liabilities BERIARE 82,881 4,008
o
.
) 2,885,766 4,008
]
oc
-
< Total debt (B 75 48 58 3,202,200 69,642
g Less: Cash and cash equivalents - ReRIReEEY (153,637) (51,770)
Net debt B FER 3,048,563 17,872
Total equity BEtiEm 5,904,143 382,637
Net debt to equity ratio FETS AR AN M 2R b R 52% 5%
The net debt to equity ratio increased significantly FEBEHBR AL RPAELA 2
mainly due to the increase of Convertible Bonds as AR ARRES 2B M FFERME

mentioned in note 29. 29 °
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44. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

On 8 January 2010, the Group entered into an
equity agreement with independent third parties
to dispose of the Disposal Group, with an
aggregate consideration of HK$30,000,000. The
disposal has been completed on 8 January 2010.

On 25 January 2010, GS-Solar (Fujian) and
Apollo (Fujian), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement in
which GS-Solar (Fujian) has agreed to transfer
certain of its patent to Apollo (Fujian) at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB10 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$11 million).

On 25 February 2010, Apollo (Fujian) entered
into a sales contract for manufacturing of
turnkey production lines with a customer for an
amount of approximately RMB434,775,000. On
the same day, Apollo (Fujian) also entered into
the service contract with the same customer
in relation to the provision of services of
installation for the amount of approximately
RMB144,925,000.

The Company repurchased 63,900,000 of its
own shares through purchase on the Stock
Exchange during the year. The shares have
been cancelled subsequently to year end.
The total amount of acquiring the shares was
approximately HK$81,970,000 which have been
recorded in other reserve in the shareholders’
equity during the year ended 31 December
2009.

RE-FEAF A=+ ALFE

44, EBEREE

(i) RZZE—ZF—ANH AEER
BUE=FET—HEREREE
HESE - #{X{E7%30,000,000
B MHEER-_ZT—ZF— AN

B e

(i) RZE—ZFTF-—HA=-_+HH"
BEAOAKRIRERERE - AF
ZEETRAE - FINENEEE
e Bl BREBHAERER
HRERNE 2 —VImEERER
HETEENE BaREAR
A B #10,000,000 7t (%) #8 & A

11,000,000 7&7T) °

iy RZE—FFE-_F-_+HH B
HIGEE AT VHESH - &t -
EEAGRELEREFRAEEER
100 JKE AP REMRE
AH A ARKEA34,775,000
T © B IR R B EE 5 E]
RIEEX - NBBRRE L RF
37 100 JK EL K P& 8 e R ot R 4t AR
% IR E B AR 144,925,000

(iv) BBZE=-F TN

=
Hib ARARRERATE EE
63,900,000 % - A% 1» B F #
BEFEE BB
81,970,000/ 7T R 5 A#EE A #

m B EHEA -
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RESULTS ¥E
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—ETRFE ZZEERF ZETEF ZZETN\F ZBEAF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue A 539,688 550,154 525,902 511,810 717,442
Profit/(Loss) before  Fr{SHiAl
income tax wm
(E#E) 46,044 32,254 17,641 (49,291) (109,399)
Income tax FriS 1%
(expense)/credit (FX)
4 & (5,169) (1,947) 2,313 (6,386) (15,095)
Profit/(Loss) for the  BREfE(L
year attributable F W=
to owners of the /(&
Company #) 40,875 30,307 19,954 (55,677) (122,102)
Loss for the year DER R FE
attributable to HERA
minority interest gl — — — — (2,392)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—2ERF E2ERF 2T F 2EN\F ZEBEAF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Goodwill FEES — — — — 7,882,953
Intangible assets ELEE — — — = 435,441
Property, plant L E T
and equipment WL 176,219 189,927 188,339 174,319 112,267
Prepaid lease TEA £
payments for e
land (non-current (FEME
portion) 1) 42,723 43,145 43,780 43,728 26,768
Investment A
properties 10,900 10,300 — — 30,000
Held-to-maturity  #748 Z 3| Hf
investments B2i&&E 53,050 43,522 — — —
Investment in FRERE
certificate of
deposits 26,794 26,794 — — -
Deferred tax EAERTE
assets EE 4,501 4,596 9,954 9,196 6,686
Net current assets JiEh&
S ER 181,696 188,461 192,167 159,402 295,794
Bank borrowings $R1TEE — — (36,703) — —
Deferred tax EERIA
liabilities =N (4,185) (2,786) (2,147) (4,008) (82,881)
Convertible bonds A[# % (&% — — — —  (2,802,885)
Shareholders’ &R E®
funds 491,698 503,959 395,390 382,637 5,904,143
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